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STATEMENT OF HISTORIC CONTEXTS

The Historic Resources of Downtown Duluth, Minnesota, 1872-1933 Multiple Property Documentation Form
(MPDF) consists of a variety of commercial, social, and recreational buildings located in the central business
district of Duluth, a city with a population of approximately 86,000 in northeastern Minnesota on the west end of
Lake Superior. Duluth developed as a result of having a natural, protected hatbor that proved to be a strategic
advantage for the transshipment of wheat, lumber, coal, iron ore, and other goods across the Great Lakes. A
framework for understanding how these forces affected the early evolution of Duluth’s commercial district is
provided by the statewide historic contexts “Railroads and Agricultural Development (1870-1940),” “Northern
Minnesota Lumbering (1870-1930s),” “Minnesota’s Iron Ore Industry (1880s-1945),” and “Urban Centers (1870-
1940),” as well as by the local historic contexts prepared for the Duluth Heritage Preservation Commission in
1981. -

The multiple property group for Duluth includes two historic districts—the Duluth Commercial Historic District
and the West Superior Street Historic District—that contain the greatest concentration of buildings related to
commercial development within the city. These buildings were identified through an intensive level survey that
was conducted by the City of Duluth Planning Department in 1994 and expanded by the Minnesota State Historic
Preservation Office in 2004. Additional sites representing the same historic contexts and located within the MPDF
boundary of downtown Duluth may be nominated to the National Register in the future.

LAKE SUPERIOR: THE UNSALTED SEA

Duluth has been called the “San Francisco of the Midwest,” because, like San Francisco, it is defined by its
embrace of the water. The presence of Lake Superior is assertive, even when it is out of sight. The lake steamers,
the ship canal, and the Aerial Lift Bridge seem always there, even when one cannot see them. The light in the city
changes with banks of clouds or fog, and it is nearly always “cooler by the lake.”

More than three billion tons of iron ore, along with millions of tons of grain, lumber, fish, coal, and other products
have passed through the Duluth-Superior harbor since the beginning of Minnesota’s great Iron Age. Protected by
what may be the longest fresh-water bay mouth bar in the world, the harbor was for much of the twentieth century
second in total tonnage only to New York City among U.S. ports, even though it was open to shipping only about
eight months a year.

Lake Superior is the largest fresh-water lake by area in the world. The rock that makes up its basin and is visible
along the North Shore and within the ¢ity of Duluth, is perhaps a billion years old, but the events that created the
harbor happened relatively recently in geological time. Six hundred million years ago the earth’s crust folded or
sank, creating a depression along whose axis the subsequent glaciation would take place. The advances and
retreats of the ice sheets created, during their retreats, a lake that rose and fell and rose and fell again until the
present lake emerged. Some 14,000 years ago the Cary Superior ice lobe scoured the northwestern end of the lake
down to the ancient bedrock, and as it retreated an ancestor of the St. Louis River flowed into it, depositing
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sediment and forming a delta.?

After the glacier’s last advance and retreat, about 10,000 years ago, Glacial Lake Superior was considerably
higher than it is today. Some 9,200 years ago the water level dropped below the modem-day platea, and the river
cut a sharp valley as it flowed more steeply into the lowered waters. The lake gradually rose again and the river
flowed more slowly, filling in its own valley with sediment. Sands eroded from bluffs along the lake’s south shore
- were moved by wind and waves to create the bar across the river’s mouth. The earth’s surface warped somewhat,
causing the lake to tilt, adding more water to the river and completing the formation of a harbor that would require
only a few changes to shelter thousands of cargo-carrying ships building a new country.’

Lake Superior has been called “the most dangerous body of water in the world.” Its storms are legendary, and it
has taken many lives while serving as a commercial highway. It has suffered pollution from factories along its
shores, and creatures carried into it from distant seas have threatened the life within its depths. Today it is studied
and managed to keep it safe from the ravages of civilization. And it remains the ever-changing, ever-moving
presence upon which Duluth is built.

EARLY SETTLEMENT OF DULUTH

Lake Superior played a major part in the fur trade highway from Montreal, and the St. Louis River was an active
trade route into the rich fur country of the Upper Mississippi River for nearly two centuries before Duluth became
a city. French traders followed hard upon Daniel Greysolon Sieur du Lhut’s crossing of the “Little Portage” on
Minnesota Point in June, 1679. Well before 1700 the French were trading in the region around Lake Superior
from a base at Mackinac and another at nearby Chequamegon Bay.*

The Ojibwe Indians, who had been driven west by European settlement in the Atlantic seaboard and eastern Great
Lakes regions, seem to have been well established around Lake Superior by the time these early explorers and
traders entered the area. The Dakota (Sioux) had villages infand, centered around the Mille Lacs Lake area. There
was active conflict between these two tribes for decades, and by the time the British traders took over the interior
trade after the French and Indian War, the Ojibwe had built their villages around the Mississippi River headwaters
from Sandy to Leech Lalke. The Dakota moved south along the Mississippi and Minnesota Rivers, and except for
occasional raids were gone from northern Minnesota from Lake Superior to Crow Wing River by the time of the
American Revolution.

Although there were undoubtedly wintering trade posts in the vicinity of Duluth much earlier, the first permanent
post was probably that built in 1793 by Jean Baptiste Perrault and his crew in present-day Superior not far from
the natural entrance to the harbor, Called Fort St. Louis, it was occupied by the North West Company until the
company withdrew from American territory shortly after the War of 1812. For more than half of those years it
served as the headquarters for the entire Fond du Lac trade region.’ By 1815 the young American nation was
growing strong enough to assert claim to the lands around the Head of'the Lakes. In 1816 John Jacob Astor’s
American Fur Company had a well-established post at the present-day site of Fond du Lac on the north side of the
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St. Louis River. But the booming days of the fur trade were ending. In the 1840s the company withdrew from its
post, and the diminished fur trade was in the hands of private traders individually licensed by the government.’
George R. Stuntz, a former surveyor generally considered the first permanent white settler in Duluth, was such a
licensed trader. In 1853 he built a post and dock in the midst of an Ojibwe encampment on the bay side of
Minnesota Point near the natural harbor entrance. Thomas McKenney, a treaty commissioner on his way to Fond
du Lac in 1826, described Minnesota Point as “a well defined beach with trees, pine and aspen, scattered
irregularly over it from one end to the other...doubtless formed by the meeting of the current of the river, and the
waves of the lake. .. It is a beautiful termination.”” Stuntz was soon joined by other men who operated as traders

. but were also hoping to make fortunes in land speculation, timber, and minerals.

When the opening of the canal at Sault St. Marie in 1855 made Lake Superior a part of the Great Lakes
* commercial shipping highway, it took only a glance at a map of North America to imagine the future of the
lakehead would be a profitable one. Lecturing in Boston, George B. Sargent noted that “at the mouth of the St.
Louis River will grow a great city, where Europe and Asia shall meet and shake hands. At this very point must
center the trade of twenty American States yet unknown.”

Also in 1855 the Treaty of La Pointe with the Ojibwe Indians was ratified, opening the north shore to white
settlement and allowing Duluth an opportunity to “catch up” to Superior, first platted as a town site in 1854 and
already grown to a town of some 500 people and 50 buildings. Most of the early settlers in both Superlor and
Duluth were drawn by a “copper rush” and hoped to stake valuable claims in nearby inland regions.” '

Although copper riches proved illusory, influential eastern businessmen and financiers realized the lakehead

~ would eventually become an important and profitable marketing and shipping center. In the early 1850s
‘Minnesota territorial politicians obtained U.S. government financing for a road from Point Douglas, at the
confluence of the St. Croix and the Mississippi rivers not far from St. Paul, to the head of navigation on the St.
Louis River. The so-called “military road” was never more than a rough trail along most of its northern half, but
its construction helped keep interest in the new northern settlements alive.

The settlement called Duluth, located at the base of Minnesota Point on Superior Bay, was platted in 1856 and
incorporated as a city in 1857. Among its early organizers were George E. and William Nettleton, J.B. Culver,
0O.W, Rice, and Robert E. Jefferson. '

There were ten other small settlements along the North Shore across from Superior, all platted in the 1855-1857
period. East of Fond du Lac on the St. Louis River was Oneota, located in the region that is now West Duluth.
This settlement’s earliest residents included Edward F. Ely, a former Fond du Lac mission teacher; Lewis Merritt,
whose sons would later open the Mesabi iron range; and missionary James Peet, It boasted the area’s first non-
mission school and the first steam sawmill, as well as the first post office in St. Louis County.”

Rice’s Point, the peninsula jutting out from the Point of Rocks between St. Louis Bay and the harbor, was also
known briefly as Port Byron and entertained hopes of becoming the county seat when the territorial government
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organized St. Louis County in 1855-56. It was beaten out by its eastern neighbor, Duluth. Fremont, platted mostly
on floating bogland near the present site of the Duluth Union Depot, later broke loose from the mainland and
disintegrated in the stronger harbor currents created by the opening of the ship canal in 1871. Portland, east of
Duluth and for a time the largest of the settlements east of Oneota, contained the area’s first brewery, later
Fitger’s Brewing Company. Endion, platted into “suburban” lots for “capitalists doing business in Superior,” was
located east of Portland, and Belville, just a short distance west of Lester River, was the easternmost of the string
of settlements. Three further communities—North Duluth, Cowell’s Addition, and Middleton—were located on
Minnesota Point.™

The short-lived boom that led to the formation of these North Shore communities came to a sudden end in 1857, a
year of national financial panic brought about by eastern bank failures. The panic “flattened” settlements on both
sides of the bay, according to one early settler, who recalled that on the Minnesota side *there was not one place
of business open.”"’ By the time the lighthouse at the end of Minnesota Point was completed in 1858, Superior
had only a few hundred residents and Duluth was essentially a ghost town. The few who stayed “did anything to
keep alive.” They trapped beaver and mink, raised potatoes, hunted and fished. It was not until the cormng of the
railroad more than 12 years later that the “infant Chicago” at the head of the lakes came alive once more.'

RAILROADS AND AGRICULTURAL DEVELOPMENT, 1870-1940

We think of Duluth as far away from Nebraska, but the distance
from Omaha to Duluth is the same as from Omaha to Chicago,
and to all the great country north of Omaha, Duluth is the
natural outlet.
New York Evening Post’ !

It was, perhaps, lucky for its future that Duluth vanished so completely in the bust years following the Panic of
1857. For when Philadelphia financier Jay Cooke, whose loans to the U.S. were said to have funded the Union
Army in the Civil War, visited the harbor in 1868 to look over the area where he planned to build a railroad, he
decided Duluth’s “six or seven frame houses beside a land office and a school house” held more promise that the
larger town of Superior, which “presented a dilapidated appearance, many houses bemg uninhabited.” Duluth, not
Superior, became “Jay Cooke’s Town,” and soon entered a new era of prosperlty

The head of the lakes was already connected with other Great Lakes by the opening of the Sault Ste. Marie Canal
in 1855. What Duluth needed to become the transportation hub that its early boosters had envisioned was a
railroad connecting it with St. Paul and the more settled areas of the state. Minnesota legislators recognized this
need and in 1861 incorporated the Lake Superior and Mississippi Railroad (reorganized as the St. Paul and Duluth
in 1877 and absorbed into the Northern Pacific system at the turn of the century). But it was not until after the
Civil War that construction began. When William L. Banning, a prominent St. Paul banker and realtor, interested
Cooke in the project, the financial backing needed to complete the railroad was found. By the time the rails
reached the lakehead in August, 1870, its financial control was entirely in the hands of Cocke and other
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. Philadelphia-based interests."

Even before the railroad reached Duluth, Cooke and others were rushing to create the facilities that the new city
would need. The Cooke interests built a grain elevator with a capacity of 550,000 bushels, constructed the
DeCosta dock on the west side of Rice’s Point, financed the city’s first bank, and even underwrote the city’s first
church building, St. Paul’s Episcopal Church. The ever-active Cooke also became the Northern Pacific Railroad’s
financial agent in 1870 and raised some $5 million to begin the construction of a major line from Duluth to the
Pacific.'®

“The lifeless corpse, touched by the wand of Jay Cooke, sprang full-armed from the tomb.”"” From 14 families
living at the base of Minnesota Point in January, 1869, the population of Duluth swelled to 3,500 by the Fourth of
July. The new residents were construction workers, businessmen, and lumbermen from distant Maine ready to
harvest the pine forests and ship timber to eastern markets.'® The bustle of activity led one realistic observer to
describe the community as a “haphazard, scraggly and repellent settlement-a combination of Indian trading-post,
seaport, railroad construction camp, and gambling resort, altogether wild, rough, uncouth, and frontierlike.”"

When the city of Duluth was chartered in 1870, it immediately created the Minnesota Canal and Harbor
Improvement Company, again with the enthusiastic support of Jay Cooke and numerous Duluth businessmen
working with him. The construction of a canal through the northem end of Minnesota Point had been
conternplated by the region’s early pioneers and authorized by the legislature as early as 1857, but the financial
panic stopped the project before it began. Later, enterprising businessmen built a breakwater into the lake east of
Minnesota Point and constructed a grain elevator to be served by the new railroad. But the breakwater fell victim
to Lake Superior’s storms, and it was clear that a canal providing entrance to the harbor was required if Duluth
were to grow as its optimistic backers expected. In 1870 the vigorous new city undertook the project over protests
of the city of Superior and the state of Wisconsin, whose citizens feared the cut through Minnesota Point would
turn the St. Louis River’s currents from the site of Superior’s docks and damage improvements already made to
the Superior harbor entrance.?

The canal went ahead, even as its opponents petitioned the War Department and the Corps of Engineers to stop it.
After construction halted during the winter, it began as early as possible in the spring of 1871 and continued apace
until “the water poured into Lake Superior—first a tiny stream, which steadily increased in volume.” The legal
conflicts continued for years, but the Duluth ship canal was a reality, crossing the point at more or less the same
spot that Sieur du Lhut had portaged from lake to bay two centuries earlier. The legend of the canal’s
construction, supposedly completed by the overnight work of hundreds of Duluth citizens only hours ahead of' a
restraining order, is firmly fixed in Duluth’s folklore **

Now, finally, all the necessary elements were in place. Duluth had a railroad connecting it to the south and
another pushing toward the “western grain-clad prairies” of the Red River Valley and beyond.? The arrival of the
first train “was the beginning of a new era—the dawn of a brighter moming.”” Ships had direct access to the
railhead through the new canal into “the largest, most easily accessible and safest harbor in the great chain of
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lakes.” More than 500,000 bushels of grain were shipped in 1871, a total that had grown to almost 2 million
bushels by 1873. One optimistic Duluthian, noting that “no city in the country had such brilliant prospects,” added
that “nothing connected with the city has ever been delayed an hour for lack of funds. Capitalists controlling more
of money and influence than any other body of men, are fully determined to make Duluth what nature intended it
to be—a giant city,”**

By the fall of 1873, however, “Jay Cooke’s Town” was feeling the results of its patron’s financial failure, brought
about by his inability to sell the bonds and meet the interest payments for the Northern Pacific Railroad. The
closing of Cooke’s banks caused a crash that was felt across the nation and had much the same results in Duluth
as had the earlier panic of 1857. Within 60 days more than half the city’s businesses were closed, and the
population dropped in a year from over 5,000 to 1,300 people. All work on the Northern Pacific stopped, and
Duluthians again became “fish eaters” in the years from 1874 until signs of recovery appeared in 1878. In 1877,
with the state’s agreement, the city fathers reduced Duluth to village status in order to get a settlement on its
heavy load of debt. The second boom had gone bust.”’

Even while the lakehead suffered through its second depression, however, railroads were carrying new settlers to

* the Dakotas and beyond--farmers eager to turn the prairies into the breadbasket of the nation. By 1878 wheat

_grown inl western Minnesota and North Dakota began arriving in Duluth for shipment to Buffalo, New York. As
fast as the railroads penetrated the prairies on into Montana, wheat from the northwest returned to the port. The
flour mills in Minneapolis offered stiff competition for the grain shipping trade, but in 1884 the federal
government deepened the Sault canal to 16 feet. Since ships no longer had to lighten their cargos to use the Lake
Superior ports, shipping rates from Duluth, which had been 30% higher than from Chicago, suddenly dropped to

130% lower. In 1871 Duluth received just over 550,000 bushels of grain, and a decade later more than 3.3 million
bushels were sent to the port.26 Four years later, in 1885, sorme 18 million bushels of wheat passed through
Duluth-Superior and a series of major new elevators were under construction along the east side of Rice’s Point
on what became known as “elevator row.” By 1886 the grain business in the harbor, presided over by the Duluth
Board of Trade (which had been organized in 1881), shipped over 22 million bushels, some 8 million more than
the established market at Chicago.?” These figures prompted one Duluth publication to assert that “Duluth is now
the largest wheat shipping port on the chain of lakes, and the largest in the country outside of New York. 28

As the size and number of ships that passed through the Head of the Lakes increased during the 1880s, the city
also reaped the benefits of nearly a dozen railroad lines that provided passenger and freight service. In 1886,
eleven lines claimed to be “Duluth’s railroads”: the St. Paul and Duluth (which was the city’s first railroad,
organized as the Lake Superior and Mississippi); the Northern Pacific; the St. Paul Minneapolis and Manitoba; the
Duluth and Iron Range, which linked to Two Harbors and the iron ore mines on the Vermilion Range; the
Wisconsin Central, which connected with the Northern Pacific at Ashland, Wisconsin, and thus gave Duluth a
direct line to Chicago; the Milwaukee, Lake Shore, and Western; the Duluth, South Shore, and Atlantic, which
provided “Duluth’s declaration of commercial independence” since Duluthians could travel east without going to
the Twin Cities or Chicago; the Lake Superior and Pacific; the Duluth, Red ng and Southern; the Chicago,
Burlington, and Northern; and the Chicago, St. Paul, Minneapolis and Omaha.”
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. The boom of the 1880s and 1890s from railroad expansion and grain shipments brought Duluth the greatest
growth it had ever experienced. From a population of about 2,200 in 1878, Duluth grew to an estimated 30,000 in
1887, when it regained city status and redeemed much of its earlier debt. The city inaugurated its streetcar line in

1882, and by 1891 the electric lines extended over six miles as far as West Duluth and Lakeside.”® A 3,000-foot- .

-long incline was completed in 1891, running from Superior Street to Eighth Street at Seventh Avenue West.”
Duluth was to grow even more rapidly as the lumber industry became a dominant economic force in the mid-
1890s,

- NORTHERN MINNESOTA LUMBERING, 1870-1940s

Duluth’s location at the western end of the Great Lakes highway almost assured its success as a transportation
center in the age of America’s industrial growth. The vast plains and prairies of the west served as virtual colonies
of the industrial eastern states. The west provided raw materials that were processed in the east and sent backin
the form of manufactured goods to supply the colonists’ ever-increasing demand, Grain, ore, and lumber were the
matetials that built the port, and thus the city.

As Duluth grew, the men who were making fortunes in the extraction and shipment of raw materials began to
invest some of their capital in local industries designed to process those same raw materials. Their most
successful efforts in the early years were sawmills; planing mills; sash, door, lath, and shingle factories; and
related lumber indusiries. '

The first sawmill, built in 1855 by Henry W. Wheeler, was stocked with machinery brought up by boat from

. Detroit through the newly opened Sault Canal, This and other mills supplied lumber for the short-lived building
boom in Duluth and Superior. Although the boom ended suddenly in 1857, two mills in the region remained in
operation during some of the bust years, shipping small amounts of lumber by schooners to Cleveland and other
Great Lakes ports. By the late 1860s, in anticipation of the arrival of the Lake Superior & Mississippi Railroad,
the timber industry burgeoned to provide lumber to build the railroads and the town itself.”* One resident who
arrived in early 1869 described a mill he established near Lake Avenue on the bayfront:

The hills of Duluth furnished me for a long time with the finest quality of
pine, and by the time [ was in operation, and the rush had set in, I couldn’t
begin to supply the demand. I got more machinery and started another mill
up the St. Louis River [on the site of the old Oneota Lumber Company]
from which every day the lumber would be rafted down to Duluth... The
hills of Duluth and out on Minnesota Point were dotted by thousands of
tents, ali kinds of the rudest kinds of shacks, and all those thousands were
clambering for lumber in order that they might erect houses. It was a good
business and I made money rapidly.” ‘
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The arrival of the railroad at Duluth created new local demand for lumber, and mills sprang up to supply it. By
1880 the lumber industry was well-established and supplying building materials to the settlers on the treeless
expanses of the Red River Valley and Dakota Territory. In the next three years no fewer than eleven sawmills-~
each producing an average of 10 million board feet—were opened in Duluth, located on Rice’s Point and along -
St. Louis Bay.* In the mid-1880s, mills in Duluth and Superior cut more than 10 million board feet of lumber
annually, and by 1890 the two cities were producing more than 150 million board feet of lumber a year.”
Throughout the 1880s white pine was in tremendous demand for lumber and lath for building construction, while
cedar was used for roofing shingles.”® By 1892 several Duluth businesses, including Mitchell, McClure &
Company and Merrill and Ring, two of the largest in the entire region, were exploiting timber markets not only at
home and in the west, but also in Chicago, New York, and along the shores of Lake Erie.”” In 1890 Mitchell,
McClure & Company bought 50 acres of land near Grassy Point from the West Duluth Land Company to
“construct “the largest mill at the Head of the Lakes.” The mill had an annual capacity of 30 million board feet and
* used a “gang circular and two band saws, in addition to a shingle mill.”** Some buyers purchased a logging
company’s entire seasonal output, and “from then on the large fleet of lumber carriers arriving light and departing
loaded with lumber was a common sight to one watching the lake commerce of Duluth,”*

Lumber shipments out of Duluth increased 40 percent in 1892 over the previous year, but nearly quadrupled in the
economic panic year of 1893, They jumped nearly 80 percent in 1894, and would increase every year through the
end of the century.* Transporting lumber to the cast by lake was considerably less expensive than shipping by
railroad, as one longtime Duluth mill owner said at the turn of the twentieth century: “as far as the rates to
Buffalo, there was never any competition as the rail was prohibitory,”*! In 1894 Duluth’s lumber industry
included 15 mills employing 3,700 men. The 220 million feet of lumber cut that year, mostly from logs harvested
on the North Shore, was valued at nearly $4.5 million.” In 1898, the Alger-Smith Company, one of Michigan’s
larpest firms, established their headquarters in Duluth. The company pioneered the technique of using rafts or
booms to transport their logs on Lake Superior; these booms contained up to 5 miltion board feet of lumber and
were towed by steam barge:”

The first several years of the twentieth century were the greatest in terms of the total number of board feet cut by
Duluth mills, and for a brief time the Duluth-Superior harbor became the center of the greatest lumber market in
the world.* Led by “the largest white pine mill in the world” operated by the Alger-Smith Company in West
Duluth, the peak year for production appears to have been in 1902 when mills cut 443 million board feet of
lumber (see below). By mid-decade, however, production began to decline, and by 1908, only 141 millien board
feet of lumber were cut, the lowest output since the 1880s.% In 1912, the number of board feet cut in Duluth
dropped below 200 million board feet, and seven years later the cut was only 22 million board feet. The last
sawmill in Duluth closed in 1926.*°
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1900 . 416,000,000 1906 369,000,000
1901 426,000,000 ‘ 1907 235,000,000
1902 443,000,000 ~ 1908 141,000,000
1903 398,000,000 1909 208,000,000
1904 385,000,000

1905 292,000,000

A number of manufacturing companies related to the lumber business added to Duluth’s prosperity at the turn of

- the century. The Union Match Company, which started in 1903, employed over 150 men to turn three million feet
of white pine into matches of “superior quality, non-explosive, and free from odor.”* The Duluth Log Company
turned out telephone and telegraph poles to serve the nation’s communication revolution. Duluth’s giant Marshall-
Wells Company grew into one of the country’s largest hardware businesses in part through the manufacture and
jobbing of tools and machinery used in lumbering throughout the United States and Canada. The Clyde Iron
Works, which had been organized in 1899, manufactured derricks, hoists and logging machinery, and by 1910
had built a large plant in West Duluth that was described in a contemporary account:

The principal product of this firm is team logging machinery and steam
and electric contractors’ hoisting machinery. Their line of logging
machinery comprises both skidding and log-loading machines, and
they are exclusive manufacturers of machinery under the Decker and
McGiffert patents. The field covered by them embraces all of the
United States, Canada, Mexico and Central America, and in this
particular line they are, without question, the largest manufacturers

in the world.*”® '

Many of these subsidiary companies eventually grew larger than the declining lumber processing industry that
helped bring them into existence. In the period from 1891 to 1924-—which saw the price of lumber per thousand
board feet rise from $10 to a post-war peak of $44.38-—more than 7.7 billion board feet of lumber were shipped
with a composite value of $129 million, providing an estimated profit of nearly $50 million to owners.” Although -
some lumber products continued to be shipped out of the harbor through World War II, imports of wood and

wood products from Canada began during the 1930s. The great days of pine logging in the Upper Midwest, and

the great days of the lumber industry in Duluth, were over. However, the emergence of iron ore mining in the
1880s and the first shipment of ore from the Duluth harbor in 1892 provided yet another economic boon to the

city.
MINNESOTA’S IRON ORE INDUSTRY, 1880s-1945

The presence of iron ore in northeastern Minnesota had been known eérly in the nineteenth century, but most
early prospectors were more interested in the possibilities of gold, silver, or copper.”® Dr. John McLaughlin, a
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trader on Lake Vermilion, commented in the first quarter of the nineteenth century: “The only mineral I have seen
in the Country is Iron which though very common I never saw in any large quantity.”' Henry Eames, the
Minnesota State Geologist, reported that he had discovered indications of iron ore on the Mesabi Range in 1863-
66.% Jay Cooke recognized the opportunities iron ore offered, but like many others expected that the mills to
process the ore would be built in Duluth. A blast furnace was constructed on Rice’s Point in 1872-73, but the pig

" iron for its smelting process had to be brought from the lower lakes and the project was soon abandoned.™

" Unfavorable reports that condemned “the léan magnetite” ore taken from the Mesabi Range in 1875 delayed
commercial development for several years.™

Northeastern Minnesota has three iron ore ranges: the Vermilion, the Mesabi, and the Cuyuna. Historically, they '
were developed from east to west between the late 1880s and 1910. These ranges lie in a southwest to northeast
line both west and north of Duluth. The Mesabi Range is located approximately 60 miles north of Duluth in
central St. Louis County and is flanked by the Vermilion Range to the northeast and the Cuyuna Range to the
southwest,

Serious ore mining began on the Vermilion Range, and in 1884 the new Duluth & Iron Range Railroad (D & IR)
carried the first ore to Two Harbors, where the first ore docks in Minnesota were built and the first shipments
made to the lower lake ports of Cleveland and Pittsburgh. Two years later the D & IR was extended to Duluth, but
it lacked dock facilities at the harbor. It remained for the sons of early Duluth settler Lewis H. Merritt to opent the
huge resources of the Mesabi Range and to build their own railroad, the Duluth, Missabe, & Northern (D, M &
N). On October 5, 1892, the first D, M & N train left Duluth for the Mountain Iron mine, an event that “will niake
possible the growth of prosperous mining towns along the Range and the establishment of an extensive iron and
steel industry in Duluth and its suburbs.”*’

In 1893 the Merritts shipped over 500,000 tons of ore to a new ore dock on the Duluth side of the harbor. The
massive wooden structure boasted 384 ore pockets, each with a 150-ton capacity. But the Merritts® costs in
constructing the new railroad, combined with a financial panic the same year, forced them to seek financial help
from John D. Rockefeller, whose interests formed the Lake Superior Consolidated Iron Mines Company.

By 1896 the DM & N was sh1pp1ng more ore from Duluth than that brought to Two Harbors by the D & IR, A
second Duluth dock, with a capacity of 69,100 tons, was built beside its predecessor, and they were Jomed by a
third in 1900. The wooden structures were torn down and replaced by steel docks in 1918. %

After continuous financial rivalry between the Rockefeller and Carnegie Steel Company interests, a compromise
in 1901 created the powerful United States Steel Corporation and its subsidiary, the Oliver Iron Mining Company,
with offices in Duluth. The newly formed corporation united the D & IR and the DM & N into the Duluth,
Messabi and Iron Range Railroad (DM & IR), a road that would haul millions of tons of ore into the Twin Ports.

By the turn of the twentieth century Duluth was fulﬁlh’ng the most optiInistic dreams of its founders and
financiers. The city’s population had grown to 53,000, and the Duluth-Superior harbor rivaled the cities at the
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" Ruhr-Rhine confluence in Germany as one of the largest freshwater ports in the world. Bulk shipping of grain and

iron ore to the eastern Great Lakes ports, the import of commercial coal to fire the factories and run the railroads

* of the Midwest, and the processing and shipping of Minnesota’s huge timber resources were the key elements of

Duluth’s “golden age.”

While most of Duluth’s profit from iron ore came from shipping the raw material to eastern cities for smelting,
there was always hope that the city could take its place as a steel manufacturing center. Early settler William C.
Sargent remarked in 1912 that he and other pioneers expected “to see steel plants lining the shores of Lake
Superior from Fond du Lac to Two Harbors and from the Euchd Hotel to Iron River, each striving to outdo its

neighbor with smoke and noise.”

While the early settlers’ dream never became a reality, and Duluth never became a “second Pittsburgh,” it did turn
out a respectable amount of steel and pig iron during the first half of the twentieth century. The West Duluth Blast
Furnace Company erected a plant “up to date in every respect” soon after the opening of the Mesabi range, but it
shut down within a few years. In 1902 it was reopened as the Zenith Furnace Company by A. B. Wolvin, with the
backing of the Pittsburgh Steamship Company, and became a “three-unit plant” which included a wholesale coal
trade, the production of pig iron, and the coaking of bituminous coal.

Among other early twentieth century businesses allied with iron and steel, several of them subsidiaries of
Marshall-Wells, were the Duluth Cotrugating and Roofing Company, later reorganized as the Sheet Metal
Products Company; the Clyde Iron Works, organized in 1899 for the manufacture of derticks, boilers, hoists, and
logging machinery; the Duluth Boiler Works; the Diamond Caulk Horse Shoe Company; the Gogebic Steam
Boiler Works; and the American Carbolite Company, which used the slag refuse from smelters and blast furnaces
to manufacture calcium carbide, required to produce acetylene gas for illumination.

The construction of the United States Steel Corporation’s large plant on the western edge of the city was a long-
awaited and much-lobbied-for event. Duluthians of the time hailed it as the “largest individual enterprise in
Minnesota” and were convinced it would put Duluth in the ranks with such steel manufacturing cities as Gary,
Joliet, Youngstown, Pittsburgh, and Bethlehem. The huge plant included coke ovens, blast furnaces, open-hearth
fumnaces, a power plant, a wire and nail mill, and various other operations. Universal Portland Cement Company
built a plant alongside the steel operation to use the slag from the furnace in the process of cement making. The
U.S. Steel facility, which became operational in 1915, created an explosion in the populations of Gary and New
Duluth, and the company built its own town, Morgan Park, to house many of its managers and skilled laborers.

Construction of Morgan Park began in 1913, and the first residents moved in the following year. By 1918 it was
home to 750 workers and their families. Morgan Park provided several types of housing for its residents,
depending on their skills and status within the company. U.S. Steel was particularly anxious to attract the highly-
skilled workers it required for some of its processes, and most of its foremen and managers were provided with
single family homes, while skilled laborers lived in attached units. All the structures were well built, combining
concrete, cement blocks, steel beams and timber into attractive boxes with pitched roofs and wide eaves. Large
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- dormitories housed unmarried men.

The company provided Morgan Park with fire and police service, utilities, stores, a school, Catholic and
Protestant churches, a social hall, and just about everything else residents might need. There was a hospital staffed
by company doctors and nurses, movies and dances were available inexpensively on weekends, and there was
even a boat club. There were also “suggestions” for correct behavior, which did not include too much shopping or
socializing outside the community. o ‘ '

While many of the steel company’s employees lived in Morgan Park, a large number of mostly unskilled workers
found housing in Gary and New Duluth. Morgan Park’s residents were largely old stock Americans,
Scandinavians, and Germans. Many Slavic peoples, Italians, Baits, and other more recent immigrants who found
employment with U.S. Steel lived in Gary and New Duluth. -

Although Duluth’s iron-related industries suffered along with all American industries in the Great Depression of
the 1930s, many of them remained active and grew significantly during World War II. Their decline would come
with the exhaustion of high-grade ore on the iron ranges and the eventual slow-downs of the American steel
industry.

As shipping continued to grow, harbor improvements were urgently needed, In 1896 an act of Congress joined the
harbors of Duluth and Superior under one administration and authorized $3 million to enlarge the harbor and
rebuild the Duluth ship canal, When the work was completed some 21 million cubic yards of clay, mud, and sand
had been dredged off the harbor bottom and used to fill docks, and the harbor had 17 miles of channels excavated
to a depth of 20 feet. The canal was widened to 300 feet, its old wooden piers were replaced by stone-filled timber
otib substructures and concrete superstructures, and a new lighthouse was constructed on the south pier. The
harbor’s natural entrance at Superior was also widened to 500 feet and its wooden piers replaced with concrete.

As the two port cities grew, transportation links between them required bridging the harbor. The Northern Pacific
completed the first rail bridge in 1885, spanning the distance between Rice’s and Connor’s points with a
distinctive bend. A second rail bridge was built two years later, from Grassy Point on the upper channel of the St.
Louis River into Superior. Both structures had swing spans to allow ship passage. In 1897 a new general traffic
bridge was opened between Rice’s and Connor’s points at a gala ceremony billed as a “steel wedding.” The
interstate bridge made the transition from horse-drawn vehicles to automobiles and remained the chief traffic
connection between the Twin Ports for more than 60 years,

The Duluth ship canal had created a gap between the city and Minnesota Point, and at first only a rowboat crossed
between them. Eventually a steam ferry replaced the rowboats, but the need for a better connection was apparent.
The problem was designing a bridge that would create no obstruction to the harbor. Swing bridges, draw bridges,
and roller bridges were all considered and rejected. Finally city engineer Thomas F. McGilvray suggested a
suspended car similar to the Anodin Bridge at Rouen, France, the only one of its kind in the world. Opehed in
1905, the bridge had a clear height of 135 feet to permit the passage of the highest sailing masts. The suspended
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car platform was capable of carrying 125,000 pounds--the equivalént of a fully loaded double truck street car, two
loaded wagons with teams, and 350 passengers. Powered by electricity, the car ran about four miles an hour and
completed the passage in a little over one minute. '

With the ever-increasing use of automobiles, the remarkable aerial transfer bridge could, by the late 1920s no
longer handle the traffic between the point and the city. In 1929 it was remodeled into a lift bridge, with its center
span raised and a lift span added. Over time, it has become a symbol of Duluth recognized across the northwest.

" The year the acrial lift span was raised for the first time turned out to be the peak shipping year of the city’s
history. More than 10,000 ships entered or left the harbor in 1929, most via the Duluth ship canal. Half the cargo
was iron ore, with outbound grain and incoming coal accounting for most of the other half. Along some 20 miles
of harbor frontage shipping facilities sprawled among the rocks, scrub woodlands, and marshes.

Already by 1929, however, the city had felt the decline of the once flourishing lumber industry as the seemingly
endless virgin pine forests of Minnesota were depleted. And while some 50 million tons of iron ore moved
through the port in 1929, with the Great Depression that number dropped in a few years to just over 2 million
tons. The coal import business was not as seriously affected, since buildings stili had to be heated and railroads
fueled. Grain shipments also continued throughout the depression years, and by 1941 the harbor had 25 grain
elevators and a storage capacity of nearly 50 million bushels.

Even though the Duluth shipping business continued strong with the industrial stimutus of World War II, the
rapid growth it sustained in the first decades of the twentieth century ended in the 1920s. The port’s importance,
based in significant part on the bulk shipment of raw materials during the years of the nation’s industrial growth,
-declined with that growth in the second half of the twentieth century.

Closely related to Duluth’s other iron ore and steel-making activities was the shipbuilding industry, which
flourished in the Twin Ports from the early days of wooden vessels built by N. Grignon Shipyard. But it was
Captain Alexander McDougall’s steel vessels that revolutionized lake carriers and made Duluth a significant
shipbuilding center on the Great Lakes through the years of World War 1.

MecDougall opened his American Barge Company in 1889 on the Duluth harbor basin, where he constructed the
first five of his “whaleback” vessels that proved themselves in bulk cargo shipping on the Great Lakes. He
himself later described the whaleback as “a boat with a flat bottom designed to carry the greatest cargo on the
least water, with a rounded top so that the water could not stay on board, with a spoon-shaped bow to best follow
the line of strain with the least use of the rudder, and with turrets on deck for passage into the interior of the hull.”
The design was also used for passenger steamers in an age when travel on the Great Lakes was popular.

McDougall’s confidence in the future of the Mesabi iron range led him to combine his interests with those of the
Merritt brothers and thus to lose more than 30 freighters to the Rockefeller interests. He moved his shipbuilding
operations to Superior, but later built a second shipyard on his initial Duluth site, then with partner Julius Bamnes,
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expanded upriver to what is now the Riverside area during World War 1. Riverside, like Morgan Park, was a
company town, built for Barnes & McDougall’s employees while they were constructing some 25 coastal
freighters for the government. Other shipbuilding concerns in Duluth also provided vessels for the war effort.
Whitriey Brothers Wharf launched 10 tugs, and the Globe Shipyard built 19 260-foot ocean freighters. The
businesses languished between the wars, but most of them were reactivated and expanded during World War I,
when more than 10,000 men and women in both the port cities helped build a fleet of coastal freighters, corvettes,
and ocean cargo ships. '

URBAN CENTERS, 1870-1940

A major port is built not only on exports but also on imports. Speaking in 1868, Dr. Thomas Foster, the publisher

of the Minnesotian newspaper and the man who christened Duluth as the “Zenith City of the Unsalted Seas,”

predicted that one day, “the commercial freight from the eastern cities, destined to supply a vast region westward,

will mazke tall warehouses groan with their burden while awaiting here their gradual distribution over the railroad
" to St. Paul and the great farther beyond.”’

Dr. Foster’s forecast proved accurate. In 1919 Duluth received by water more than $40 million worth of general
merchandise—from coffee and sugar to olives and chocolates—and its harbor was lined with jobbing warchouses
{o receive the goods and dispatch them to the farther beyond.*® The huge Marshall-Wells Hardware, built by
Albert Morley Marshall, who took over the struggling Chapin-Wells Company in 1893, dominated the business of
Duluth for decades, Marshall-Wells both manufactured and imported goods, and its salesmen solicited business
throughout the northern states, Canada, and Alaska. It eventually established warehouses in Winnipeg,
Vancouver, Portland, and Spokane, and its products were sold as far away as Indonesia and Australia. “Zenith”
brand hardware and machinery carried a guarantee backed by scientific testing, and by 1915 its general catalogue
was bigger than that of Sears. One of Marshall’s contemporaries commented in 1918 that “no other merchant in
the great northwest has been the equal of Mr. Marshall in the vision and optimism which so benefited this great
area of expansion. ..and no other has accomplished so much as he.””

As part of their service to dealers, Marshall-Wells salesmen offered advice about displays, and to supply the
resulting demand the company bought Duluth Showcase, which made store fixtures. Eventually it added the
manufacture of wooden ice boxes with an air circulating “coolerator” device to improve the boxes’ performance.
A pioneer in the manufacture of electric refrigerators, the Coolerator Company eventually was sold to the Gibson
Appliance Company, and later became part of International Telephone and Telegraph’s company holdings. In
1954, the McGraw Electric Company bought the Coolerator interests and cloged the two Duluth plants one year
later.

Among Duluth’s other giants in jobbing was the Stone-Ordean-Wells wholesale grocery, founded in 1872 by
William R. Stone. By the early 1900s his company had absorbed the competition and was manufacturing its own
products under the brand name “Nokomis” as well as importing grocery items from around the nation. I A.
Patrick and Company, a wholesale dry goods business, specialized in mackinaws “bigger than the weather” and
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other woolen products.60 The DeWitt-Seitz Company imported furniture and manufactured mattresses sold across
the Midwest. ' ' '

Shipping costs on the Great Lakes, compared to railroad and later trucking rates, played an important role in the
success of Duluth’s jobbers, as did the demand for the goods they imported. With fluctuating prices and financial
booms and busts, older companies went out of business and newer ones took their places throughout the 1920s
and 1930s. The giant Marshall-Wells survived the depression with the aid of extensive bank financing, and by
1953 was the largest wholesale hardware firm in the world. It was sold to Ambrook, Inc. of New York and closed
only a few years later.

While the fortunes to be made in the forests and mines of northeastern Minnesota and the ships regularly
departing the Duluth-Superior harbor often went to eastern financiers with heavy investments in the region,
enough money stayed in Duluth to make the city a major banking metropolis in the boom years around the turn of
the century. While the community’s first bank, backed by Jay Cooke and run by General George B. Sargent and
George C. Stone, was buried in the collapse of the Cooke financial empire in 1873, bigger and better things were
to come. By 1900 the banking institutions included the First National, American Exchange, Commercial, St.
Louis County, Bank of West Duluth, and New Duluth Bank. These and others continued to consolidate and
reformulate throughout the early years of the century, and several failed, as did banks across America, during the
years of the Depression in the 1930s.

A variety of retail sales businesses and service professions met the needs of Duluth’s population, which continued
to grow until the 1920s, when it leveled off through the next several decades. The Duluth Street Car Company
received a franchise under an act of the legislature in 1881 to “lay tracks on any street in Duluth, Tun cars, and
give adequate transportation facilities.” Its first line was a single track of “a little less than one mile” on Superior
Street from Eighth Avenue West to Third Avenue East. Cars were pulled by mules until the line was electrified in’
1890, by which time the company had 19 miles of railway in operation. Duluth’s famous Incline Railway, which
climbed about 500 feet in the distance of half a mile and provided access to the summit of the hill upon which the
city is built, made its first run in 1891, with company president G. G. Hartley as one of the passengers.

‘The riparian rights to the water power of the St. Louis River had attracted the early interest of Jay Cooke, who
wanted to develop hydraulic power above Fond du Lac. Later, others laid down plans to use the power of fast-
moving water for industrial growth and the generation of electrical power. An elaborate scheme was developed in
1893 by Henry M. Spaulding of the Minnesota Canal Company, who proposed a dam on the river above Cloquet
and a 25-mile canal to the hilltop above Eighteenth Avenue West. Power generated by this plan would cost about
one tenth the amount required by steam power. The idea proved so “alluring” that a rival company was soon
formed, and maneuvering for the rights set the project back until a franchise was finally given over to the Great
Northern Power Company in 1903, The Thompson dam plant, furnishing 30,000 horse power, was completed in
1906 and a substation erected at Duluth to transform the current for distribution. Later reorganized as Minnesota
Power, the company built a new steam electric generating station in West Duluth, the location chosen for its
proximity to coal sources.
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From its very early days Duluth was well supplied with newspapers, the first being the Minnesotian, which Dr.
Thomas Foster brought from St. Paul to Duluth in 1869, Foster was a lively writer of strong opinions, with which
the “directors of Duluth’s destiny” often did not agree. They consulted Jay Cooke about who they might get to
start a rival newspaper with more agreeable ideas, and Cooke remarked that a new editor over in Superior might

 suit them well. Thus editor Robert C. Mitchell was persuaded to move his Tribune to Duluth, ferrying his
equipment across the bay to elude active efforts and a threatened injunction to stop him. The Minnesotian merged
with the Tribune in 1878, as did the Weekly Lake Superior News in 1892 when the News-Tribune was formed.
The Duluth Herald began publication in 1883, ' '

Handsome hotels, opera houses, and theaters lent a cosmopolitan air to the fast growing city in the years from
1890 to 1920. Many of these and other business buildings of the city were built in the popular monumental
Richardsonian Romanesque style, constructed of red sandstone quarried nearby. Others employed the -
Neoclassical and Renaissance Revival styles. Those still standing today are among the structures that gwe Duluth
the distinctive look of a booming late-nineteenth century industrial city.

The county courthouse, finally constructed in 1909, was designed by noted Chicago architect Daniel Burnham as
the centerpicce of a plarmed civic center, which would eventually include a new jail constructed in 19xx, and a
new city hall and a federal courts building, both constructed in the 1920s. Together they were an example of the
“City Beautiful” movement which gained popularity in the years around the turn of the century. The movement
encouraged the reorganization of cities to make their downtown areas more “livable” with additional malls, green
spaces, and handsome civic buildings. In keeping with that intention, Duluth’s first municipal Christmas tree was
lighted on the courthouse square in 1914.”

The Sisters of St. Benedict were responsible for founding Duluth’s St. Mary’s Hospital in 1888, some seven years
afiter the city’s Episcopal church had established St. Luke’s Hospital. Both hospitals were primitive institutions in
their early years, plagued with problems of water supply, inadequate equipment, and the threat of typhoid and other
highly contagious diseases. Indeed, it was a typhoid outbreak in 1881, during which sufferers were put up in hotels
and visited from time to time by the county physician, that led to outcries for a hospital. St Luke’s began
operations that October in a “ramshackle old blacksmith shop,” and church members helped to provide furnishings
by driving from house to house for donations of sheets, towels, dishes, chairs, and beds. One week after opening
the six beds were filled, five of them with typhoid victims.

Tn 1883, while expanding its services into a new building, St, Luke’s initiated a prepaid health insurance plan. The
St. Luke’s Association sold certificates for $5, mostly to loggers and railroad workers, which would entitle them to
medical care for one year. The mid-1880s saw a “spell of healthfulness” which meant a decline in patient numbers
in the new hospital, but by 1888 typhoid had erupted again. Fortunately, by that time, St. Mary’s had opened and
provided 100 beds to alleviate the crisis.

The decades around the turn of the century were periods of rapid growth for both Duluth hospitals. St. Mary’s
moved to a new 200-bed facility in 1898, and St. Luke’s followed with a new facility in 1902. There were also
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several other hospitals in the city, including Women’s Hospital, Maternity Hospital, and Smallpox Hospital, all
catering to the poor and homeless. Both St. Mary’s and St. Luke’s introduced surgical operation facilities in the
1890s. The first appendectomy in Duluth was performed at St. Mary’s in 1891, by 1901 it had the city’s first intern
program, and in 1903 it purchased the city’s first x-ray machine.

Duluth’s two large and competing hospitals no doubt played a significant role in the city’s development as 2 major
medical center in the northwest. In 1915 Dr. E. L. Tuohy of $t. Mary’s and Dr. W. A. Coventry of St. Luke’s
established the Duluth Clinic, with the intention of bringing attributes of the Mayo Clinic in Rochester to the -
northland. Both doctors urged the two hospitals to provide necessary laboratories and more professional
equipment, and the region’s excellent facilities in turn brought more and better trained physicians to the area. By
the 1920s, in addition to the “big two™ hospitals, both expanding with addition after addition, there were a number
of smaller institutions including the new Miller Hospital and a clinic/hospital built by U.S. Steel to serve the
citizens of Morgan Park.

A look at Duluth’s churches in the early twentieth century shows much about the ethnic diversity of the city. By
1930, foreign-born still accounted for a quarter of Duluth’s population, and the various ethnic groups formed their
own communities, often centered on the neighborhood church, There were Swedish, Norwegian, German, and
Finnish Lutheran churches; German, French, Polish, and Italian Catholic churches, Greek and Serbian Orthodox
churches and several churches, including St. Elizabeth’s in New Duluth, whose congregations were predominately
Slavic groups from eastern Europe. St. Mark’s African Methodist Episcopal Church, established in 1895, was a
center for the city’s small African-American community, and four synagogues, three located on Third Avenue -
North between Second and Ninth Streets East, served the Jewish population by 1900.

In addition to the churches, there were several Christian social and charitable organizations active in Duluth. The
Young Men’s Christian Association, organized in 1872 for “educational and philanthropic influences,” opened a
substantial building in 1908. In addition to complete athletic facilities, it offered courses in business, various types
* of shop mechanics and sciences, and even lake navigation. The Young Women’s Christian Association began its
work in 1902, Among its services were room and board for young women, an employment agency and boarding
house directory, classes in English for foreigners, and various domestic arts.

The work of the Dututh Bethe! Society among Duluth’s mass of sailors, loggers, railroad laborers, miners, and
other segments of the “floating”population was particularly impressive. Begun in 1873 by Robert Smith with the
assistance of Captain Kitwood and the pastors and businessmen of the city, the association’s members preached to
the “lawless, roaring sailor horde” from a dry-goods box on the corner of Superior Street and First Avenue East. It
also housed and fed the homeless men; offered food, fuel, shelter, clothing, and medical attention to needy
families; ran a shelter for “unfortunate and fallen girls”; and carried on many other charitable activities, In 1912 it
built a large facility at 31 Mesaba Avenue to accommodate sailors and others in dormitory halls and private rooms.

Masons, Elks, Odd Fellows, Moose, Woodmen, Knights of Columbus, and veterans organizations, including the
Grand Army of the Republic and the American Legion, were all active in Duluth, as were a number of ethnic social
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clubs. Some of these built halls that were important gathering places for their members and other groups seeking
space to hold social events. Other clubs included the Duluth Boat Club, the Curling Club, the Kitchi Gammi Club,
and the Northland Country Club, all active before 1920.

! In 1991, Nancy Eubank wrote a set of local historic contexts for the Duluth Heritage Preservation Commiission entitled
“Zenith City of the Unsalted Sea: Duluth’s Historic Contexts.” Some of these contexts have been incorporated and expanded
for this Multiple Property Documentation Form.
? Alan H. Hartley, “Duluth’s Geology,” in Duluth: Sketches of the Past, edited by Ryck Lydecker and Lawrence J. Sommer
(Duluth Minnesota; American Revolution Bicentennial Commission, 1976), 27-40. .
* Ibid.

* WPA Guide to the Minnesota Arrowhead Country (Chicago: A. Whitman, 1941; reprmt St. Paul; Minnesota Historical
Society Press, 1988}, 5-10
° Ibid., 30 '
S Rill Beck and C. Patrick Labadie, Pride of the Inland Seas. An Hlustrated History of the Port of Duluth- Superzor (Afton,
Minnesota: Afton Historical Society Pross, 2004), 13-19.
7 Hartley, “Duluth’s Geology,” 37. '
8 Walter Van Brunt, Duluth and St. Louis County Minnesota: Their Story and People, vol. 1 (Ch1cag0 and New York: The
American Historical Society, 1921), 57-61; WPA Guide, 10-11.
® Amne Stultz Bailey, “The Towns That Became Duluth,” in Duluth: Sketches of the Past, edited by Ryck Lydecker and
Lawrence J. Sommer (Duluth, Minnesota: American Revolution Bicentennial Commission, 1976}, 83-94.
¥ Bailey, 94-108; Lawrence J. Sommer, “Duluth Historic Resources Survey: Final Report, ? (Duluth: St. Lonis County
Historical Society, 1984), 12-13.
"' Van Brunt, vol. I, 139.
12 WPA Guide to the Minnesota Arrowhead Country, 105,
¥ Duluth Minnesota, [The Commercial Club of Duluth, 1916], 6. ' .
¥ David A. Walker and Stephen P. Hall, Duluth-Superior Harbor Cultural Resources Survey (84 Paul Department of the
Army, St. Paul District, Corps of Engineers, August 1976), 27.
15 J.L. Harnsberger, “Jay Cooke and Minnesota: The Formative Years of the Northern Pacific Rallway, 1868-1873" (Ph.D.
diss., University of Minnesota, 1956), 19-22; Walker and Hall, 27.
* George H. Primmer, “Railways at the Head of Lake Superior,” Economic Geography, vol.13, no. 3 (July 1937), 269-72;
Walker and Hall, 28. |
" Dora M. Macdonald, This Is Duluth (Duluth, Minnesota: Central High School Printing Department, 1950), 67.
** Van Brunt, vol. I, 171; Walker and Hall, 28.
¥ WPA Guide, 106.
 Frank A. Young, Duluth’s Ship Canal and Aerial Bridge: How They Came To Be (Duluth, Minnesota: Stewart- Taylor Co.,
1977), 2-5; Walker and Hall, 31-35
2! Beck and Labadie, 42-43.
2 van Brunt, vol. I, 197.
2 Ibid., 234.

- ¥ 1bid,, 241.
> Thid., 139, 243-47.
* Tbid,, 254.
2 Ibid., 255, 261; Henrietta M. Larson, The Wheat Market and the Farmer in Minnesota, 1858-1900 (New York: Columbia
University Studies in History, Economics, and Public Law, 1926), 55-57.
3 Duluth Journal of Commerce, The City of Duluth With a Review of Iis Trade, Commerce, and Industries, 87 (Duluth,
1886).

¥ van Brunt, Vol. I, 262-63; Frank A, King, “Railroads at the Head of the Lakes,” in Duluth: Skeiches of the Past, 181-91.
% Duluth News Tribune, September 9, 1890, 1; Duluth Herald, September 16, 1891, 2.
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* Duluth Herald, September 21, 1891, p. 2; September 24, 1891, p. 3; Macdonald, This Is Duluth, 107. The line, built by the
Keystone Bridge Company of Pittsburgh, contained 1,300 tons of rolled steel plates and beams and was an engineering
marvel that presented “construction problems never before encountered.” It was dismantled in 1939.
2 Walker and Hall, Duluth-Superior Harbor Cultural Resources Study, 57.
* Glenn N. Sandvik, Duluth: An Hlustrated History of the Zenith City (Woodland Hills, CA.: Windsor Publications, Inc
1983}, 30.
* J.C. Ryan, “The Duluth Lmnber Industry,” in Duluz‘h Skeiches of the Past, 167; Walker and Hall, Dulut‘h Superior Harbor
Cultural Resources Study, 58.
3 J.C. Ryan, “The Duluth Lumber Industry,” 167.
* Ibid., 168.
7 Walker and Hall, Duluth-Superior Harbor Cultural Resources Study, 60,
** Duluth News Tribune, May 10, 1890, p. 4.
% Grace Lee Nute, Lake Superior (New York: Bobbs-Merrill, 1944}, 206.
* Beck and Labadie, Pride of the Inland Seas, 79.
*''Nute, Lake Superior, 206,
*2 Walker and Hall, Duluth-Superior Harbor Cultural Resources Study, 61.
“ J.C. Ryan, “The Duluth Lumber Industry,” 170.
“ Dwight E. Woodbridge and John S. Pardee, eds., History of Duluth and St. Louis County: Past and Present, vol. 11
{Chicago: C.F. Cooper & Co., 1910}, 560.
* Ibid., 170-71.
* Tbid,, 173. '
*" Woodbridge and Pardes, History of Duluth and St. Louis County, vol. II, 537.
* Ibid., 538. Clyde Iron Works also manufactured cast iron storefronts for commercial buildings, several of which are visible
on the facades of buildings in downtown Duluth.
9 Walker and Hall, Duluth-Superior Harbor Cultural Resources Study, 63,
50 Van Brunt, vol. 1, 392.
SUWPA Guide to the Minnesota Arrowhead Country, 14.
%2 Van Brunt, vol. I, 393.
* Van Brunt, vol. I, 162-63; 237; Walker and Hall, 75.
' Van Brunt, vol. I, 394,
% Duluth Herald, October 6, 1892, .4,
38 Eric Hirsimaki, “The Ore Docks,” Great Lakes sttoncal Society
*7 Yan Brunt, vol. T, 182.
*® Tbid.
% Van Brunt, vol. T, 323-24; vol. IL, 750.
® Van Brunt, vol. I, 323. '
8 William H. Wilson, The City Reautiful Movement (Baltimore and London: The Johns Hopkins University Press, 1989)
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ASSOCIATED PROPERTY TYPES

1. NAME OF PROPERTY TYPE: COMMERCIAL BUILDINGS
IL. DESCRIPTION |

Located in the geographical heart of Duluth, the central business district encompasses the core of the city’s
present downtown commercial area, which evolved from the center of the nineteenth- and early twentieth-century
city. The boundaries of the commercial core are defined for the most part by prominent natural and man-made
barriers, and changes to the historic character of the central business district. Interstate Highway 35 and railroad
tracks form a barrier to the south; open space and parking lots mark a visual transformation to the east of 31
Avenue East; a change in building usage from commercial to residential around 2% Street defines the north; and a
combination of new construction and the introduction of government buildings forms a barrier to the west at about
4™ Avenue West.

Most land encompassed within the central business district assumes the form of a relatively flat plane that extends
along the shore of Lake Superior and rises rather abruptly toward the rocky bluffs that surround Duluth to the

" north. Shaped like a rectangle, the commercial core extends for nearly nine blocks running in an east-west
direction, and embraces two major east-west traffic arteries: East and West Superior Street, which is also
designated as U.S. Highway 61, and East and West 1% Street. Seven streets bisect the MPDF boundary in a north-
south direction: North 1% Avenue West, North 2™ Avenue West, North 3™ Avenue West, and North 4" Avenue
West, all located west of Lake Avenue; and North 1% Avenue East, North Second Avenue East, and North 3@
Avenue East, which are located east of Lake Avenue. Overall, the area of the MPDF encompasses approximately
48 acres of land and 175 major buildings. ' '

The category of commercial building is broadly defined to include all buildings whose function was related to
trade or commerce, was a for-profit business, or was a professional service. Characteristic of late nineteenth and
early twenticth century commercial development in Minnesota and across the nation, the majority of the resources
in downtown Duluth are commercial row buildings, These buildings are brick, generally one- to three-story
buildings that share party walls and have a uniform setback. The commercial row buildings can either be the
attached single story building type or the attached multiple story building type.

The attached single-story buildings are one-part commetcial buildings. During the twentieth century one-part
commercial block buildings became more popular due to growing emphasis on the horizontal rather than vertical,
as documented in Richard Longstreth’s The Buildings of Main Street: 4 Guide to American Commercial
Architecture. This low density development and street-level building can be linked to the rise of the automobile
and the desire to view all from the car. Many buildings located along the 200 and 300 blocks of East Superior
Street and East 1% Street were built specifically in response to the popularity of the automobile.

The attached multiple-story buildings are two-part commercial block buildings that have two distinct zones with a
horizontal division. The first floor has a public use and the second floor a more private function. Two-part
commercial buildings are found throughout the country and were popular from the mid-nineteenth century until
the 1950s. Longstreth’s description of the two-part commercial block is illustrative:
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The two-part commercial block is the most common type of composition used for small
and moderate-sized commercial buildings throughout the country. Generally limited to
structures of two to four stories, this type is characterized by a horizontal division into
two distinct zones. These zones may be similar, while clearly separated from one another;
they may be harmonious, but quite different in character; or they may have little visual
relationship. The two-part division reflects differences in use inside. The single-story
lower zone, at street level, indicates public spaces such as retail stores, a banking room,
insurance office or hotel lobby. The upper zone suggests more private spaces, including
offices, hotel rooms or a meeting hall. The type has been used to accommodate a wide
range of functions and is readily found in almost all forms of commercial development,
domir}ating the core of small cities and towns as well as many neighborhood commercial
areas. :

“While one building in downtown Duluth is of wood frame construction, all other structures have load-bearing or -
curtain wall-style masonry exteriors of brick, cut stone, or cast stone. Some commercial facades retain original
cast iron storefronts, often stamped with the mark of its manufacturer, such as the Clyde Iron Works of Duluth.
Several early twentieth-century buildings also incorporate large exterior-wall panels of terra cotta, and, in some
cases, Carrara glass at the storefront level. Most areas within the historic districts are dominated by a mixture of
relatively small- and medium-scale commercial buildings, roughly 80 percent of which were constructed between
1900 and 1920. The majority of these buildings are sited close to the street and each other on standard 25- or 50-
foot-wide lots, they range in height from one to four stories (with the exception of one block of high-rises in the
300 block of West Superior Street), and they have flat roofs masked in whole or in part by parapets and decorative
cornices.

Historic architectural styles represented in downtown Duluth include varying interpretations of Gothic Revival,
Romanesque Revival, Renaissance Revival, Neoclassical, and Art Deco modes. A majority of buildings represent
modest, essentially functional late nineteenth- and early twentieth-century commercial vernacular properties
which, despite their lack of significant exterior stylistic characteristics, continue to form an integral part of the
city’s historic architectural mosaic.

The physical integrity of most of the downtown’s historically and architecturally significant buildings ranges from
good to excellent. Only a few dozen of the more than 130 late nineteenth- and early-twentieth century buildings
were altered between the 1950s and 1990s to the point where they can no longer be considered as contributing
resources. In most cases, significant exterior alterations to historic buildings are limited to non-historic storefront
changes, inappropriate signage, and upper floor window modifications. The bulk of such alterations generally
appear to be reversible, or have only limited impact with respect to the significant architectural characteristics of a
building as a whole. While in need of rehabilitation, the significant exterior features of some historic buildings
located in the downtown area either remain substantially intact or appear to be in repairable condition. Despite
alterations and modern infrusions, historic building groups continue to effectively function as coherent and
cohesive representations of the types of streetscapes that dominated most of the downtown by the onset of the
Great Depression. ‘



NPS Form 10-900-a - o o M8 Approval Ne. 1024-6018
(Rev. a-ss) o _

United States Department of the lnterlor
Nahona] Park Service

National Régister of Historic Places

Continuation Sheet Name of property
Historic Resources of Downtown Duluth, Minnesota, 1872-1933
- County and State
Section F Page 3 St. Louis County Minnesota

Most historic commercial buildings in downtown Duluth embody architectural designs commonly found in cities
throughout Minnesota and the United States in the late nincteenth and early twentieth centuries. Duluth’s historic
commercial buildings were designed in a variety of styles and—with the exception of eight structures over seven
stories—range in height from one to four stories, The buildings conform to a standard setback to allow for
sidewalks and were generally constructed to completely fill the lots upon which they are situated.

In general, the buildings have a boxy, rectangular plan. Most have masonry load bearing walls, but some have
skeletal steel structural systems. Unless they are detached or sited on a corner, the buildings exhibit a single,
primary fagade where all entrances, windows, and decorative elements are placed. They generally display
storefronts consisting of plate glass windows on the first floor. The business entry is usually recessed, often in the
- center of the storefront. The most common form of upper story fenestration is double hung sash windows set in
rectangular or arched openings.

Applied ornamentation is apparent on nearly all of the historic commercial buildings in downtown Duluth.
Ornamental brickwork in the form of dentil string courses and corbelled cornices is the most common form of
decoration. Also prevalent are pressed metal cornices, terra cotta facades and detailing, concrete pilasters, Carrara
glass, and decorative tiles. Shop windows are often flanked by masonry pilasters, which prowde an inviting frame
for displaying merchandise. Horizontal kick panels, or bulkheads, begin at ground level and rise several feet to
serve as a practical solution to the storefront display area. The panels are constructed of a variety of materials,
including wood and masonry. Metal and wood canopies and canvas awnings are also a common feature on the
commereial buildings.

IIT, SIGNIFICANCE

The historic commercial buildings of Duluth are significant under National Register Criterion A in the area of
Commerce for their association with the commercial development of downtown Duluth during the turn of the
century. These buildings gain historical significance because over the course of the late nineteenth and early
twentieth centuries, Duluth emerged as the commercial, industrial, financial, transportation, and social and
cultural heart of northern Minnesota’s foremost urban-industrial center. Buildings constructed between 1872 and
1933 that are associated with those enterprises are among Duluth’s most important historic resources. As the
county seat of St. Louis County, Duluth provided a variety of retail, professional, banking, freight, and
warchousing services to the area. This activity is represented by the remaining historic commercial buildings in
cach district. They reflect the general affluence the community experienced during the period of significance
through their design, materials, and workmanship.

The commercial buildings are architecturally significant under Criterion C for two reasons; First, the historic core
of downtown Duluth retains two notable concentrations of buildings (as well as approximately two dozen
substantially intact buildings outside the boundaries of the two districts), which effectively document the area’s
principal period of significance and illustrate examples of national trends in commercial architecture during the
late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. Reflecting the late Victorian influence, the turn-of-the-century
buildings have decorative brick corbelling and stone arched lintels or segmentally arched windows. With their
columns, pilasters, keystones, and symmetrical facades, the bmldmgs constructed in the early 1900s reflect the
classical influences of the Neoclassical Revival style.
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* Second, downtown Duluth retains a sizable number of distinguished individual buildings designed in a variety of

different architectural styles. Many of these latter buildings are known to have been designed by locally
prominent or nationally renowned nineteenth- and early twentieth-century architects, such as Danicl Burnham,
Franeis Fitzpatrick, William Hunt, Oliver Traphagen, John Wangenstein, and George Wirth (see below). Several
buildings also display the exceptional stone carving of George Thrana, whose work is often found around the
entrances to buildings or on decorative stones placed on a wall. The Wirth Building at 13 West Superior Streét
(1886) was designed by George Wirth and is the only building in the MPDF that is already individually Hsted in

the National Register.

1V. REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS

The boundaries for both the Duluth Commercial Historic District and the West Superior Street Historic District
were drawn based upon concentrations of contributing properties, meaning those buildings that were at least 50
years old and still retained good architectural integrity. Integrity of form in all cases pertained to thinimal exterior

- alterations. In the case of commercial buildings, modernization of storefronts and alterations to the second story

such as modern signs, painting of original unpainted brick, or boarding up of windows, did not render the building

‘non-contributing as long as the form, fenestration, and primary decorative elements remained intact. Alterations to

the side or rear of a building, such as the application of stucco over brick, which did not detract from the primary

fagade also were considered minimal changes. However, when an entire fagade was covered with aluminum

panels or significantly altered such that the changes are irreversible, then the building was classified as non- ‘

_ contributing.

To be eligible for listing under this property type a building must be located in the area defined in this cover and
meet the following criteria: Buildings must 1) have been designed to serve a commereial purpose; 2) have been
constructed between 1872 and 1933; 3) have significant historical associations to the overall development of
downtown Duluth; and 4) retain much of their original architectural integrity.

! Richard Longstreth, The Buildings of Main Street: A Guide to American Commercial Architecture {Washington, D.C.: The
Preservation Press, 1987), p. 24 :
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SUMMARY OF IDENTIFICATION AND EVALUATION METHODS

The documentation of the Downtown Duluth Historic Resources MPDF is the end product of an intensive,
integrated historical and architectural resource survey and National Register evaluation study compiled over the
course of 2004-05 by Michael Koop of the State Historic Preservation Office (SHPO) of the Minnesota Historical
Society, and Christina Morris of the Midwest Office of the National Trust for Historic Preservation.

Work on the survey was initiated by reviewing a rough draft of a National Register of Historic Places nomination
form for a potential historic district in Duluth’s “Old Downtown” that had been prepared by the City of Duluth
Planning Department in 1984. This document identified approximately 70 buildings in a four-block area of the
central business district that represented commercial development in Duluth from the 1880s to the 1930s. Visual
inspection of the downtown area by SHPO staff resulted in expanding the boundaries of the potential historic
district, and determining that a second, much smaller potential district existed within a larger geographic area of
the downtown. The presence of other historic buildings adjacent to the downtown core (but located outside the
boundaries of both historic districts), coupled with the loss of entire blocks of historic buildings resulted in the
proposal to prepare a MPDF. Survey work was completed with the visual inspection, photographing, mapping, '
and cataloging of every building in the two historic districts. A detailed review of a wide range of primary and
secondary documents was then undertaken for the purpose of compiling a general prose summary outlining the
historic and architectural development of the MPDF as a whole. Detailed research was also undertaken for all
individual buildings located in both historic districts. Research on buildings was designed to develop an
expanded, detailed, and accurate database relating to construction dates, alterations, historic usages as well as
architect and builder attributions.

The principal sources investigated in depth during the course of survey research included: local construction -
permit records; a series of detailed maps of the arca dating from the nineteenth and twentieth centuries; Duluth
city directories; and historic photographs and newspaper articles filed with the Duluth Public Library and the -
Northeast Minnesota History Center. Maryanne Norton of the Duluth Public Library (with help from Bob Burg
and Jane Shull) and Pat Maus of the Northeast Minnesota History Center provided invaluable assistance with
newspaper research, locating historic photographs, and a variety of other tasks. Other sources included a number

- of well-researched, published and unpublished primary and secondary works, among the most useful of which
were Duluth and St. Louis County Minnesota: Their Story and People by Walter Van Brunt; Duluth-Superior
Harbor Cultural Resources Study by David Walker and Stephen Hall; and Pride of the Inland Seas. An Illustrated
History of the Port of Duluth-Superior by Bill Beck and C. Patrick Labadie.

The National Register MPDF research phase of the project was initiated at the same time the survey was
underway. Utilizing the extensive survey-generated data, all buildings within the two historic districts were
carefully evaluated in light of existing National Register criteria. Properties deemed contributing resources within
each district were then catalogued based on the current physical and visual characteristics of the MPDF,

Large redevelopment projects executed in whole or in part since World War II have had an impact on the physical
integrity and historic appearance of parts of downtown Duluth. To a certain extent, the demolition of entire blocks
of historic buildings and the construction of parking lots and ramps predetermined the appropriate boundaries for
both the historic districts and the MPDF. For example, the northern side of Superior Street from 1* Avenue West
to 4™ Avenue West has suffered a loss of integrity due to new construction and major alterations during the 1960s
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and 1970s. In addition, the construction of Interstate Highway 35 in 19xx pafallel with and two blocks south of
Superior Street resulted in the removal of dozens of commercial and warehouse buildings along with various
railroad tracks. ' S :

During this same era, many of the nineteenth- and early twentieth-century structures located on the streets within
the MPDF remained relatively unaltered due to a stagnant local economy. In some cases, the lack of alterations to
the building stock resulting from minimal private investment proved beneficial for retaining a higher degree of
overall physical integrity. More recent rehabilitation efforts—some privately initiated and others undertaken with
financial assistance from the City of Duluth—during the 1990s and the first years of the 21* century have spurred
. renewed interest in revitalizing the downtown core for both commercial and residential use.
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DESCRIPTION

The Duluth Commereial Historic District contains 114 buildings (87 contributing, 20 non-contributing) and seven
non-contributing vacant lots. The district consists of all Superior Street properties located between Lake Avenue
and Third Avenue East, those located in the 0-100 block on the north side of West Superior Street, and properties -
in the 300 block on the south side of East Superior Street; all 1% Street properties located between 2™ Avenue
West and 2™ Avenue East, and properties in the 200 and 300 blocks on the north gide of West 1% Street; and all
properties along West 1%, West 2 and West 3™ avenues and East 1%, East 2™ and East 3™ avenues. One property
in the district is individually listed in the National Register of Historic Places: the Wirth Building (1886) located
at 13 West Superior Street. ' :

Buildings in the district are generally one to three stories in height with flat roofs, although occasionally there are
taller buildings of four or five stories (the taliest building is the Hotet Duluth (1924) located at 219-231 East
Superior Street. Most buildings have load-bearing or curtain wall-style masonry exteriors of brick, cut stone, or
cast stone. The majority of the buildings represent commercial adaptations of architectural styles that were
popular at the turn of the century, including the Romanesque, Romanesque Revival, Renaissance Revival,
Neoclassical, and commercial vernacular modes. Decorative detailing is prevalent, including stamped iron
cornices, pressed and corbelled brick, and cast iron columns. The district also features examples of Period Revival
commercial buildings that were common after the turn of the century. Of the 114 buildings, 79 were built during
the period between 1900 and 1929. Twenty-five buildings date to the 1880s and 1890s. The majority of buildings
have had storefront alterations, but the historic appearance has been maintained on the upper floors. Only 17
buildings are non-contributing elements of the district due to alterations which have compromised the historical
integrity of the buildings. Three buildings were built between 1940 and 1950, well after the end of the district’s
period of historic significance in 1933. Since there are no buildings built in the 1930s and only three during the
period between 1940-1950, the district continues to illustrate Duluth’s history from an early twentieth-century
perspective. Superior and 1% streets, where the bulk of the buildings are concentrated, represents an extended
streetscape of attached construction typical of late nineteenth- and early twentieth-century commereial districts.
The district is also a reflection of the strongest economic period of the city’s main industries, lumbering and
shipping of grain, iron ore and coal. These industries created a need for, and fostered the development of, a large
and diverse downtown cormmercial district.

The following description of each building in the district includes the building number and street address shown

on the map enclosed with the nomination. The descriptions are arranged in the following order: 2% Avenue West
to 2™ Avenue East; West Superior Street; Bast Superior Street; West 1% Street to Fast 1% Street.

NP AVENUE WEST

1. Historic Name: unknown
Current Name: Academy of Driving/Salon Gallery/Natch Building
Address: 109 North 2" Avenue West
Date: 1901
Architect: unknown
Non-contributing
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This low, one-story orange-red brick building faces east between West Superior and West 1% strects, with the
south side of the building adjoining the rear wall of 201-207 West 1* Street. The facade has been altered with new
wood siding and seven stucco-covered openings where the storefront had been located. Two cast iron columns
stamped with the mark of a local manufacturer reading “National Iron Co Duluth” are visible along the right half
of the facade. On the left side is a recessed storefront entrance with aluminum and glass doors and windows. The
upper wall of the fagade features three recessed brick panels capped by a simple metal cornice. Due to the
extensive storefront alterations, the building is considered non-contributing. '

2. Historic Name: Leone’s Dry Cleaning
Current Name: Lake Superior Laundry
Address: 115 North 2™ Avenue West
Date: 1923 '

Architect: John J. Wangenstein
Contributing

Located or a mid-block site between West Superior and West 1% streets, this simple, one-story commercial
building faces east with the north wall adjacent to an alley. The altered storefront has a recessed entrance with an
aluminum and glass door on the left, and a pair of aluminum and glass windows divided by fluted wood pilasters
painted white and brown. Below the windows are brown brick bulkheads. The transom is covered with a new
wood sign painted white and blue. The upper part of the fagade features two recessed brick panels capped by a
metal cornice.

15T AVENUE WEST

3. Historic Name: Clark Shoe Company '
Current Name: St. Michael’s Used-A-Bit/Gopher Shoe Repair
Address: 16-18 North 1 Avenue West - '

‘Date: 1923
Architect: mnknown
Contributing

This is a long, rectangular, two-story brick building that faces west with the south elevation adjoining an alley.
The facade is faced with off-white terra cotta and the first floor contains two storefronts divided by a central stair
that leads to the second floor. The right storefront has a recessed entry with original glazing and frame, and black
Carrara glass buikheads. The left storefront also has a recessed entry with original glazing and frame, although the
door is an aluminum replacement, the bulkheads are wood, and there is a new wood sign above the glass. The
second floor has six window openings, all of which are altered with two-light glazing, conerete sills, and
semicircular arched lintels with concrete molding in a continuous band across three windows. Between the second
floor windows are two raised square panels in concrete, one above the other. The cornice is terra cotta with
modillions capped by a terra cotta coping. The south wall facing the alley has eight windows on the first floor and
ten windows on the second floor, most of which are covered with plywood.



NPS Forim 10-90G-a ! ' : _ _ OMB Approval No. 1024-0018
. (Rev. 8-86) ) :

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places

Continuation Sheet Name of property
Duluth Commercial Historic District
County and State

Section 7 FPage 3 St Louis County, Minnesota -

4, Historic Name: Gulleson Shoe Store
Current Name: Cooper’s Engraving
Address: 21 North 1" Avenue West
Date: ca.1910 ' :
Architect: unknown
Contributing

This two-story commercial building was built ca.1910 and has a rectangular plan and flat roof. The south wall,
which is covered with stucco, is exposed due to the demolition of the adjoining building. The first floor contains
an altered storefront with a recessed entry on the left side that features an aluminum and glass door. The
remainder of the storefront features four single pane fixed windows below which are multi-colored permastone
and vertical board siding. The same vertical board siding is also used above the windows. A striped canvas
awning covers the upper part of the storefront. The second floor fagade is faced with tan brick and pierced by
three windows: a central single pane fixed window flanked on both sides by one 1/1 wood double hung sash. Each
window has a sandstone sill. Above the windows is a recessed panel the same width as the windows. There is a
new metal cornice and metal coping.

5. Historic Name: unknown
Current Name: Body by Pilates
Address: 22-26 North 1% Avenue West
- Date: 1901
Architect: unknown
Non-contributing

Built in 1901, this is a two-story building with a rectangular footprint. The fagade is composed of two recessed,
open storefronts at the first floor divided by a central enclosure. The entire first floor has been completely altered
with stucco, new aluminum and glass windows, new wood doors, and standing seam metal covering the transom.
The symmetrical reddish-brown brick second floor is divided into three distinct bays. Each bay has tall, narrow
fixed windows that are partially infilled at the top with metal panels. Three recessed panels aligned above the
windows decorate the upper part of the fagade, above which is a metal cornice. The cornice features a semi-
elliptical arch centered in the fagade with the letter “D* in the middle. The front of the building is capped with a
cast concrete coping, while the sidewalls have clay tiles. Due to the extensive alterations to the facade, this
building is considered non-contributing.

6. Historic Name: Merritt and Hector Printers
Current Name: Women in Construction
Address: 108-114 North 1% Avenue West
Date: 1910
Architect: unknown
Contributing

This two-story commercial building has a long, narrow rectangular footprint. Set on a sloping site, the primary
facade incorporates a sublevel on the southern half, as does half of the west-facing fagade. The symmetrical
brown brick fagade is divided into three equal bays by pairs of narrow brick pilasters that are capped with
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concrete capitals at the cornice. Each bay has a separate storefront that has been altered with brick infill or vertical
wood siding. The middle storefront has a basement level with two rectangular fixed windows; due to the slope of
the street the right storefront contains three 1/1 wood double hung sash and a door on the right side. On each bay
between the first and second floors there are four small white concrete pieces; this pattern is repeated on the

- uppermost part of the fagade. The second floor fenestration is the same on all three bays: pairs of three-light
windows flank a slightly larger fixed pane with a five-light transom. A continuous concrete sill spans the
windows, while just above the windows is a concrete cornice. At the top of each pilaster is a decorative concrete
panel set in the brick. The wall is capped by a concrete coping. The north wall faces an alley and has three new
doors and eight window openings on the first floor and ten windows on the second floor, all of which are covered
with plywood. '

LAKE AVENUE

7. Historic Name: Tremont Hotel
Current Name: Gardner Hotel
Address: 12 North Lake Avenue
Date: 1890
Architect: Austin Terryberry
Contributing

Constructed in 1890, this Romanesque Revival style four-story brick building has a rectangular footprint with its
common brick sidewalls exposed as a result of the demolition of the adjacent properties in 1988. It began its life
as the Tremont Hotel, but had switcher proprietors and converted to the Gardner Hotel sometime prior to 1947.
The dark red brick fagade is divided into six vertical bays by flat pilaster with red sandstone details, and the whole
is capped by an elaborated stepped brick cornice composed of patterned brickwork and a series of brick corbels

. with red sandstone detailing and coping stones. The first floor storefront was renovated in 1988 with new plate
glass windows, and red brick and concrete block infill up to the level of the historic red sandstone string course
below the second floor. Only the three vertical brick and red sandstone support columnns at the first floor are
original construction at this floor. The second and third floors contain six window openings with flat, rough-faced
red sandstone lintels and heads and recessed brick spandrel panels below. The window are new 1/1 single hung
units that replaced the originals in 1988. The third floor has six openings with rough faced red sandstone lintels
with recessed brick spandre! panels below and halfround heads composed of a series of three concentric brick
arches and red sandstone trim. All windows on the exposed sidewalls are new 1/1 single hung replacement units
installed in 1988. '

8. Historic Name: Commercial Building ' _
Current Name: Bayly Building - Early Bird Antiques & Internet Auction Sales
Address: 17-15 North Lake Avenue
Date: 1905 :
Architect: unknown
Contributing

Built in 1905, this two-story building with a rectangular footprint functioned as a barbershop through the 1920s.
The fagade is composed of an open storefront at the first floor divided into three bays and framed by red brick
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pilasters with red sandstone details, The central entry retains its original cast iron columns, wood three-paneled
entry door and transom, the latter hidden under new signage. The flanking storefronts were modified at an
unknown date with new brick and wood paneled bulkheads, new signage, and new wood framed plate glass
window system and transoms, although these additions are sympathetic to the character of the building. The
northern storefront has maintained its original prism glass transoms bearing the “Luxfer” stamp, with two small
operable pivot windows for ventilation. : '

The second floor is of red brick with brick quoin details at the corners and a repeated corbel detail below a simple
painted pressed metal cornice, Six 1/1 wood double hung windows pierce the second floor fagade and have been
modified with the addition of early 20".centry four-light wood storm windows. The outer two windows have red
sandstone sills with large, flat faced red sandstone headers, while the two central window pairs are capped with a
brick arched bearing a brick keystone detail. A small oval window with wood frame is positioned in the center of -
the second floor, decorated with a brick keystone above and below, and terminating a vertical brick detail that
extends from the cornice. The brick parapet was replaced with a new red brick parapet at an unknown date with
new camel-back terra cotta coping tiles that are in keeping with the period of construction. The south fagade is
exposed common brick construction, which has been altered with the addition of a new main entry added at an
unknown date. All windows on the south fagade appear to be original 1/1 wood double hung units with red
sandstone sills, although some have been modified with the addition of wood storms and metal security grilles.

9. Historic Name: Nortun Lodge #126 Sons of Norway
Current Name: Robin Goodfellow
Address: 21-23 North Lake Avenue
Date: 1908
Architect: unknown
Contributing

This two-story commercial building was built in 1908, and shares similar material and stylistic features with its
neighbor at 17-19 North Lake Avenue. It has a rectangular plan and flat roof, and the two-story red brick fagade is
divided into three bays on both floors. The first floor contains two storefronts framed by red brick pilasters with
red sandstone details. Although partially covered with a plastic laminate at an unknown date, the central entry
between the storefronts retains its original cast iron columns, which are stamped with the mark of a local
manufacturer reading “Clyde Tron Works Duluth Minn.” The bulk of the first floor has been altered up to the level
of the rolled metal cornice. The storefront doors and windows have been wrapped with aluminum, the bulkheads
and cast iron columns covered with blue laminate, and the transom panels covered with new plywood signage.
However, these appear to be largely superficial alterations, and it is likely that the historic materials survive
underneath. Original hexagonal tile paving is present at all three entries into the building, and the interiors of both
storefronts have pressed tin ceilings intact, damaged slightly by the installation of new fluorescent lights. '

The three bays of the second floor are demarcated by brick quoins. The outer bays have a pair of wood 1/1 double
hung windows resting on a simple red sandstone sill, with a repeated brick corbel detail below the red sandstone
string course at the base of the parapet. The smaller central bay is accentuated by a single 1/1 wood double hung
window with a red sandstone sill and brick arch header with a red sandstone keystone detail. The parapet is
decorated with a series of recesses and a central recessed panel detail, and capped by rough cut red sandstone
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coping. Tt has been damaged by moisture infiltration and shows signs of inappropriate repointing, but remains
intact. ' '

15T AVENUE EAST

10. Historic Name: Duluth Steam Bath
Current Name: Duluth Family Sauna
Address: 18-20 North 1* Avenue
Date: 1921 '

Architect: A. Werner Lignell
Contributing

Constructed in 1921, this one-story commercial building has a long, natrow rectangular footprint. Setona
sloping site, the primary fagade incorporates a sublevel on the southern half, as does the entire south fagade. The
symmetrical light yellow brick fagade is divided into three distinct bays, the two outer bays set forward of a
recessed central bay containing two side entries. The outer bays are pierced by a single window opening of two
large fixed panes topped by a three-light transom, with simple flats heads and sills of the same cream brick as the
fagade. On the southern half, a single three-light wood frame window is situated below the first floor opening to
serve the lower level on that half of the building. The recessed central bay has a slightly more elaborate treatment
with three 1/1 wood double hung windows that are enlivened by semicircular fixed transoms filled with patterned
clear glazing. A wood paneled door with a single light is set into the interior side of each bay, providing flanking
entries from the central bay. A plain brick parapet is divided into three sections with a low arch and brick
patterning above the outer bays, and is now covered with metal panels added at an unknown date. Long sidewalls
of common brick contain multiple window openings of 1/1 double hung wood windows with brick sills and
heads, which are set above smaller fixed wood windows on the south fagade.

N0 AVENUE EAST

11. Historic Name: Orphewm Theatre
Current Name: Orpheum Theatre
Address: 8-12 North 2™ Avenue East
Date: 1910
Architect: J.E.O Pridmore, Chicago
Contributing :

This four-story Neoclassical brick structure has a 68-foot by 128-foot-deep rectangular plan. The sidewalls are of
common brick with simple double hung wood windows, while the primary fagade is constructed of reddish-
orange brick laid in a Flemish bond highlighted by darker brown sintered headers that are vitrified or “glazed.”
Decorative elements of off-white glazed terra cotta divide the facade into five bays at the second through fourth
floors with four, three-story, fluted Tonic pilasters supporting a shallow applied architrave and pediment.
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The first floor was altered in 1985 by the Duluth Transit Authority through infill of the existing openings and the
addition of a small, one-story enclosure in off-white glazed block covering the central three bays and original
main entrance. Prominent structural anchors visible on the central two pilasters between the second and third.
floors suggest that the central entrance was originally covered by a decorative canopy, now missing. Original off-
white terra cotta blocks are visible at the sides and top of the two outer bays, each of which contains a pair of
double doors with a simple terra cotta surround. - :

A terta cotta water table with a running Greek key pattern separates the storefront/entry level from the upper -
floors. Two small 4/4 double hung wood windows pierce the outer bay of the second floor, while the central three
bays are filled by three pairs of large 8-light wooden French doors with terra cotta surrounds. Three window
openings are visible at the second floor, consisting of three pairs of 1/1 double hung wood windows. Each pair is
surrounded by a flat terra cotta molding. The third floor is composed of two small 4/4 double hung wood
windows with terra cotta sills in the outer bays, and three pairs of 2/2 wood double hung windows in the three
center bays. The windows rest on a continuous terra cotta band decorated with a running wave motif, and they are
capped by headers composed of terra cotta blocks with a prominent keystone. The three southernmost window
openings have been replaced with metal louvers, presumably for a ventilation system. '

Tonic capitals terminate the pilaster at the fourth floor, and they are enlivened by a wide band of shallow relief
palmettes and egg-and-dart molding on the echinus. The capitals support a simple entablature composed of a flat,
stepped architrave and a paneled frieze enlivened only by a single inset modillion above each capital. The flat
brick pediment contains a single, centrally located circular terra cotta shield encompassing a molded bust and
large garland. The lower dentil cornice band of the pediment continues beyond the edges of the raking cornice to
wrap around the corners of the fagade, while the upper raking cornice is finished with three palmette akroteria at
the peak and both ends. The low brick parapet wall on either side of the pediment is capped by a flat terra cotta
coping. ' :

When it was constructed, the lobby was finished in a “white marble tile floor, countersunk rubber mats, an Italian -
marble base and imitation stone walls, and richly ornamented cornice and ceiling.”!

12. Historic Name: Parisian Dry Cleaners
Current Name: Rosemar Apartments
Address: 16-18 North 2" Avenue East
Date: 1924
Architeci: Carl Nystrom
Contributing

This is a simple three-story cream brick commercial building sited on a shallow, sloping rectangular lot with its
southern common brick sidewall exposed along a mid-block alley. The building steps down to only two stories at
the rear. Plain brick masonry forms a frame around a large, open storefront on the first floor. New aluminum
frame storefront windows were inserted ca.1960, along with vertical wood siding at the bulkheads and transoms,
but two original wood frame entry doors with single glazing survive at the setback entries. A flat, rectangular
limestone surround marks the secondary entrance at the northern end of the fagade, providing access to the upper
floors. The original wood frame glazed entry door and transom remains in this entry as well.
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A string course of limestone at the upper edge of the storefront does double duty as a continuous sill for the six
window bays of the second floor. Severn alternating wide and narrow flat, two-story, brick piers separate the
upper two stories into six bays, and are finished by an abstracted capital decorated with a large “T” shaped
limestone motif. The original brick spandrel panels and brick heads are visible, but alt windows of the upper
stories were replaced at an unknown date with aluminum frame fixed windows over a small operable tilt window. -
Alternating long and short brick corbels form a decorative band at the level of the pier capitals, which is capped
by a thin, projecting metal coping. ' '

The southern fagade is more utilitarian in nature, with painted common brick walls and a large overhead door
piercing the first floor of the two-story portion of the building. Nine aluminum frame fixed windows over an

operable tilt window are visible at the second floor level, eight of which are arranged in pars. Three window

openings are inserted into the third floor, one of which provides access to the fire escape affixed to the south

facade. '

13. Historic Name: Carter Hotel
Current Name: Carter Hotel
Address: 17-25 North 2™ Avenue East
Date: 1928
Architect: unknown
Contributing

This is a simple three-story rectangular reddish-brown brick structure on a shallow site with its longer side
oriented toward the street as a primary fagade. Sited on a sharply sloping site that rises steeply from south to
north, the first floor storefront level is full height at the southern end and on the south fagade, then transitions to 2
subterranean form below street level before disappearing entirely at the north end of the building. The lower level
consists of four square brick pillars that frame large storefront openings with original copper or bronze storefront
window systems. Portions of the storefront were modified in 1929 through the introduction of new storefront
windows and doors, new bulkheads, and new signage that covers the original transom panels. All of the
storefronts are shielded by a small pressed metal canopy. T he second and thirds stories are relatively plain brick
facades executed in a Flemish bond, with 1/1 wood double hung windows altered with the addition of aluminum
storms. At the second floor, seven original windows survive, while the group of three windows at the northern end
have been replaced by fixed umnits. All windows sit on a continuous brick sill of rowlock headers, and each
window is capped by a header of brick soldiers and framed by a row of brick headers. The original main entry is
located at the northern end of the main fagade and is marked by a wide frame of cast concrete decorated only with
a narrow band of setbacks. The original door has been replaced with a new aluminum door and transom. The third
floor is nearly identical to the second, with nine original wood double hung windows framed by decorative brick
moldings. A continuous band of rowlock headers and alternating groupings of soldiers and streichers sit below a
projecting pressed metal cornice that terminates the third floor. A plain brick parapet wall in Flemish bond rises
slightly above the height of the sidewalls, and it is covered with a cast concrete coping, now painted.

The two-story north fagade is composed of painted common brick with two 1/1 double hung windows on the
secand floor and a single double hung window on the third floor. The three-story south fagade faces onto an alley
and continues the storefront at the first floor level, with a garage door at the east end of the fagade.
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WEST SUPERIOR STREET

14. Historic Name: Hunter Block
Current Name: Hunter Building
Address: 31 West Superior Street S
Date: 1872 .
Architect: unknown
Non-contributing

- This three-story, highly altered red sandstone building sits ina large rectangular lot at the northeast corner of the
intersection of Superior Street and First Avenue West. While the original red sandstone masonry of the south and
west facades appears to be largely intact at the second and third floor levels, the first floor storefront was
completely renovated in 1987 with a new entry on the primary (south) fagade, new fixed windows with fan light
transoms on both facades, and a stucco skin topped by a green ceramic tile band. All of the windows have been
replaced with new aluminum frame fixed and single hung windows, many with false muntins. The original
cornice was lost in 1987 and replaced with a new simplified cornice consisting of a series of four stepped bands.

Due to the extent of these alterations, this building is considered non-contributing to the historic district.

15. Historic Name: Silvian’s Women’s Shop -
Current Name: USA Foxx and Furs
Address: 29 West Superior Street
Date: 1914
Architect: John J. Wangenstein
Non-contributing '

This is a small two-story Art Deco style structure that is clad in polished black granite with marble accents. The
first floor was altered in 1941 and again in 1944 by the addition of new aluminum frame fixed windows flanking
a ceniral metal overhead door installed over the central recessed aluminum framed entry door as a security
measure. The transoms are covered by green and white laminate in an attempt to match the marble details at the
second floor, and a large plywood sign with attached metal letters. The second floor is largely unadored,
consisting of large black granite blocks in a running bond pattern and three identical window openings. The
windows have been replaced with new aluminum frame fixed windows with pink tinted glazing and vertical metal
siding at the base. A continuous band of sixteen projecting black granite squares forms the heads of the windows,
and each window is surmounted by an inset octagon of green and white veined marble. Because the alterations to
the fagade occurred in 1941 and 1944, this date falls outside the period of significance, therefore the building is
considered non-contributing to the historic district. '

16. Historic Name: J. C. Schobes Bakery and Confectionery
Current Name: Global Village
Address: 25 West Superior Street
Date: 1894
Architect: John J. Wangenstein and William E. Baillie
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This is a small two-story orange Roman brick commercial structure sited on a narrow rectangular lot. The first
floor is devoted to an open storefront framed by narrow brick piers with plain limestone details, which support a
large steel beam. The original storefront was modified in the 1921, 1929, and 1984 to its current configuration and
makes use of both curved and angled plate glass set abave a polished pink granite base to create a large exterior
display. A decorative terrazzo floor survives in the entry area, and appears to date from the early renovation of the
~storefront. A large plywood sign covers the original transom and is lit by three new gooseneck lamps that are
. affixed to the masonry above the steel head beam. A continuous limestone sill marks the base of the second floor,
which is divided into three bays — two slightly inset outer bays containing a single window opening and flanked
by a central bay with two openings. New fixed aluminum windows with tinted glazing have replaced the
~ originals, but the flat, wide limestone heads and detailing are intact. A series of seven vertical red sandstone
corbels perch atop the limestone heads of the outer bays, while the two windows of the central bay are capped by
- half-round brick arches constructed from two rows of rowlock bricks accented by an overscale limestone '
keystone. Each arch is filled by a limestone panel carved into a shell motif hightighted with a pair of volutes and
acanthus fronds. An elaborate and delicate brick parapet caps the building, with a limestone balustrade supported
by a wide brick corbel over the outer bays, and a steeply pitched brick gable over the central bay. The gable is
filled with an almost fountain-like detail consisting of a small projecting limestone basin surmounted by two
vertical brick stacks and a series of four concentric and progressively recessed brick rowlock half-round arches.
The entire parapet is protected by a copper coping that has been damaged on the easternmost bay.
17. Historic Name: Kelly Furniture and Stack Company Dry Goods
Current Name: Enbridge Energy
Address: 17-23 West Superior Street
Date: 1913 and 1905
Architect: Unknown
Non-contributing

Sited on a roughty square lot composed of two plots (17-19 and 21-23 West Superior), this property is now
comprised of two separate but similar structures that are joined internally. The eastern half is a six-story buff brick
building constructed in 1913, and the western half is a virtually identical five-story building constructed in 1905
that has a more recent metal-panel penthouse addition at the roof level. The buildings were joined visually on the
exterior by a renovation in 1993 with the application of a new brown brick skin to the lower two stories of both
buildings and the removal of a wide cornice. These alterations virtually eliminated all of the original materials and
reworked the original configuration of the openings on the first floor. At the street level the south fagade is
divided into five bays by six large, square brick-faced piers. New aluminum framed doors and fixed windows
have been inserted into the bays and a wide stucco-like panet covers the transom area, with two back-lit plastic
signs affixed to the face of the transom panels. Seven flat brick pilasters create six identical window bays on the
second floor, each filled by aluminum frame fixed windows with tinted glazing. Rectangular brick panels ina
common bond pattern both above and below the windows function as spandrel panels. The western building has
been further modified by a skywalk inserted at the far west end of the second floor level.

A continuous limestone band above the spandrel divides the new fagade from the original, and also provides a sill
for the windows of the third floor. From the third floor through the parapet the buildings are largely intact. Each
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building is three bays wide with identical window openings. Full height buff brick piers divide the fagade into
bays, and each pier is finished at the window head of the top floor by an abstracted shield motif carved in
limestone. All windows have been replaced throughout the building with new fixed aluminum frame units. On the
primary fagade these windows rest on a plain limestone sill and are separated by a rectangular brick spandrel
panel set in a frame of solider and stretcher bricks. A low brick parapet is decorated with simple cruciform
limestone accents above each pier, and finished with a new metal coping. As mentioned above, the western
building has another story added to it in the form of a penthouse level that is setback from the fagade. The
addition is constructed of metal panels with a strip of fixed aluminum frame windows.

Due to the demolition of the building at 15 West Superior, the entire east_fagade is.exposed. The original windows
and face materials have been replaced with new aluminum frame fixed windows and a stucco-like covering over
the entire common brick fagade. ;

18. Historic Name: NA
- Current Name: Demolished 1995 — empty lot
Address: 15 West Superior Street
Non-contributing site

The Haug Brothers Block was a two-stofy brick commercial building designed by George Wirth and built in
1890. It was demolished in 1995, therefore the site is considered non-contributing. '

19. Historic Name: Wirth Building
Current Name: Wirth Building/Antiques on Superior Street
Address: 13 West Superior Street
Date: 1886 ‘
Architect: George Wirth
Contributing

Constructed by George Wirth in 1886 for his brother Max's pharmacy, Wirth Drugs, the three-story red sandstone
and limestone Wirth Building was one of a series of elaborate brick and red sandstone Victorian commercial
facades that lined the 100 West block of Superior Street. Now only the Bell and Eyster Building (also by George
Wirth) and the well-preserved Wirth Building remain of that early commercial streetwall. The building was
individually listed in the National Register in 1991 and restored by the current owners in 1993.

Sited on a narrow rectangular lot with its primary facade facing south onto Superior Street, the Romanesque _
detailing of the second and third floors is balanced by the large, open storefront at the first floor. Two large, flat
cast iron columns (maker’s mark obscured by nultiple generations of overpainting) support an unadorned steel
beam, forming the framework for the storefront opening. The original glazing system and doors have been
replaced with new materials, but the large plate windows with three-light transoms, low wooden paneled
bulkheads, and glazed wood frame entry doors with multi-light transoms are very sympathetic to the period of

construction.

The heavy iron framework of the first floor supports the large blocks of rusticated ashlar masonry that cover the
second and third floor. Red sandstone blocks are laid in a running bond, with rusticated limestone accents at
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window heads and sills, and string courses. A large half-round window opening pierces the eastern half of the
second floor, surrounded by a limestone arch that springs from two limestone blocks decorated with an abstracted
floral or shield design. The original window unit is set back behind the masonry, and consists of three windows,
one fixed window flanked by two 1/1 double hung windows. The windows are supported by a low wood paneled
buikhead, and are topped by large half-round expanse of prism glass. An oriel or bay window balances out the
western half of the fagade, with two narrower 1/1 double hung wood windows flanking a large fixed unit. The
original pressed metal (bronze?) panning and cornice are intact, and the cornice displays a series of beaded bands
in graduated sizes. A curved cast iron railing surrounds the upper roof of the bay, which is accessible from the
third story windows. ' :

Two engaged red sandstone columns frame the four pointed arch 1/1 double hung wood frame windows of the
third floor. The windows rest on a continuous limestone sill and a band of limestone demarcated the spring point
of the arches. Small leaded glass transoms fill the point of the arched openings, which are surrounded by ared
sandstone head outlined with limestone banding. A tall gabled red sandstone parapet is punctuated by a circular
limestone frame that enclosed a carved red sandstone shield bearing the dedication date of 1 886.” The parapet is
capped by a simple rusticated limestone coping.

20. Historic Name: Silberstein and Bondy Dry Goods Company
' Current Name: ZLB Plasma Services
Address: 9-11 West Superior Street
Date: 1884, 1902, 1925
Architect: George Wirth
Contributing

This was constructed as the Silberstein and Bondy Dry Goods Company in 1884 by Bernard and Neitie
Silberstein, two Hungarian immigrants who settled in Duluth in 1870 and helped to establish the first Jewish
Synagogue in Duluth, Temple Emmanuel. Their building continued as the Dry Goods store until 1933, then
functioned as a department store until 1983 when it was converted to the plasma center.”

Sited on a large rectangular plot with an elaborate red sandstone facade on the south and common brick sidewalls,
this three-story terra cotta building originally was one of a series of elaborate brick and red sandstone Victorian
commercial facades that lined the 100 West block of Superior Street. Now only the Bell and Eyster Building and
the Wirth Building (also by George Wirth) remain of that early commercial streetwall. The original two-story
brick and red sandstone Silberstein building was altered in 1902 with the addition of a third story. The facade was
heavily altered with a fagade renovation by architects Giliuson, Ellingsen and Erickson in 1925 which
reconfigured the openings, and enclosed the storefront with stucco and terra cotta surrounding new aluminum
frame fixed windows and doors. The entire massive carved red sandstone parapet was removed, all of the original
1/1 double hung wood frame windows removed and replaced with new aluminum frame fixed windows with
tinted glazing and solid transom panels. But the most significant and dramatic alteration was the application of
cream terra cotta to the entire south fagade. :

At the first floor, only the outer two piers are covered with terra cotta tile and large Corinthian capitals. These
support a fricze course bearing dentil bands on the upper and lower edges, and a series of garland swags draped
between shields and bucchrania. Following the structure of the building underncath, the second and third floors
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are divided into three bays by four two-story square pilasters that are covered by terra cotta tile in a running bond
pattern. The two outer bays are much smaller than the central bay, which is further subdivided into three bays by
two full-width fluted Corinthian pilasters, and two half-width pilasters at the bay edges. Although the ceniral
window bay on both floors retains what appears to be an original square cast iron pilaster, all other traces of the
original windows have been replaced by new fixed aluminum frame windows with tinted glazing, solid transom -
panels, and stucco infill. Repeating the motifs of the frieze below, the spandrel panels below the third floor
windows are decorated with shields and garland swags. The capitals at the top of the third floor support a plain
terra coita cornice that contains only a dentil course and four molded foliate wreaths. Having removed the large
original parapet, what remains is a fairly simple low parapet wall clad in terra cotta tile. The central portion _
projects slightly, and is wrapped by a wide band of tiles at its upper edge with alternating molded rosettes and

~ garlands. The whole is capped by cream terra cotta coping tile. :

21. Mistoric Name: Norris-MacDougal Block
Current Name: Ragstock/Full Moon Imports
Address: 5-7 West Superior Street
Date: 1886 :
Architect: Charles McMillen and E.S. Stebbins
Non-contributing

Sited on a rectangular lot with its primary fagade fronting Superior Street, this modest two-story variegated

reddish-brown brick commercial building replaced a much grander 1886 Renaissance Revival structure designed -

by the local architecture firm of McMillen and Stebbins. The current building fagade was remodeled in 1927,
1940 and 1957. Little of the original fagade survives in the current configuration, with the storefront altered
through the insertion of new aluminum frame and hollow metal doors, aluminum frame fixed windows, and brick
faced bulkheads. The transom area and the brick frame surrounding the storefront opening have been obscured
behind heavy layers of paint and black Cararra glass (now damaged), which in turn have been covered by
subsequent layers of vertical and plain plywood siding under printed and backlit plastic signage.

The second floor is dominated by three large window openings, formed by an extremely attenuated framework of
brick header and soldier courses accented with buff bands of glazed brick. Metal panels now fill the bulk of these
openings, with new undersized aluminum frame casement windows inserted into the center of the infill panels. A
continuous thin band of limestone functions as the window sill, while a continuous soldier course of face brick
provides the window head. Two mote soldier courses and horizontal bands of glazed brick separate the wihdow
heads from the parapet, which is divided into nine panets by brick frames of soldier and stretcher bricks cut to
create the appearance of “mitered” comers. The panels are filled with a simple square of face brick laid in
common bond, and a limestone coping stone completes the fagade.

Due to the extent of alterations, this building is considered non-contributing to the historic district.
22. Historic Name: Bell and Eyster Bank

Current Name: Cool Duluth
Address: 3 West Superior Street
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Date: 1884
Architect: George Wirth

Contributing

Sited on a narrow rectangular plot with an elaborate red sandstone fagade on the south and common brick
sidewalls, this three story commeroial red sandstone building originally was one of a series of elaborate brick and
red sandstone Victorian facades {hat lined the 100 West block of Superior Street. Now only the Bell and Eyster

~ Building and the Wirth Building (also by George Wirth) remain of that early commercial streetwall, The first
floor storefront was heavily altered by a series of renovations in 1937, 1943 and 1 945, resulting in the loss of the
original cast iron storefront system. New aluminum frame storefront windows and doors have been inserted, along
with a new brick bulkhead. Metal panels and vertical wood sheathing cover the original transoms, and heavy
layers of paint obscure the original masonry frame surrounding the storefront opening, which appears t0 include a
' framework of motded decorative tiles. It is not clear whether these tiles are original, or a later addition. A narrow
metal string course of bronze ot iron separates the storefront from the sec ond floor. -

Four red sandstone pilasters constructed from seven massive rusticated red sandstone ashlar blocks frame the
three window bays of the second floor. The window openings are VeTy jarge and retain the original 1/1 double
hung wood frame windows, with the central window slightly wider than the outer tWo units. The windows rest on
2 continuous red sandstone sill, and share @ large, flat red sandstone head that hasa decorative curved molding
carved directly above ecach window. A simple projecting red sandstone string course separates the second from the
third floor, which is much lighter and more elaborate in its fenestration and decoration. Two projecting square
pillars capped by fluted columns define the edges of the third floor window bay, which is divided into five tall,
narrow bays by rusticated ashiar block pillars similar to those on the second floor, The original double hung 1/1
wood frame windows survive intact, with transoms filled by variegated leaded glazing. Fach window is topped by
a heavily deteriorated half-round panel that appears to be constructed from a type of cast plaster. These fill the
half-round stone arches that form the window heads. Although now obscured by metal siding, the original parapet
was a tall, elaborate construction of two large modified Corinthian capitals flanking a series of thirteen vertical
coves topped by an inset half-round or shell motif. A red sandstone coping finished the parapet wall.

23, Historic Name: Poirier’s Boots & Shoes
Current Name: Head Harbor/Fragments of History
Address: 1 West Superior Street
- Date: 1884 :
Architect: Frederick German and John deWaard
Non-contributing

This is a three-story red brick commercial building located on a sloping rectangular site at the northwest cornet of
Superior Street and Lake Avenue. The primary facade faces south onto Superior Qtreet, with the first floor
devoted to a retail storefront, and the upper {wo floors originally functioning as housing. The original storefront
system was altered at an unknown date when the central-entry configuration was modified to create two separate
storefronts each with their own entry. A recent renovation in 2003 has resulted in the insertion of new aluminum
storefront window systems, transoms, and entry doors, new tile bulkheads, and a new wood cornice at the fivs:

floor supported by decorative brackets. On the interior, only the eastern half retamns its original pressed tin ceilir
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The second floor is separated into three bays, with a larger central window flanked by two narrower windows.
Originally the window units were wood frame 1/1 double hung with multi-light transom, brick arch heads and
‘'simple limestone sills. All windows have been replaced throughout the building during a recent renovation in
2003, and the large central window at the second floor was replaced by a new bay window with a metal panel
roof. The third floor was pierced by four 1/1 wood frame double hung windows with brick arch heads in the
original configuration, but alterations in 2003 removed the central two windows and replaced them with a single,
large fixed aluminum frame unit, As it was designed, a series of twenty-one brick corbels composed of four
progressively stepped brick stretchers capped the third floor below a simple parapet. The original brick parapet
was enlivened only by four rectangular brick panels inset above the (original) third floor windows. This
arrangement was modified to its current configuration in 2003, which removed the corbelling and added a
" limestone string course. This is capped by a simple brick parapet with three inset panels and a metal coping. All
of brick of the south fagade appears to have been repainted as part of the most recent renovation, most likely to -
mask the alterations to the brick masonry. |

The common brick east fagade also was altered as part of the recent renovation, The most significant change is the
2005 addition of a concrete block elevator and stair tower at the rear of the building on the northeast corner. The
entries at the first floor level have been replaced with new doors, sidelights and transoms, and the northernmost
window openings infilled with glass block. At the second and third floors, atl 17 window openings have new

- aluminum frame 1/1 single hung windows. The northern two-thirds of the building retains the original corbelled
brick detailing at the cornice, while the southern third has been altered to mimic the detailing of the south fagade.

EAST SUPERIOR STREET

24. Historic Name: Bijou Theater
Current Name: Electric Fetus
Address: 12-14 East Superior Street
Date: 1903
Architect: William A. Hunt
Contributing

This is a two-story orange brick commercial building originally designed as theater with a long, narrow footprint
sited on the southeast corner lot at the intersection of Lake Avenue and Superior Street. It functioned as the Bijou
until 1911, when it was converted to the Empress Theater. It continued under this name until 1915, when the
building suffered a fire. The structure was converted to retail use as Famous Clothing in the 1960s, which resulted
in the reworking of many elements on all four facades. The building was again remodeled in 2004 while occupied
by the Electric Fetus.

The primary fagade faces north onto Superior Street, with a large storefront at the first floor. Two flat orange
brick piers remain as a frame for the storefront opening, which consists of new aluminum framed fixed windows
above a new glazed concrete block bulkhead. Two new aluminum frame doors with sidelights have been added as
well. The original transom area is now covered by a large continuous panel with a faint grid pattern, to which a
large neon sign has been affixed, reading “Electric Fetus.” A plain band of brick is visible above the transom,
terminating in a narrow projecting string course of red sandstone carved with a running wave pattern.
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The second floor is divided into three bays, two smaller outer bays flanking a larger recessed central bay. Large,
" tightly-spaced brick quoins define the edges of the outer bays, each of which contains a single opening for a 2-
light sliding aluminum frame window with a small fixed transom above, The windows have a simple flat red
sandstone sill, but the large head is a flat arch of four red sandstone voussoirs surrounding an oversized keystone.
The central bay is subdivided into three by two Doric brick pilasters with plain red sandstone bases and capitals.
Each bay holds a pair of 1/1 single hung alumitum frame windows topped by a large fixed transom. The sills and
heads are identical in form and material to those on the outer bays. A continuous string course rests on the capitals
of the central bay below a band of brick and a new projecting metal cornice containing molding courses of both
small and large dentils. A low brick parapet wall appears to be slightly damaged from water infiltration and is
capped by a new metal coping. '

The construction of a new multi-lane freeway and offramps immediately to the south of the building in 1983
greatly increased the exposure and visibility of the rear fagade, which was altered in 1998 through the addition of
new window opening and window units, as well as new facing materials. Both the east and west facades are
exposed, the east most recently revealed in 1987 through the demolition of the adjacent Strand Theater building.
The west fagade of common brick was exposed in 1979 when the Bradley Building was demolished; the was then
covered with stucco and a wide metal coping. ‘ '

25. Historic Name: NA
Current Name: Technology Village
Address: 13 East Superior Street
Date: 2000
Architeci: LHB Architects
Non-contributing

This is a large new full-block development constructed in 2000 that does not fall within the pertod of significance
for the historic district.

26. Historic Name: J. J. Costello Hardware & Stoves .
Current Name: Abalan’s Quality Interiors/The Master’s Piano Shop
Address: 22-24 East Superior Street
Date: 1884/1891 ' :
Architect: Oliver G. Traphagen and Francis Fitzpatrick (22) and George Wirth (24)
Contributing :

The building consists of two identical, red-orange brick two-story commercial structures joined by a common
brick structural wall, Although both buildings are visually similar at the second floor level, both have been
subjected to alterations at the first floor that have either removed or covered the original materials and obscured
the original configuration of door and window openings. A new brick fagade has been added to the storefront
fagade of the building at 22 East Superior to create a small covered exterior vestibule area. Three new brick piers
provide an open framework which holds two large tinted glass transoms with screened letters reading “Quality
Interiors.” A brick inset panel framed by headers sits above the transoms, and a backiit plastic sign spelling
«Abalan’s” is attached to the face. The transition from the upper edge of the new fagade to the original fagade is
achieved by the application of sloped metal panels. The original storefront behind the new facade is now
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completely filled by large new aluminum frame storefront windows and a pair of aluminum doors with a fixed

~ transom. The building at 24 Superior has received a slightly less invasive treatment with the application of cream
enameled metal panels in front of the original brickwork and bulkheads. Ribbed peach metal panels were applied
over the transom area along with a small backlit plastic sign, and new aluminum frame doors and windows were
installed. The spandrel panels below second floor windows are still partially visible on both facades, as are the
tops of the outer and central brick piers with their rectangular limestone detail blocks tooled to resemble the
honeycomb-like structure of coral.

The upper floor of the 24 Superior building appears to be largely original in its condition, while the 22 Superior
" building has been subjected to harsh masonty cleaning and inappropriate repointing that has widened the mortar
joints and utilized a new grout that is lighter in color than the original. The second floor is divided into four bays
by narrow, flat brick piers that create the frame for tall, thin window openings. The spandrels above and below
each window opening hold a small rectangular recess with decorative angled brickwork that creates a three-
dimensional checkerboard pattern. While the narrow continuous limestone sills and large limestone block heads
remain, all of the windows have been boarded over or replaced with new 1/1 single hung vinyl units. The second
floor is finished by a full width flat brick arch that runs between the outer and center brick piers and is highlighted
by limestone detail blocks with a coral-like finish. The arch and blocks form the support for large decorative iron
brackets and a large pressed metal cornice with a wide, flat fascia below a dentil molding and a row of small
brackets. The cornice at 24 Superior appears to be original, while that at 22 Superior has been modified through
the replacement of the dentil molding. Text in relief reading “18 J.J. Costello 84" and “Hardware & Stoves” is
visible runming across the fascia of both buildings, identifying the original function of both structures.

Because the 1891 addition was intended to double the size of the original structure and present a unified
commercial appearance, this building is considered as one historic building. '

27. Historic Name: Wieland Block
Current Name: Schwerdt Building
Address: 26 East Superior Street
Date: 1889
Architect: Oliver G. Traphagen
Contributing

This four-story red pressed brick building functioned as the home for the local Duluth News Tribune newspaper
from 1910-1930. Tn 1926 the new 5¢ theater, the Savoy, opened by R.H. Hatfield of Chicago, for “moving
pictures and illustrated songs.” Tt has a rectangular footprint and common brick sidewalls that are exposed above
the third floor. The primary fagade fronts onto Superior and is divided into three bays, the center bay being
recessed and expressing a slight convex curve. At the first floor level the building has been altered through the
application of black and white Cararra glass panels, most of which have been removed from the upper half of the
floor exposing the four original rusticated red sandstone block piers and large red sandstone heads decorated with
Eastiake abstracted rosettes and floral banding. The head in the central bay has a slight convex curve, while heads
of the outer two bays are straight. The lower half of the first floor appears to retain the original configuration of
large storefront windows in the outer bays on either side of a recessed entry in the center bay. Cararra glass is still
in place on the lower part of the piers, and the windows and doors haveé been replaced with new aluminum frame
units with black Cararra bulkheads.
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Four flat brick piers with rounded corners and foliated unglazed terra cotta capitals and rusticated red sandstone
bases define the three bays of the second floor. The outer bays hold two massive fixed wood frame windows
topped by arched transoms. The heads are formed from brick arches that converge at the top of a central brick pier
capped with an unglazed terra cotta triangular panel sculpted with abstracted floral motifs. The central bay is
 subdivided by five narrow brick piers with rusticated red sandstone blocks serving as both bases and capitals.
Each of the four narrow bays holds a tall 1/1 wood double hung window with a massive rough-faced red
sandstone head block carved with a narrow egg-and-dart molding that merges to create a continuous decorative

© course across the center bay. Each of the three bays is separated from the upper floor by a narrow band of
unglazed molded terra cotta that forms the base for the plain red sandstone sill blocks of the windows at the third
floor. The scale, placement, and number of the fenestration is maintained from the second floor, but the forms are
slightly altered. Two fixed wood frame windows with a three-light rectangular transom fill the outer bays, topped
by massive rusticated red sandstone heads set below a terra cotta egg-and-dart brick molding. Many of the details
of the center bay are identical to those of the second floor, with the addition of a convex red sandstone fascia
above the window heads that is carved with a symmetrical banner detail.

As the visual “cap” of the building, the fourth floor assumes a more delicate scale for its fenestration and a lighter
touch in the detailing. Four squat brick piers with rounded comners and unglazed terra cotta Corinthian capitals
determine the edges of the three larger bays, with narrow versions of these same piers and capitals creating the
internal divisions within each bay. Echoing the lower floors, the central bay is again divided to accommodate four
narrow 1/1 double hung windows, with the difference that the windows are slightly recessed from the plane of the
main fagade and they exhibit a half-round arch in the upper sash. The capitals of the intermediary piers function as
the spring point for the brick arch heads over each window opening. An arched terra cotta molding with an egg-
and-dart motif provides the transition from the brick arch heads back to the plane of the primary fagade. The outer
bays mimic the central bay, but contain only three window openings each, A pressed metal cormice completes the
facade at the fourth floor, with a palmette motif cast in relief across the broad fascia. A low brick parapet also
reflects the character of the bays below, separated by low square brick columns topped by square terra cotta caps

~ with an egg-and-dart molding. A series of recessed and corbelled rectangles punctuate the fagade of the parapet,
which is covered by a rough red sandstone coping. :

28. Historic Name: Hayes Block
Current Name: Lizzard’s Gallery and Framing/Bullseye
Address: 30-38 East Superior Sireet
- Date: 1906-1907°
Architect: William A. Hunt
Contributing

This is a two-story variegated brown brick commercial block with a roughly square plan sited on a sloping lot at
the intersection of Superior Street and First Avenue East, resulting in a third story on the rear or south fagade. The
primary fagade on Superior Strect was heavily altered in 1923, and this remains largely intact at the upper story.
The facade originally was divided into four bays creating four storefronts, and portions of a cast iron storefront
are still visible in places. Additiona! alterations at the storefront level were made at an unknown date, resulting in
the installation of new aluminum frame storefront windows and doors, combined with new vertical wood siding
and metal panels covering the transoms and ceramic tile bulkheads have largely obscured the original
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configuration of the first floor and its materials, however. The second floor also is divided into four large bays by
broad, flat brick piers. A single, wide recessed brick panel in each bay form a frame for three window openings
containing a 1/1 double hung wood frame window. The windows sit on a continuous red sandstone sill that
extends the width of the north facade and extends onto the east fagade. The upper edge of each recessed panel is
decorated with a series of fifteen vertical brick corbels that soften the transition back to the plane of the fagade.
Two continuous horizontal stepped string courses lead to a broad brick fascia below a projecting metal cornice
supported by a row of small brackets, ' :

The detailing of the north fagade wraps the corner onto the secondary east fagade and forms one storefront bay at
the north end of that facade. The only deviation from the north fagade is a reduction in the size of the second {loor
bay to two 2/2 double hung wood frame window. The remainder of the fagade is divided into six bays with a
basement level sloping down to a full story at the rear. Three of the window openings at the north end of the
basement have been infilled with glass block, but the south end retains original 2/1 double hung wood frame

- windows. The first and second floors are divided into six bays which are filled with window pairs. The four

northern pairs on the first floor are small 1/1 double hung wood frame windows, while the southem two pairs are
much larger 2/2 double hung wood frame windows with a two-light transom. All six pairs of windows on the
second floor are 2/2 double hung wood frame windows. Every window pair on the east fagade has a simple red
sandstone sill. A series of vertical brick corbels supports a plain band of brick that functions as the parapet with a
simple red sandstone coping.

29. Historic Name: Grant Hotel : '
Current Name: Western Union/Duluth Coin & Stamp/Coney Island
Address: 101-105 East Superior Street '

Date: 1907 -
Architect: unknown
Condributing

This is a two-story reddish-orange brick building with a square plan and two prominent facades due to its location
at the intersection of Superior Street and First Avenue East. The primary fagade fronts onto Superior Street and is
divided into three bays, but continues onto the secondary western fagade by wrapping the corner, which was set
on a diagonal to accommodate a main entry. A series of six original slender cast iron columns stamped with the
makers mark “Crown Iron Works, Minneapolis” support a steel beam and pressed metal cornice in the first floor -
storefront. Tightly spaced large brick quoins frame the storefront opening at both ends and are positioned to
“support” the steel beam and cornice as they project beyond the edge of the window frames. Although the-
majority of the storefront was altered at an unknown date through the introduction of new aluminum window
units, plywood paneling and signage, and black plastic laminate bulkheads, the storefront at the east end
(currently occupied by Coney Island) has original multi-light transoms intact and exposed. The second floor is
articulated into three bays by large brick quoins framing both sides of the two narrow outer bays. Each outer bay
holds one double-hung 1/1 wood frame window perched above a rusticated red sandstone sill. An elaborate head
is formed from a large block of flat-faced red sandstone that is surrounded on three sides by a stepped brickmold.
A wide band of brick leading to a series of four horizontal brick corbels and a continuous narrow string course of
rusticated red sandstone separates the second floor from the low brick parapet with its new metal coping. The
same detailing of the outer bays applies to the single bay that is located on the diagonal face at the corner. Five
identical 1/1 windows are event spaced along the width of the center bay, with a single narrow brick keystone in
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place of the large red sandstone head. A series of twenty-eight vertical brick corbels sit above a wide band of
- brick and support the red sandstone string course.

On the western fagade, the first floor is composed primarily of a flat expanse of brick wall and red sandstone
foundation stones that step up in response to the steep south/north slope of the site. The fagade is enlivened by
four columns of brick quoins that divide the fagade into three bays. The northernmost bay contains a door opening
with an oversized red sandstone head and two large window openings with heads formed from three brick
voussoirs. The openings were filled with plywood panels at an unknown date. A matching window is located in
the middle of the center bay, but it too is covered with plywood. The second floor mirrors the arrangement of the
south facade with the exception of the outer two bays, which contain a pair of double-hung windows instead of
the single opening. -

30. Historic Name: Duluth Marine Supply
Current Name: Old Town Antiques and Books/Hip Stuff/Chinese Dragon
Address: 102-108 East Superior Street
Date: 1905
Architect: unknown
Contributing

This is a two-story painted brick commercial building sited on the southeast corner of the intersection of Superior
Street and First Avenue East. The building has a rectangular footprint with its primary fagade on Superior and a
secondary fagade facing First Avenue. Four cast iron colunms from the original storefront system are visible at
the first floor level, but much of the north storefront has been altered from its original appearance through the
insertion of new aluminum frame storefront windows and doors, new bulkheads, and new canopies and plywood
panels with signage that cover the transoms. A continuous series of pressed metal panels was attached to the brick
above the transom level, providing a visual separation between the first and second floors.

The second floor of the main facade is divided into three bays, two smaller outer bays articulated by brick quoins
and a much larger center bay that is characterized by six slightly recessed individual bays. The two outer bays
have two window openings each of which holds a new fixed aluminum frame window with a cut stone sill and a
large flat brick arch with a thin stone keystone. A small rectangular brick recess is positioned immediately above
each window, with a cut stone sill and a series of four horizontal corbels at the head. Two small elliptical recesses
flank the rectangular pancls, with frames formed from brick headers and a narrow stone keystone mirrored at the
top and bottom of the frame. Each recess in the central bay contains a new fixed aluminum frame window sitting
on a cut stone sill that extends the full width of the recess. The head is made up of a flat brick arch with a narrow
stone keystone that extends through the center of a projecting segmental arch resting on the flat arch. A row of six
vertical brick corbels finish the top of the recess, which steps out to a flat brick panel that is capped by a serrated
profile below a projecting metal cornice. There is no clearly defined parapet (the result of a five in 1929 that
destroyed the parapet), and the wall is simply terminated with a thin metal coping.

The west fagade slopes down to incorporate a third story at the rear or south end of the building, but this is largely
hidden by a large pedestrian ramp placed immediately adjacent to the building. The fagade is roughly divided into
three bays, with the northernmost bay representing a continuation of the north fagade onto the west. The
northernmost bay is a compilation of features found on the front fagade, with aluminum storefront windows and
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canopies at the first floor, and brick quoins defining the edges of the second floor bay. A single new fixed
aluminum frame window has a cut stone sill and a large flat brick arch with a narrow stone keystone. A row of
brick corbels sits below the same serrated profile and metal cornice seen on the front fagade. The same treatment
is repeated at the southernmost bay at the second story level. The first floor is largely unarticulated, with five
fixed aluminum frame windows piercing the wall in the five southern bays. The central portion of the second floor
contains nine window openings with cut stone sills and brick flat arches with stone keystones. The openings are

- filled by a mix of materials, including new aluminum frame fixed windows, plywood sheeting and smaller fixed
window units surrounded by plywood infill. Three horizontal brick corbels lead up to a long parged strip at the
top of the brick wall, most likety resulting from the removal of the pressed metal cornice in 1971.

31. Historic Name: NA _
Current Name: Parking Ramp, Fond-du-Luth Casino
Address: 107-109 East Superior Street '
Date: 1987 ‘
Architect: unknown
Non -contributing

This is a four-story red brick parking structure serving the adjacent Fond-du-Luth Casino. It does not fall within
the period of significance for the historic district. The construction of the building resulted in the demolition of the
Oppell Block, constructed in 1889 for Oppell Dry Goods and designed by noted Duluth architect, Oliver G.
Traphagen. ' :

32. Historic Name: Sears Parking Lot
Current Name: Muffler Clinic
Address: 110-116 East Superior Street
Date: 1923
Architect: unknown
Non-contributing

This is a one-story service building with an L-shaped plan containing office space and seven garage bays. Due to
alterations, it is considered a non-contributing building in the historic district. '

33. Historic Name: Peterson Buffet
Current Name: Lake Place Building
Address: 118 East Superior Street
Date: 1911
Architect: unknown
Contributing

This two-story limestone Neo-Classical Revival building with a rectangular footprint originally was constructed
as a restaurant and converted to a beer garden in 1941, The sidewall exposed on the west fagade has been parged
with a stucco-like material at an unknown date. The first floor was radically altered from its original appearance
in 1949 through the addition of new wood frame fixed windows and a leaded fan light, a new single light wood

door, new stucco panels, cast details and facing over the original limestone, and new polished granite bulkheads.
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A large signboard is attached at the top of the first floor reading “Lake Place Building.” The second floor remains
intact, and is delineated by a projecting limestone string course that forms the sill for the four window bays on
that floor. Each bay holds a 1/1 wood frame double hung window which is framed on either side by a vertical
limestone pane! with a lesbian leaf motif at the perimeter. A similar horizontal panel makes up the continuous
head for the four windows, flanked at either end by a square inset detail composed of green glazed 1x1 ceramic
tiles in a carved lesbian leaf border. A projecting limestone cornice is supported by five large limestone brackets
interspersed with four raised stone panels. A low stone parapet with a limestone coping sits above the cornice and
is framed at each end by tall, oval shield decorations with a laurel garland wrapping the upper half and pendant
floral decorations suspended below. The parapet coping steps up and curves into a half-ellipse to accommodate
the shield elements, '

34, Historic Name: Delray Hotel
Current Name: Last Place on Earth
Address: 120 East Superior Street
Date: 1908
Architect: unknown
Contributing

This three-story reddish-brown pressed brick building has a long, narrow rectangular plan with its primary fagade
on Superior Street. Some components of the original cast iron storefront remain, such as the large square columns
at either end and the steel header beam. All other elements of the current storefront appear to be more recent
additions from an undetermined remodeling, including the fixed aluminum frame windows, two aluminum frame
doors at the west end, and the vinyl canopy that covers the original transom area. A thin band of rusticated red
sandstone forms a string course immediately above the steel header, marking the base of the second floor, Four
square brick piers with rough cut red sandstone bases and caps divide the second and third floors into four bays.
Each bay bas a rectangular window opening for a 1/1 double hung wood frame window, although only two of
these units are visible at each floor. The remaining openings are filled with plywood panels covered with various
painted scenes. Although heavily damaged by water infiltration, portions of the continuous red sandstone sill are
still intact at both floors, as is the band of rusticated red sandstone that makes up the window heads. Spandrel
panels between the second and third floors are composed of four slightly recessed brick panels that step out to the
plane of the window sill in a series of four horizontal brick corbels. Above the red sandstone heads at the third
floor are a series of four decorative corbelled brick half-round arches, the outer two of which surround a highly
textured panel of pressed brick in a diamond relief pattern, while the inner two panels incorporate face brick in a
running bond. A final string course of rusticated red sandstone marks the lower edge of the parapet, which'is
composed of brick laid to resemble a projecting cornice. Two more substantial end “brackets” formed from a
series of multiple horizontal corbels support a projecting brick “molding” at each end, while a row of fourteen
smaller brick corbelled “brackets” appear to carry the load in the center. The whole is protected by a wide metal
coping.

35. Historic Name: Service Motor Company, Drivers’ Union Hall
Current Name: ShelDon Reproduction Center
Address: 124 East Superior Street
Date: 1909
Architect: Frederick German and A, Werner Lignell
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Contributing

This is a low, wide two-story commercial building covered in off-white terra cotta with Iight green and figural
accents. The first floor is consumed by an open storefront arranged in seven irregular bays around a central
recessed entrance, with a smaller secondary entrance located at the west end. Terra cotta panels with a double
band of incised molding surround the storefront opening on three sides, effectively suggesting a decorative frame
for the storefront. While the windows, bulkheads and doors were replaced in 2001, the overall effect is very - -
respectful of the original materials and configuration. Eight panels of textured Luxfer prisms survive in excellent
condition at the transom level in their original structural frames, which are now spotlit by eight new gooseneck
lamps attached to the face of the terra cotta below a projecting, ribbed terra cotta string course at the base of the
second floor. : '

The visual thythm of the first floor is carried into the second floor with the repetition of an overall terra cotta
“frame” surrounding a central eight-bayed opening. In this instance, the frame takes a more elaborate form with
double bands of light green incised banding highlighted with off-white. Small blocks with a pendant floral motif
hang at the upper corners of the frame, while a series of four green terra cotta shields with off-white numerals are
evenly spaced across the upper band, spelling out the date of construction - “1909.” Bight separate windows bays
containing 1/1 double hung wood frame windows have simple projecting terra cotta frames, but all share a single
projecting terra cotta sill. A continuous horizontal band of half-round oak leaf garland crowns the window heads,
with rosette blocks and pendant garland framing the upper third of each window opening. A very thin course of
egg-and-dart molding runs below a projecting terra cotta cornice, which in turn supports a low terra cotta parapet
punctuated by eight recessed panels. A thick new metal coping slightly obscures the original profile of the
parapet’s upper edge, but it appears to display a series of seven half-round projections corresponding to the
divisions between the recessed panels below.

36. Historic Name: Sears, Roebuck & Co.
Current Name: Fond-du-Luth Casino
Address: 125-131 East Superior Street
Date: 1929
Architect: unknown
Contributing

Sears, Roebuck & Co. had this building constructed for their downtown department store in 1929 and occupied
the structure until 1983. It is a three-story cream brick building located on a south/north sloping site at the-
intersection of Superior Street and Second Avenue East. The primary fagade faces south onto Superior and is
composed of eleven bays at the second and third floors, delineated by simple flat brick pilasters capped with a
plain terra cotta block. Alternate pilasters have a tall, decorative, geometric finial atop the cap, and all pilasters
have a slender, single-color neon strip attached directly to the masonry at the second and third floors. The original
storefront at the first floor of the south facade has been largely removed as a result of alterations in 1992 that
added dark grey polished granite facing and new aluminum frame doors and fixed windows, Original transoms
and the spandre! panels between the first and second floor are obscured by a large black metal sign highlighted
with pink, blue and yellow neon spetling “FOND-DU-LUTH CASINO.” The projecting signage extends the full
width of the south fagade and wraps the southeast corner to cover the first two bays of the east fagade as well, At
the west entrance the signage projects to create a canopy that expands vertically into a series of three neon
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“setbacks” covering portions of the second and third floor. Two identical vertical metal and neon signs are
attached to both corners of the south fagade, terminating in a projecting quarter-round element at the top of the
third floor emblazoned with the word “CASINO” in pink neon. The upper floors are fairly plain in their detailing,
with 11 window openings at each floor set into a blank brick face. All windows were replaced in 1992 with new
pink tinted fixed aluminum frame windows in the original openings, which retained the off-white terra cotta sills.
Decorative relief is provided by the spandrel and parapet panels, wh1ch have three shallow vertical brick insets
that cast subtle shadow lines.

The east fagade also has eleven bays defined by shallow brick pilasters with attached neon strips. The first floor is
largely blank with the exception of the storefront filling the first two bays and single fixed window in the third
bay. A projecting terra cotta string course separates the first from the second floor, and it is likely that this detail
continued onto the primary fagade as well. The arrangement of the fenestration for the second and third floors is
very similar to that of the south facade, but the bays are wider resulting in larger window openings. The second
floor windows are approximately half the height of those on the south side and the heads aligned at the same
level. As on the south side, all windows have been replaced with new pink tinted fixed aluminum frame units
except the fifth and sixth bays, which are infilled with cream brick. A secondary entrance at the north end has new
aluminum framed doors, sidelights and transoms, and a large black metal and neon sign spelling “CASINO”
attached to the spandrel panel below the third floor window.

37. Historic Name: Duluth City Jail
Current Name: Architectural Resources Inc.
Address: 126 East Superior Street
Date: 1890
Architect: Oliver G. Traphagen
Contributing

This tall, narrow two-story red brick and red sandstone Romanesque structure was designed in 1889 by local
architect Oliver G. Traphagen as part of a pair of civic buildings including the Jail and Police Headquarters at 126
Superior and the City Hall on the adjacent site to the east. Rehabilitated in 1968, the historic Jail retains many of
its original architectural and character defining features. The first floor is constructed with rusticated sandstone
blocks laid to form a low foundation that support four piers composed of stacked blocks topped with a capital
carved in low relief. The piers divide the lower story into three bays, with the center bay projecting slightly
forward of the outer two. Large fixed windows topped by pairs of smaller single pane and prism glass transoms
define the bays, except at the eastern outer bay which functions as the main entry. Here two pairs of engaged half-
round columns with joined capitals frame a new metal security door inserted into the original opening. A large
sandstone header is pierced by two prism glass transom openings that sit below the word “POLICE” carved along
the upper edge of the head. :

Large, elaborate spandrel panels separate the first from the second floor, and each is articulated differently on the
three bays. The western bay is the most simple in its detailing, consisting of two projecting brick piers framing a
central panel of textured brick containing a half-round sandstone arch. The interior of the arch is filled with
decorative brick molded in a chevron pattern with an alternating recessed bullseye motifs, A variation of this
motif is seen in the central bay spandrel, which is executed largely in sandstone to create four small half round
arches, one placed over each of the four small square transom windows. As on the eastern bay, the smaller arches
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are filled with the same chevron-patterned pressed brick. Flat sandstone blocks above the four arches create a
plain surface that is enlived by the insertion of molded unglazed terra cotta panels with a low relief garlands and
“scrolls. At the western bay the door head consumes much of the spandrel, leaving a small amount of space for two
sandstone piers framing a narrow panel of textured brick that surrounds a small rectangular panel of the chevron

_ pattern brick. A delicate band of wrought iron tracery is affixed to the masonry between the two piers at the
bottom of the panel, and a band of molded sandstone vertical brick corbels at the top appears to support the sill of
the second floor window. ' * o ' : :

The second floor follows the three-bay arrangement of the first, separated by four tall brick piers with plain
sandstone bases and capitals. The identical outer bays contain a single two-light fixed aluminum frame window
set into a sandstone frame, with two small prism glass transoms above. A massive sandstone block forms a header
that spans the full width of the bay and supports an oddly shaped sandstone block above. A scries of brick half
round corbels cap the fagade below a projecting sandstone cornice. The central bay is similar with narrow
sandstone blocks framing four 2-light fixed windows in a projecting bay window arrangement. Each window unit
' is topped by a small, square transom, the outer two containing prism glass. Rusticated sandstone blocks create a
continuous head, which supports a brick panel decorated by rectangular panels of unglazed terra cotta. A
projecting sandstone cornice supports a new enameled metal roof pressed to similar the appearance of diamond-
shaped shingles. A massive round Spanish-style parapet rises over the central bay, contained on either side by low
brick pillars topped by sandstone orbs. Two larger pillars are perched at either end of the parapet, and serve as the
termini for a sandstone balustrade that decorates the top of the outer bays. The westernmost pillar still retains a
large egg-shaped bronze cupola-like features, although its matching pillar on the east end displays only a flat
metal coping. ' '

38. Historic Name: Duluth City Hall
Current Name: Great Northern Music Center/Art Options
Address: 132 East Superior Street '
Date: 1889 _
Architect: Oliver G. Traphagen
Contributing

This two-story red brick and red sandstone pile was designed in 1889 by local architect Oliver G. Traphagen as
one of a pair of civic buildings including the City Hall at 128 East Superior and the Jail and Police Headquarters
on the adjacent site to the west. Sited prominently on the southwest corner of the intersection of Superior and
Second Avenue, the sharp north to south slope of the terrain creates an additional bagement story that is visible as
a Tusticated red sandstone foundation along the secondary east fagade on Second Avenue. The primary north
facade was altered in 1984 with the addition of black Cararra glass to masonry of the first floor storefront. In
addition, the three bays of the first floor were reconfigured to accommodate new aluminum frame storefront
windows on the outer two bays, and a new aluminum frame recessed entry in the center bay. A continuous
sandstone stringcourse identifies the upper edge of the first floor, while also serving as a sill for the fenestration of
the second. The two outer bays are larger than the slightly projecting central bay, and contain three tall, narrow
window openings with a small single-light transom above scparated by a deep, angled muilion. The window of
the central bay is a slightly larger single opening topped by a transom divided into three lights. All of the window
openings except one are covered with painted plywood, as are five of the transoms. A fairly simple cornice is’
constructed from a wide brick band topped by a continuous row of modified brick dentils and a row of large,
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closely spaced vertical brick corbels below a projecting band of sandstone. The low brick parapet and sandstone
coping is unadorned, with the exception of a taller gabled portion at the central bay containing a half round arch
that encompassed a pressed, unglazed terra cotta shield motif. '

The secondary east fagade uses many of the same architectural features, and also is divided into three large bays
with the central bay slightly recessed. The two outer bays at the first floor each contain four tall, narrow window
openings with wood frame fixed windows, simple sandstone sills, separate transoms, and large brick jack arch
heads. Many of the window openings have been covered or infilled with brick at the northern end of the fagade,
while the southern end retains the original fenestration. The central bay is similar with the exception of the
window heads, which take the form of half-round brick arches at the transom level. The treatment of the second
floor, cornice and parapet is virtually identical to the outer bays of the north fagade, with the exception that each
bay contains four window openings and the transoms are separated from the window by a simple sandstone
mullion. Some of the window openings are hidden behind a pair of large billboards attached to the north end of
the fagade, while others have been modified through infill panels and the installation of new, undersized vinyl 1/1
units in the original openings.

39, Historic Name: Masonic Temple Opera House
Current Name: Temple Opera Block
Address: 201-205 East Superior Street
Date: 1889
Architect: Charles McMillen and E. S, Stebbins
Contributing

This is 2 massive three-story Romanesque red sandstone pile with Moorish influences located at the intersection
of Superior Street and Second Avenue East. The building in its current form represents only the foundation of
what was originally a seven-story structure that culminated in a massive copper cupola with an unusual spherical
clock tower. The upper stories and cupola were dismantled in 1912 by Guilford Hartley, the owner of the
neighboring Orpheum Theater (so that the new theater would not be overshadowed by the Masonic Temple Opera
House) and the remaining structure was capped at the third floor. .

The primary fagade fronts Superior Street, defined by three bays arranged slightly asymmetrically around a
prominent central arched entryway. Three large square piers of rusticated red sandstone blocks frame the two
storefronts that flank the central entry. The western storefront is broken into two sections by an intervening pier
that create a projecting corner bay and a narrower recessed bay adjacent to the entry, while the eastern storefront
is a single wide bay. As a result of the differences in their structural supports, the eastern storefront has two thin
cast iron colurms supporting a large steel beam with cast iron rosettes decorating the ends of the tie rods. The
storefront is symmetrical, with two large bronze frame windows topped by transoms with two keyhole profiles on
either side of a setback entrance with a large single-light wood door. The window frames and door have been
painted and the entrance fransom was covered by a plywoed panel and new signage as part of a 1984 renovation
that also cleaned the masonry. The western storefront has two separate bronze frame units below a large steel
beam. The smaller unit in the narrow bay has two keyhole transoms above a large window, and the larger unit has
three keyhole transoms over a large plate glass window and a setback entry with a single-light wood door. Two
pairs of small pink granite columns (one engaged square column and one freestanding round column) are elevated
on a rusticated red sandstone block base and flank two projecting bronze frame display cases. Rough red
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sandstone bases and intricately carved red sandstone capitals covered with lacelike arabesques in shallow relief
serve as a stark contrast to the smooth surfaces of the granite, while providing a subtle reference to the distinctive
features of North African and Spanish architecture that were frequently incorporated into the visual vocabulary of
Masonic structures. - : '

The colunms support a flat, undecorated frieze and quarter round molding with carved relief, which provide a
platform for the spring point of the large Moorish arch at the second floor encircling a projecting bronze balcony.
Four full-height double-hung 1/1 wood frame windows with large transoms provide access to the balcony from
the interior. The side bays at the second floor are demarcated by a projecting water table resting on the steel
support beams of the first floor. The eastern bay is punched by two openings containing a pair of wood frame 1/1
double hung windows with transom. Each window pair sits above a simple continuous sill of flat-faced red
sandstone blocks, while the heads are separate and slight more elaborate blocks with a molded surround. The
arrangement of the western bays is similar, with the exception that the three openings each contain a single 1/1
wood frame double hung window. Each opening is separated by a flat pier of rusticated blocks topped by a capital
carved with arabesques in shallow relief located at the level of the transoms. The third floor repeats the same
fenestration pattern as the second, with heads and sills of 2 more simplified design and reduced scale. The central
bay above the large arch displays two openings filled with a pair of 1/1 wood frame double hung windows with
transoms. The truncated building has been terminated at the third floor with the addition of a projecting painted
metal cornice and low parapet wall of reddish-orange brick. A larger cornice was placed atop the central bay with
signage on the fascia reading “Temple Opera Block™.

" 'The west facade is a more simplified version of the primary south facade. The lower level is composed almost
entirely of rusticated blocks forming a massive foundation, interrupted only by continuation of the storefront
wrapping the corner at the south end, and the insertion of three small three-quarter-round windows with leaded
glass. A single entrance at the north end is framed by a tall pedimented surround supported on two slender
engaged columns, The second and third floors are divided into three bays, with the central bay projecting slightly
as on the south fagade. The treatment of the fenestration mimics that of the primary fagade, with three openings in
the south bay, and two openings each in the central and northern bays. As on the front, the third floor is
awkwardly finished with a projecting metal cornice and low brick parapet.

40, Historic Name: Knudsen Automobile Company Building
Current Name: Lakewalk Antiques/Center for Nonviolence
Address: 202 East Superior Street
Date: 1917
Architect: Austin Terryberry
Contributing

This massive four-story tan brick structure is sited on a rectangular lot at the southeast corner of the intersection
of Superior Street and Second Avenue. It was built for the Knudsen Automobile Company, distributors of Paige
and Maxwell cars and Republic trucks. As originally constructed, the basement of the building served as a garage,
the main floor as the showroom and offices, the third floor as the “second hand car department,” and the fourth
floor as the service station and repair shop. A disastrous fire gutted the interior of the building in 1922, but
apparently the business reopened again at a later date.” '
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The sharp north to south slope of the site results in the addition of a basement story at the rear fagade, which is
visible along the secondary west fagade on Second Street. Alterations to the first floor of the primary (north)
fagade have obscured the original materials and configuration of the storefront, although the structural elements
suggest that it was divided into three bays. New aluminum frame windows and doors were added in 1985, and the
transoms were covered with plywood panels and signage. Substantial blocks of reddish-orange sandstone are used
to create an impressive string course separating the first from the second floors on the main fagade.

Four square, one-story, pillars are set slightly proud of the plane of the surrounding face brick, separating the
second floor into three distinct bays. Every pillar is crowned by a square Doric capital carved from the same
reddish-orange sandstone used in all of the detailing on the building exterior. Slightly smaller in scale, the two
outer bays hold a grouping of three new 1/1 single hung aluminum frame windows with a tinted fixed transom.
The center bay exhibits two pairs of the same windows, joined by an original cast iron pillar that doubles as an
oversized mullion. Each window grouping rests on its own continuous sandstone sill that runs the full width of the
bay. A series of four horizontal brick corbels finish the top of each bay, stepping out to the plane of the face brick
and a projecting string course of sandstone that also serves as a continuous sill for the windows of the third floor.
The fenestration pattern is the same as that for the second floor, but the windows appear to be wood double hung
sash with a metal panel placed over the transom. Three simple, rectilinear designs in brick decorate the parapet
above each window, leading the eye to the projecting metal cornice/coping supported by a row of chunky, square
- brackets. '

On the west fagade, the sloping site creates a basement level that has a low, stepped sandstone foundation
supporting a row of six projecting brick Doric pillars ranging in height from one story at the north corner to three
stories at the southern corner. The pillars divide the basement level into five bays, each of which contains a pair
of small, fixed aluminum frame windows with a shared sandstone sill. In response to the slope of the site, the
windows increase in height as they move from north to south. The first floor is largely unadorned, with the
exception of the northernmost bay, which is a continuation of the storefront on the north fagade. Identical pairs of
small, fixed aluminum frame windows are situated high on the wall in the remaining bays, leaving the bulk of the
first floor as a blank brick wall. As with the first floor, the northern bay of the second floor adopts the pattern and
decoration established on the outer bays of the north fagade, with two pairs of aluminum frame windows
replacing the grouping of three. The remaining bays also use the same grouping of two pairs of windows, each
pair having its own sandstone sill. Wrapping onto the west fagade from the front, the projecting sandstone string
course provides a continuous sill for the five bays of the third floor. Two pairs of 1/1 wood frame double hung
windows with covered transoms are set below the same rectilinear brick decoration that adorned the upper wall of
the main fagade, along with the bracketed cornice/coping at the top of the wall. ‘

41, Historic Name: Interstate Auto Company
Current Name: By Lake Used Book Store and Records
Address: 206-214 East Superior Street
Date: 1915
Architect: unknown
Contributing

This is a wide, low, two-story brick building with a rectangular footprint that was constructed for auto nsurance.
The primary fagade has been altered through the introduction of new materials and the application of paint to the
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masonry. The use of six whole and one partial square brick pillars with square Doric capitals of the same shape
- and height as those on the adjacent Knudsen Building to the east suggest that these may be companion structures,
if not designed at the same time by the same architect, then at least intended to be visually linked in the mind of
the viewer. Because the windows of the second floor are set at different heights and the outline of the parapet
appears to be in two distinct, but identical, pieces, it is possible that this building was constructed as two separate
structures that were joined together, or it was designed as single building intended to house two different
functions.

At the first floor, only the opening for the overhead door at the east end and the pressed tin ceiling in the interior
appear to be original, while the rest of the fagade was modified at an unknown date through the insertion of new
aluminum frame fixed windows and doors and plywood panels and signage at the original transoms. A heavy
band of stone (now painted) separates the first from the second floor. The pillars mentioned above clearly divide
the second floor into three six bays. The western three bays each have a single large opening that is filled by a
group of three fixed wood frame windows sitting on what is probably a stone sill. Although different in size from
the neighboring Knudsen Building, both the head and the sills of these windows align with those at the second
floor of the Knudsen Building, as does the stepped brick corbelling at the top of each bay. The three eastern bays
are slightly more irregular in their size, with the two outer bays slightly smaller than the center bay. Two new
large fixed wood frame windows appear in the outer bays, and a group of three fixed windows fills the center bay.
The detailing and alignment of the pillar capitals and brick corbelling is maintained in these bays, even though the
position and size of the windows diverges from the western bays. A painted stone projecting string course extends
the full width of the fagade and joins with the similar detail on the Knudsen Building to the west. Twinned
stepped brick parapets with a painted metal coping finish the fagade. '

42. Historic Name: Orpheum Service Garage
Current Name: NorShor Theater
Address: 207-213 East Superior Street
Date: 1925, 1941
Architect: Original unknown, Liebenberg and Kaplan responsible for 1941 remodel
Contributing :

This is a large, three-story theater building with a rectangular plan on a deep lot. The primary fagade of variegated
brown brick and off-white terra cotta faces onto Superior Street with side walls composed of common brick. The
building was constructed in 1925 as a service and office building for the Orpheum Theater, but significant interior
and exterior renovations in 1941 converted the building to the Art Deco NorShor Theater, moving the stage of the
Orpheum into the NorShor.

The south facade is divided into four bays by flat, projecting full-height piers. The first floor level is composed of
three storefronts in the first, second and fourth bays, while the third bay is filled by the entrance to the theater and
its large projecting marquee. Flat, off-white terra cotta blocks laid in a running bond pattern are used at the first
floor level and frame the storefronts, enlivened by decorative shields at the top of each first floor pier. Of the
remaining storefronts, only the second bay retains the original materials and fenestration, with two large bronze
frame plate glass windows framing a recessed entry with a wood frame single-light door and hexagonal mosaic
pavement. The transom strip is formed from multiple {ixed lights with a linear design in metal foil. The other
storefronts have been altered through the integration of new aluminum storefront windows and entry doors, black



NPS Form 10-800a ' OMB Approval No. 1624-0018
(Rev. §-86) L

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic .Places

“Continuation Sheet Name of property
: : Duluth Commercial Historic District
. County and State
Section 7 Page 30 St. Louis County, Minnesota

Cararra glass bulkheads, and plywood signage over the transom lights. The theater entrance was altered along
with the entire third bay in 1941 as a result of a major remodeling by Liebenberg and Kaplan. Five new wood
frame entry doors with decorative glazing covered in etched curviform designs are framed by black and white

- panels in a diamond or harlequin pattern. The transom level is devoted to full-width changeable display signage
below a projecting half round-lighted marquee topped by lighted freestanding metal letters spelling “NOR
SHOR.” - ' ' - :

The bays of the second and third floor are virtually identical, with the exception of the remodeled third bay. Each
bay is subdivided into three smaller bays by a thin brick pier that runs from the second floor to the parapet. Each
small bays is filled by a pair of 1/1 wood frame double hung windows with a off-white terra cotta sill and brick
head formed from a course of brick soldiers. The third floor is separated from the tall brick parapet by a simply
angled terra cotta string course that contains small projecting angled caps for the brick piers below. The parapet is
“divided into four bays by terra cotta piers that continue the line of the brick piers on the floors below. A small cast
keyhole form decorates the top of each pier below a projecting angled cap that is enlivened with two, thin
vertically-oriented fins. Each bay is visually subdivided into three bays by five vertical stacks of brick headers
that continue the line of the projecting brick piers below. A row of headers terminated the parapet below a terra
cotta coping. ‘

The entire third bay that forms the entrance to the theater was modified by a remodeling in 194 1which consisted
primarily of cream enameled metal panels covering the entire fagade at the third bay. A small V-shaped projecting
“gpine” extends the length of the second to the third floots in the center of the bay, with ribbed glass panels used
as infill on both sides of the projection. The bay was topped by a massive decorative tower composed of enameled
metal panels arranged in spaced vertical strips to form a roughly cylindrical shape bisected by a vertical
rectangular plane. The tower was capped with a small cylindrical glass cupola, which perched above large neon
letters that read “NOR SHOR” on both the east and west faces of the tower. The tower was removed in its entirety
in 1961. The interior was also remodeled in 1941 to imbue it with a more contemporary flavor that incorporates
references to Art Deco, Art Moderne, and the works of the WPA. The entrance vestibule was reworked to
incorporate new terrazzo flooring with polished marble and granite panels applied to the walls. The main lobby
was modified through the insertion of two large, freestanding spiral staircases leading to a lounge on the second
floor, Four small, inset cast plaster panels depicting “the Arts” personified decorate the lobby walls, and the
" double entry doors to the theater auditorium are covered in red leather and brass tacks applied to create stylized
floriform patterns both on the doors and the surrounds. The main level of the auditorium was repainted with two
large murals of classical nude females each set into a circular stepped frame, while angled exit walls flanking the
proscentum are covered with overscaled, abstracted, floriform plaster appliqués. At the second floor level the
remodeled lounge area is composed of two levels that lead up to the balcony. The northernmost wall of the lower
level curves gently to accommodate one of the spiral staircases, and is covered with a series of highly stylized cast
plaster figures presenting the icons and industries that defined Duluth, including shipping, fishing, and mining, as
well as the Aerial Lift Bridge. The interior has been further altered through renovations in 1998 which divided the
large single theater with a balcony into two smaller and separate performance venues, and converted the lounge
into a bar and performance space.

43, Historic Name: Gannon Auto Supplies
Current Name: Perry Framing/Minnesota Food Service Equipment Company
Address; 216-218 East Superior Street
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Date: 1912
Architect: unknown
Contributing

This small one-story variegated brown brick storefront building incorporates somewhat unusual brick masonry -
patterning in its Superior Street fagade. Based on the placement of the structural members, the or ginal storefront
was most likely divided into three bays. New aluminum storefront windows and doors replaced the original
materials during a 1964 renovation, and original transoms are now hidden behind a mixture of materials,
including vertical wood siding, vinyl canopies, and plywood with applied signage. In spite of the changes to the
storefront opening, the surrounding brickwork remains intact and exposed. Narrow vertical members composed of
three columns of stacked brick headers flank the opening, and three staggered rows of rowlocks make up the head.
Two rows of stretcher and headers set off a long herringbone patterned panel contained by a frame headers and
rowlocks. Ground bricks and square tiles were used to create inset decorative shields that alternate with various
geometric groupings of three to four square tiles. A plain projecting metal cornice caps the wall and also functions
as a coping.

44, Historic Name: Hotel Duluth
Current Name: Greysolon Plaza _
Address: 219-231 East Superior Street
Date: 1924 :
Architect: Martin Tullgren and Sons, Milwaukee, W1
Contributing :

Hailed as “the tallest hotel building in the Northwest” at its official opening on Friday, March 22, 1925, this
thirteen story brick and terra cotta hotel was the seventh hotel constructed in a series of hotels owned and financed
by the Schroeder Chain of Walter Schroeder. Complete for a total cost of $2.4 million, the hotel was designed by
the Milwaukee, W1, firm of Martin Tullgren and Sons, which was closely associated with the Schroeder chain and
had designed many of its prolfaerti«cs:.6 Although the architects were not local, the bulk of the materials and
contractors were derived locally, most notably the General Contracting firm of Jacobsen Brothers, which was
discussed in the local press of the time as “one of the leading contractors in the Northwest”. In addition to its
function as a fine hotel the Hotel Duluth also provided a new home for many local businesses and organizations
that would serve both traveling clientele and local patrons, including the Duluth Chamber of Commerce that
occupied the well-appointed western wing of the building, as well as a cigar shop, coffee shop, a branch of the
Postal Telegraph and Cable Company, the Duluth Pharmacy Company, the Hotel Duluth Flower Shop, the Harper
Beauty Shop, the Hotel Duluth Barber Shop, and the Liberty Garage at the rear. :

Alihough originally proposed for a site at 12" Avenue and London Road, the Hotel ultimately was located closer
1o the downtown at the insistence of Walter Schroeder and was platted on the northwest corner of the intersection
of Superior Street and Third Avenue Bast on a site 175 feet wide by 140 feet deep and sloping slightly upward to
the north.” The building is U-shaped in plan with an additional three story section at the west end, originaily
intended as a possible additional wing of the hotel. Constructed of a concrete reinforced steel skeleton, the
exterior is clad in off-white terra cotta from the American Terra Cotta and Ceramic Company in Chicago on the
lower four floors with a tan face brick sheathing the upper floors and trimmed with terra coita details on the top
floor and the parapet. The primary fagade on the south is delineated by four large bays of roughly equal size. The
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westernmost bay is only three stories with a tall decorative terra cotta parapet decorated with cast urns, while the
eastern three bays correspond to the section of the building that is full height. Each bay is subdivided into three
sections by three-story Corinthian pilasters that define the window openings at the lower levels, The first floor is
devoted almost entirely to large, identical storefront windows, all of which were replaced in 1977 with new
aluminum frame windows with fixed panel transoms. The three openings of the central bay correspond to the
main entrance, which is protected by a projecting decorative metal canopy. Massive two-story, bronze frame
round headed windows fill the bays at the second and third floors, composed of a single fixed unit flanked by two
1/1 double hung windows at both floors, with the additional of a half-round transom at the third floor. A
continuous terra cotta frieze of garlands and shields is supported by the column capitals and effectively functions
as a spandrel between the windows of the third and fourth floor, and is capped by a projecting molding. The
central bay over the entrance terminates at this height in a decorative terra cotta parapet with two large urns, while
the flanking two bays incorporate simple 1/1 single hung aluminum frame windows arranged into three groupings
of two. Another decorative molding completes the elaborate base.

The upper floors are less elaborate and consist of over 500,000 face bricks laid in a common bond and enlivened
only by three pairs of 1/1 window units, virtually identical in shape and placement as those of the fourth floor.
Only the top floor deviated from this pattern through the use of decorative detailing to create a round head arched
frame that surrounds a decorative transom panel over each window unit. Another terra cotta garland frieze
completes the composition, topped by a low parapet wall constructed from projecting terra cotta piers and brick
panels. The appearance and arrangement of the secondary east fagade is quite similar to that of the south, with the
main exception being the division into seven bays.

Intricate detail and high-quality materials were lavished on the interior of the building, which was intended to

" have a Ttalian Renaissance flavor in its appointments and furnishings. Many of the original furnishings supplied
by the Duluth firm of French and Bassett have been removed, but intricate molded plasterwork that covers the
colurrms, walls, and the beamed and coffered ceiling of the two-story lobby and second floor mezzanine are intact,
as are the mahogany moldings and millwork. A low, wide set of stairs at the rear of the lobby leads to the Spanish
dining room, now known as the “Moorish Room.” The exterior was designed to suggest a streetscape in Spain
using storefront windows at the lower level with striped awnings, wrought iron ornamental details, and hammered
urns, although some of these features are no longer present. The upper floor was designed as an arcade with
groupings of three multi-light arched windows separated by engaged Corinthian columns, and blends into the
open mezzanine level of the second floor on either side of the lobby. In addition to the Spanish dining room, the
hotel also boasted a 45 foot by 35 foot ballroom executed in a French Empire style suggestive of the reigh of
Louis XV, a large foyer that resembled a French promenade, five additional smaller dining rooms with heavy
draperics, wood paneling and high windows to recreate various English styles, four private dining rooms, and a
Presidential Suite.”

The Hotel Duluth continued to function as a hotel until 1979 and then was converted to Greysolon Plaza after a
renovation in 1980, when it became senior housing, a function that it still maintains today.

45. Historic Name: Albert Salter Saloon
Current Name: Red Lion Pool and Darts
Address: 220 East Superior Street
Date: 1910
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Architect: William A. Hunt
Contributing

This is a two-story building with a primary fagade constructed of white glazed brick, with common brick
sidewalls. Black Cararra glass panels were affixed to the fagade at the first floor in 1933, and the original
windows were replaced with single aluminum framed fixed unit. Two new wood doors were added at the primary
~ and secondary entries, the main door bearing a painted design. Cararra glass also fills the entire spandrel panel
below the second floor windows, incorporating thin trapezoidal pieces of white glass to create two narrow bands
of alternating black and white. Two small vertical metal signs with neon lettering are attached to the face of the
spandrel at either end.

A string course of white terra cotta sits between the spandrel and a continuous frieze of white terra cotta with a
running wave pattern, which in turn functions as the sill for the four window openings of the second floor. Painted
plywood sheeting covers every window opening, making it impossibie to determine the condition or appearance
of the window units. White glazed bricks with rounded corners serve as the brick mold for all of the opening, and
a row of rowlocks with a rounded edge form the window heads. An elaborate cast metal cornice with a small row
of dentils below a larger row of brackets is attached to the face brick at the top of the second floor. Only a small
band of glazed brick parapet is visible above the cornice, and it is capped by a metal coping.

46. Historic Name: Rockhill Buick Co.
Current Name: St. Louis County Health Department
Address: 222 East Superior Street
Date: 1928 :
Architect: unknown
.Contributing

This orate cream terra cotta commercial building typical of those designed to house automobile showrooms
across the country in the 1920s, but it is somewhat unusual for Duluth, which has very few terra cotta facades.
Now housing the St. Louis County Health Department, the entire first floor was reworked in 1972 with new
aluminum frame doors and windows and glazed concrete masonry units for the bulkheads and vertical supports.
Plywood panels with applied wood trim and signage now cover the original transoms. Only the outermost
engaged hexagonal terra cotta columns survive from the original storefront, but based on the positioning of the
structural members the current three-bay configuration of the first floor seems to correspond to the original layout.

An intricate band of mildly damaged figural terra cotta pariels occupies the spandrel above the storefront window,
including a wide variety of generic images such as shields and torches interspersed with heraldic dragons and
griffons. Bead and reel molding runs along the upper edge of the panels, followed by a larger egg-and-dart
molding, and finally an interesting play on the egg-and-dart motif fashioned from large acanthus leaves flanked
by smaller oak leaves. The latter molding projects slightly forward to support the flat continuous sill of the second
floor windows. Four hexagonal engaged columns divide the second floor into three large bays each of which is
framed by a pair of engaged Solomonic columns, with the center bay further subdivided into three by another pair
of Solomonic columns. The original windows were replaced with banks of undersized new aluminum casement
windows awkwardly fitted into the existing openings with metal panel infill. The head 15 a simple molding
supporting a flat fascia decorated with rectangular plaques bearing shield motifs, which is capped by a row of
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dentils and another projecting molding course. Three courses of terra cotta blocks in a running bond pattern form
a low parapet wall that is completed by terra cotta coping tiles.

47, Historic Name: Jacob Kohn Autos & Television Center Building
Current Name: Intrepid Building
Address: 228-230 East Superior Street
Date: 1920, 1952
Architect: unknown '
Non-contributing

This wide, two-story cream brick structure is sited on the southwest corner of the intersection of Superior Street
and Third Avenue East. The steep north to south stope of the site results in the addition of a basement level at the
rear or south facade, which is visible as a foundation level on the secondary fagade on Third Avenue. The
structure located at 228 Superior was built in 1920; an addition located next door at 230 Superior was constructed
in 1952, and the two facades were joined into a single unit at that time. Due to the alterations that occurred outside
the period of significance, this building is considered non-contributing to the historic district.

48, Historie Name: Mutual Auto Co.
Current Name: Charter Communieations
Address: 302 East Superior Street

Date: 1915

Architect: Frank Young

Contributing

This low, wide variegated brick storefront with a roughly square footprint sits on the southeast corner of the
intersection of Supetior Street and Third Avenue East. The bulk of the fagade is devoted to the storefront, much of
which was altered at an unknown date with the introduction of new aluminum frame fixed windows, aluminum
entry doors and sidelights, and vertical wood siding infill into the existing structural framework. Two massive
painted cast iron square picrs survive at either end of the north fagade, articulated with a simple base and an inset
panel. Five slender painted metal columns are equally spaced across the fagade, two of which are decorated with
an inset panel stamped with and grid of alternating striations. Narrow painted metal ventilation panels in the form
of small roman grilles span the interstice between the columns at the ground level, but the original transoms have
been covered with plywood paneling and a viny! awning. The brick masonry above the transom/awning creates .
frames of dark brown brick to surround three decorative panels filled with a mixture of unglazed multi-color
square tiles laid in diagonal patterns with a plaid-like appearance. A projecting cast stone molding separates the
panels from the parapet above, with a half round details. The parapet is enlivened by a row of diagonal square
tiles alternating with brown brick soldiers, which is sandwiched between two rows of stretchers alternating with
smaller square tiles. A final row of brown brick rowlocks completes the wall, which is capped with a cast stone
coping.

The west fagade shares many of the same features as the primary fagade on the north. A steeply sloping sites
required a basement level at the rear, which takes the form of an unadorned brown brick wall pierced by small
window openings and a large overhead door at the south end. The first floor contains four bays and the fagade is
delineated in two parts — the northern half continues the storefront configuration seen on the north fagade with
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new vertical wood siding and aluminum windows infilling the original cast iron storefront structure, and plywood
and viny! awnings covering the transom. Four window openings define the southern half of the west fagade, with
plain cast stone sills and new 1/1 aluminum frame single hung windows. The upper portion of the wall and
parapet continue the decorative brickwork from the front face, with four panels instead of three. Two plastic
backlit signs have been attached to the face of the brick panels on either side of the northwest corner.

49, Historic Name: Burrell & Harmon Metal Work
Current Name: Lester River ¥ly Shop
Address: 308 East Superior Street
Date: 1905 '
Architect: unknown
Contributing

This small, variegated brick storefront utilizes decorative brick patterning virtually identical to that seen on its -
Jarger neighbor to the east, suggesting that the two are in some way related. The bulk of the fagade is devoted to
the storefront, much of which was altered at an unknown date with the introduction of new aluminum frame fixed
windows, and aluminum eniry doors and transom. Two painted metal fluted pilaster survive at either end of the
facade, but it is not clear if these are original structural members or merely a later covering. The brick masonry
above the transom/awning creates a frame of dark red brick to surround three decorative panels filled with a
mixture of unglazed multi-color square tiles laid in diagonal patterns with a plaid-like appearance. The parapet is
enlivened by a row of diagonal square tiles alternating with brick soldiers, which is sandwiched between two rows
of stretchers alternating with smaller square tiles. A final row of brick rowlocks completes the wall, which is
capped with a cast stone coping. A small oval sign has been attached to the face of the decorative brick panel.

50. Historic Name: Hotel Florham
Current Name: Brigila Insurance, First Northern Consultants
Address: 310-312 East Superior Street
Date: 1900 '
Architect: unknown
Contributing

This is a two-story Romanesque Revival commercial building originally constructed as a hotel, but converted to
commercial/retail operation at an unknown date. The fagade is composed of rusticated ashlar blocks of a light
pink sandstone, with the first floor arranged in a three-bay storefront configuration divided by four square 'stone
pillars made up of alternating large rusticated biocks and thin smooth faced blocks. Each pillar is finished by an
ornate carved stone Corinthian capital with unusual flourishes, including garland swags that span the volutes and
arabesques in places of the more traditional acanthus leaves. The central entranceway providing access to the
second floor is demarcated by two pillars, with identicat storefront openings on either side. The original storefront
glazing, transoms, and bulkheads, and the entryway door and transom, were replaced in 1919, and have again
been altered by the insertion of new aluminum frame windows, doors and 3-light fixed transoms with new wood
bulkheads and transom panel as part of a renovation completed at an unknown date.

The second floor is arranged into four bays, each containing a pair of half-round arched window openings. New
aluminum frame single hung window units with fixed half-round transoms have replaced the original wood 1/1
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double hung windows. Each window pair is joined by header arches constructed of small rusticated stone
youssoirs that spring from a continuous narrow dentil band, and all of the windows rest on 2 continuous projecting
 stone sill. A series of five projecting half-round, partial-height engaged pilaster separate each bay, with each
pilaster projecting downward from a string course at the top of the second floor like a decorative pendant. A small
conical ornament covered in foliate carvings terminates each pendant pilaster just below the dentil banding that
forms the spring point for the window arches. Each bay is finished at the top by two rows of dentils, the lower one
* approximately half the size of the upper. These are topped by two plain projecting bands of stone that form the
base for the parapet. A large, low pediment spans the width of the two central bays, decorated by a row of blocky
stone dentils below the architrave. The flanking flat parapet elements contain a decorative rectangular inset
" constructed from small vertical blocks and narrow horizontal bands of stone set in different planes to create an
effect similar to basketwork. A thin stone coping completes the parapet.

51. Historic Name: Northwestern Cadillac Company
Current Name: Bisys Insurance/Superior USA
Address: 314 East Superior Street
Date: 1920 '

Architect: unknown
Contributing

This brick commercial building has a rectangular footprint with its primary facade of cream brick and limestone
facing onto Superior Street, and sidewalls of common brick visible on the east fagade. The first floor is consumed
almost entirely by three large storefront openings frames by four simple, square cast iron columns. The outer two
columns are much larger than the two center columns, and they bear a makers mark reading “National Iron
Duluth.” Similar to the adjacent structure at 310-312 East Superior, the original storefront windows, transoms,
doors and bulkhead have been replaced as part of a renovation in 2000, New aluminum frame fixed windows and
transoms have been installed in the openings, with new wood panels at the bulkhead and transom level. A new,
plain metal cornice separates the storcfront from the flat limestone banding that forms the base of the second
floor. '

Three square brick Doric pilasters with limestone bases and capitals divide the second floor into four identical
bays. Each bay contains two rectangular window openings, now filled by 1/1 single hung aluminum framed
windows resting on a limestone still and capped by a large, flat limestone head. A series of seven vertical brick
corbels forms the upper edge of each bay, bring it back into alignment with the plane of overall fagade. Projecting
rows of cream brick soldiers, stretchers, and rowlocks create a simple cornice, which sits below a flat brick
parapet divided into four bays by short pillars aligned with the pilasters at the second floor. The parapet and
pillars are capped by unadorned limestone coping stone.

52. Historic Name: McNamara Automobiles
Current Name: Duluth Vinyl Roofs
Address: 318 East Superior Street
Date: 1913
Architect: Frederick German
Contributing
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This tiny one-story variegated reddish-brown brick building was originally designed for auto services/sales, but
was converted to other retail functions in 1923. The original brick fagade on Superior is largely intact in spite of
some later alterations and additions. Two thin brick piers form the outer frame for the storefront, and they are
decorated by an inset panel of concrete inset with a single vertical row of brick soldiers that end in a ®y”
formation at each end. A central one-light wood frame door and transom appear to bé original, as well as the
overhead door opening immediately to the west of the entry door. The opening to the east was infilled in 1955
with new variegated light orange brick and a large fixed aluminum frame window. The original transoms may

- survive, but they are currently hidden under vertical wood siding and two metal signs that cover both the transom
and part of the brickwork above. A row of brick soldiers forms a continuous head for the storefront opening, and a
narrow horizontal panel decorates the fagade above the storefront. Two rows of bricks are laid on an angle and
mirrored from top to bottom, creating a type of modified herringbone pattern framed by a single row of rowlocks
above and below. Two projecting rows of stretchers support a row of headers at the top of the fagade, which in
turn supports an original metal cornice that is showing signs of corrosion and deterioration.

53. Historic Name: Carlson Bakery
Current Name: Hacienda del Sol
Address: 319 East Superior Street
Date: 1910
Architect: Anthony Puck

This is a two-story variegated orange brick structure with a long, narrow rectangular footprint and common brick
sidewalls. The facade and interior were modified in 1982 as part of a remodeling that converted the use toa
restaurant, Two simple brick piers with red sandstone blocks frame a large new aluminum storefront assembly
with false divided lights and transoms. The bulkhead appears to be new construction in a brick that roughly
matches the original. New signage and a wood paneled cornice with gooseneck lighting separate the first and
second floor. Three colurmms of large, tightly spaced brick quoins divide the second floor into two bays, with each
bay holding a new pair of aluminum frame, single hung 1/1 windows with false divided light transoms. The
windows rest on small, simple red sandstone sill, while the heads are formed from massive flat-faced red
sandstone blocks. A series of two-brick steps are surmounted by a broad, flat brick fascia and a dentil wooden
projecting cornice. A low brick parapet is divided into two bays by projecting brick piers, and the whole is capped
by a cast stone coping. A large two-story deck was added to the east facade in 2004, following the demolition of
the adjacent historic building. '

54. Historic Name: Buffalo Saloon
Current Name: Lindor-Ward Pianos
Address: 320 East Superior Street
Date: 1881
Architect: unknovwn
Non-contributing

One of the oldest surviving structures in the commercial area of downtown Duluth, 320 Superior is the last
remaining wood frame commercial building on Superior Street dating from the heyday of rapid physical and
economic expansion in the later nineteenth century. Originally constructed as the Buffalo Saloon by the Fitger
Brewing Company, this two-story wood frame structure sits on a rectangular lot with its primary fagade facing
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north onto Superior. Demolition of the adjacent structures to the east hag left the east fagade exposed to view from
the street, The original configuration and appearance of the exterior is difficult to determine due to the application
of vinyl siding at an unknown date, the insertion of new fixed and sliding aluminum frame windows at both the
first and second floors on the north and east facades, and the addition of two new glazed metal doors on the north
fagade. Only the flat projecting parapet and seven small decorative wooden scroll brackets at the cornice suggest
the original appearance of the building,

55. Historic Name: NA
Current Name; NA
Address: 321 East Superior Street
Date: NA ‘
Architect: NA
Non-contributing site

This is the site of a small commercial building thaf was demolished in 2003, It is now vacant.

56. Historic Name: Parker Milllinery
Current Name: Duluth Oriental Grocery
Address: 323 East Superior Street
Date: 19006
Architect: F. L. Young
Contributing

This is a two-story cream brick storefront with a rectangular plan and off-white terra cotta detailing. The first
floor is largely intact and is composed of two flat brick piers with inset brick panels in a herringbone pattern,
which frame a large storefront opening. Although the original windows have been replaced with new aluminum
frame units and the bulkheads were covered in blue glazed certain tile, the original configuration remains, along
with the two recessed single-light wood entry doors, the hexagonal tile pavement at the east entrance, and the
pressed metal ceiling on the interior. The storefront is topped by a large expanse of Luxfer prisms, altered only by
the insertion of a ventilation fan.

A simple terra cotta molding demarcates the base of second floor, which is more elaborately decorated than the
storefront. Two pairs of 9/1 double hung wood windows pierce the fagade at the second floor, altered only slightly
by the addition of metal screens and storms. Each pair is framed by a large terra cotta surround with a garland

- molding and a simple terra cofta sill, while a terra cotta panel with a bead-and-reel molding surrounding an inset
panel separates the two windows in each pair. A large, flat terra cotta string course cuts across the fagade at the
midpoint of the windows, and three decorative terra cotta plaques bearing a sculpted shield motif flank the
window pairs, Two large terra cotta brackets covered with acanthus leaves support a projecting terra cotta cornice,
all of which sits just below a low brick parapet capped by terra cotta coping tiles.

WEST 15" STREET

57. Historic Name: Winthrop Building
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Current Name: Integram Telecom
Address: 325-333 West 1" Street
Date: 1904

Architect: unknown

Contributing

This is a three-story reddish-orange brick commercial building sited on a sloping square lot at the northeast corner
of 1% Street and Fourth Avenue West that historically functioned as O, P. Collier’s Printing in the early twentieth
century. The 10-bay secondary west fagade is virtually identical to the primary southern fagade, which is
distinguished by the presence of a full-width storefront at the first floor level that has a central recessed entry.
New aluminum frame fixed windows, transoms, and double entry doors with tinted glazing were inserted into the
historic cast iron storefront columns as part of a 2002 renovation project. New light orange brick was used to
build a new low bulkhead across the entire storefront, while a new painted wood cornice was attached to the top
- of the storefront windows. While most of the materials are new, the scale of the alterations is sympathetic to the
historic character of the building. o

The second and third floors of both facades have ten evenly spaced large rectangular window openings with
simple red sandstone sills and flat brick spandrels. All of the windows were replaced in 2002 with new fixed
aluminum frame windows with dark tinted glazing. Each bay ends above the second floor windows with detail
formed from a series of four full and two half-brick corbels. A new projecting metal coping caps the wall.

58. Historic Name: Mason Flats
Current Name: Pioneer Bar and Chef Yee’s
Address: 321-323 West 1 Street
Date: 1891
Architect: John Waddell and Charles Willoughby
Contributing

This three-story orange-brick and red sandstone block was constructed in 1891 as Mason Flats, and it continued
its function as a rooming house as the Lincoln Hotel in the 1910s, followed by the Victor Hotel in the 1930s.
In1920 the first floor was converted to use as jewelry store, which applied horizontal strips of red and creatn
Carrara glass panels at the storefront, and in 1933 it also served as a training center for boxers. The storefront was
modified in 1973 with a “rural” motif, including a faux red barn constructed of vertical wood siding over the
Cararra glass with an aluminum frame door and small fixed windows on the western half of the storefront. As part
of this same renovation, painted wood clapboards were applied to the eastern half of the storefront, with large
aluminum storefront windows and recessed hollow core metal entry door. The western storefront is currently
occupied by the Pioneer Bar, and the eastern half by Chef Yee’s restaurant, both of which have applied plastic
signage to the facade. :

The upper two stories of the building are visually separated into two identical halves that are mirrored. Each is
arranged into two bays with the outer bay composed of two separate narrow bays terminating in a half-round
brick arch above the third fioor windows. The inner bay, however, is wider to contain a window pair at each floor,
and it terminates with a simple flat or jack brick arch at the third floor window head. All windows are 1/1 double-
hung wood frame windows with rough-cut red sandstone blocks as windows sills, jack arch heads at the second
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floor windows, and textured brick spandrel panels laid in a checkerboard pattern. Two rows of red sandstone
ashlar blocks are the base of the cornice, which is finished by two rows of red sandstone dentils capped by red
sandstone tiles. -

59. Historic Name: Central Garage
Current Name: Pioneer Building/Garage
Address: 315 West 1% Stree
Date: 1923 '
Architect: unknown
Contributing

This is an unusual two-story Collegiate Gothic style garage building on a shallow rectangular lot. The first floor
storefront is deeply recessed below the overhanging second floor supported by concrete structural columns and
four square brick piers. The outer two bays are flush with the second floor fagade above, and consist of new fixed
aluminum frame windows with new plywood transoms and bulkheads. Multi-sided conerete column provide pivot
points for the storefront to angle back in phases, and the rear wall is dominated by two large metal overhead doors
flanking two bays of large aluminum frame fixed windows. The easternmost bay was altered in its plan and
materials, with new plywood infill panels, aluminum frame doors and windows, and a vinyl awning. A band of
variegated brown brick separates the first from the second floors, and appears to be new materials.

The second floor is constructed from variegated brown brick masonry with limestone sills and detailing. It is
symmetrical in its layout and detailing, with a large central bay flanked by two smaller bays on each side. The
edges of each bay were marked by thin projecting brick piers of stacked brick stretchers surrounded by a frame of
headers. Delicate limestone bases and caps decorate the piers, with a small pointed arch inset panel at the top. The
central bay is filled by five low-arched windows with a continuous raked limestone sill, extremely narrow
limestone frames, and a low brick arch head. A brick spandrel below the windows is divided into panels matching

. the width of the window openings, and a row of brick soldiers across the bottom of the spandrel. The same
arrangement is repeated in the outer bays, which incorporate two and three window openings. All windows were
replaced by new vinyl single hung units with transoms and false muntins to give the appearance of 3/6 windows.
A large carved limestone shield is situated above the window heads in the two-window bays. The parapet is -
capped by a carved limestone coping, which rises in a single horizontal step over the central bay, and in two low
steps to encompass the decorative shields in the two-window bays.

60. Historic Name: Elk’s Club
Current Name: All Sports Insurance/Binsfield Investment
Address: 309-311 West 1% Street
Date: 1906
Architect: Edwin Radcliffe and Price
Contributing

This is a striking three-story reinforced concrete Greek Revival style building constructed in 1906 as a lodge for
the Elk’s Club at a cost of $150,000.° As constructed, the first floor storefront was divided into two large bays by
a central narrow, square cast iron column and two massive square pillars at the sides. The two openings were
filled by the typical large storefront windows, with cast iron bulkheads, prism light transom panels, and a recessed
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" entries. A renovation at an unknown date climinated virtually all of the original storefront system, covering it with
solid infill panels, a small fixed aluminum frame window, and aluminum frames doors.

Four freestanding fluted Doric columns dominate the second and third floors, supporting a cornice of triglyphs
and metopes with guttae with a vertical scamed metal paneling. The three bays formed by the columns are
handled differently at each floor. The second floor retains its original wood frame fixed windows topped by
divided light transoms with muntins arranged in a Roman grill pattern. The outer bays hold three windows, while
the center bay has two large windows. The third floor window openings are intact, but the 1/1 double hung wood
windows were replaced with new fixed aluminum frame windows. The outer bay contains three openings, two
windows flanking a door and transom, which appear to be original. The central bay has two pairs of windows with
no door opening. Projecting semicircular porches are supported in each bay of the third floor, but the historic
curved decorative cast iron railing was removed and replaced with a simple, straight metal railing. The historic
projecting coping supported by a row of shallow brackets was covered at an unknown date by vertical standing
seam metal panels. : - : '

61. Historic Name: Board of Trade
Current Name: Board of Trade
Address: 301-07 West 1" Street
Date: 1895, 1905 :
Architect: Oliver G. Traphagen, Daniel Burnham
Contractor: McLeod & Campbell '
Contributing

The massive, seven story red sandstone and brick Romanesque pile that is the Duluth Board of Trade was in fact
the fourth home for the Duluth Board and Trade since its founding in 1881. It was conceived and constructed in
response to a fire that destroyed the third Board of Trade Building, located at Superior Street and Third Avenue
West, on February 11, 1894, The local architecture firm of Traphagen and Fitzpairick was selected immediately to
develop a design, and $350,000 for the building’s construction was awarded to the northwestern contractor
Butler-Ryan Co. in an attempt to rush the new building to completion. In 1905 Chicago architect Daniel Burnham
was commissioned to design an addition on the north side and to redesign the Trading Room, which was relocated
from the second to the seventh floor.™ :

The building is sited on a sloping ot on the northwest corner of the intersection of First Street and Third Avenue
West, and has a footprint of 110’ x 140’ with the primary fagade fronting onto First Street. A three-story base 1s
constructed from Portage red sandstone laid in large smooth-faced blocks highlighted by intricate “East Indian”
carvings executed by local mason George Thrana at the entries and the third floor. The primary fagade on the
south is broken into three large bays, and the central bay is filled by an imposing two-story half-round entry arch.
The original bronze doors and frames filled with amber opal glass were removed and replaced with new doors and
windows, but the entry remains quite striking due to the delicate carving that covers the two conceniric arches -
surrounding the opening. Above the arch head flies a stone barmer reading “Board of Trade”, anchored by two
torches executed in low relief. Two large arched openings appear at the third floor immediately above the banner,
and are completely surrounded by a tapestry of abstracted lace-like designs. The entry doors lead into a vestibule
lined with marbles and a mosaic floor constructed from tiny marble tesserae. The two flanking bays are devoted to
storefront space, and are subdivided into three large rectangular openings by large stone piers that incorporate a
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frame of low-relief engaged partial columns. Historically the storefronts had cast iron frames with a two-light
fixed transom separated by a cast engaged Doric column. Although these are still visible on a portion of the
eastern fagade, most of the windows and doors at this level, and across the exterior, have been repiaced with new

_aluminum frame units many of which include a metal panel transom. A series of three two-story arched openings
dominate the second and third floors, creating three window openings which are filled by tall narrow window
pairs. The third floor windows are fitted within the arch heads, which are decorated with carving similar to that
seen on the entry bay. A simple prOJectlng stone string course caps the top of the base, and shows a high level of
damagc and deterioration.

The fourth throu_gh seventh floors are plain by comparison, constructed from a buff salmon brick with matching
terra cotta detailing. A three-story recess occupies the central bay and it is filled by two smaller half-round arched
bays with window pairs and flat brick spandrel panels at each floor. A low bronze railing supported by a nine
stone brackets enclosed a small balcony at the fourth floor level. As on the lower stories of the base; the outer
bays are marked by simple flat piers that create three bays, each of which is filled by a window pair. The seventh
floor appears to end rather abruptly at its upper edge, but this is due to the loss of the decorative projecting
parapet in 1948 as the result of a fire in a neighboring building.

The secondary east fagade is very similar in its arrangement and detailing, with the exception that the central bay
is twice as wide and contains 6 window bays. In 1983 a skywalk was inserted into the central entrance bay at the
level of the third floor, covering or altering the arched window opening at that location. Historic wood doors and
- decorative arched transoms survive at the main entry on this face.

62. Historic Name: Wolvin Building
Current Name: Misabe Building
Address: 225-231 West 1% Street
Date: 1901-1902, 1909
Archjtect: John J. Wangenstein
Contributing

When it was constructed for A.B. Wolvin, the Renaissance Revival style Wolvin Building was a mere four
stories high. But in a move that does not appear to be unusual in Duluth, an additional five stories were added in
1909, presumably following the successful example of the Lonsdale Building. Approximately 1.5 million pounds
of structural steel were used to construct the building, by the American Bridge Company, which was a subsidiary
of U.S. Steel."” The building as it now appears is nine stories on its primary south fagade, and eight stories-on the

- rear due to the slope of the rectangular site on the northeast corner of First Street and Third Avenue West. Like its
neighbor to the west, the Board of Trade, the two-story base of the building is built from large blocks of red
sandstone, here carved into stacks of rusticated blocks that form large square Doric pillars. These pillars break the
facades up into bays, five on the south and seven on the west. On the north fagade, the large central entry bay has
been modified with a new, highly polished purple granite surround and new aluminum frame entry doors and
transoms, added at an unknown date. It was also at this time that a granite base and bulkhead was added across the
first floor. Large rectangular storefront window openings on the first floor are defined by the vertical piers and
large jack arch heads formed from rusticated sandstone voussoirs. All of the storefront windows were replaced by
new aluminum frame fixed units with dark tinted glazing. The second floor appears to retain many of its original
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features and details, with each bay containing a trio of wood frame windows joined by decorative square
sandstone mullions — a large central fixed window flanked by two smaller 1/1 double hung units.

The third through eighth floors are of a tan brick with matching terra cotta sills and quoins on the corners of the
outer bays. The south fagade is arranged in three bays, with the central bay slightly recessed. The outer bays have
two rectangular openings at each floor, but the center has three groups of three. All of the window openings were
modified at an unknown date with infill in a contrasting orange brick, and new aluminum frame fixed window
units that are much smaller than the original openings. The ninth floor follows the same arrangement as that seen
on the lower floors, but displays more elaborate terra cotta detailing in the form of a projecting string course with
dentil molding that also serves as a continuous sill for the windows. Piers composed of alternating bands of brick
and terra cotta frame the window openings, and large round shield motifs are affixed to the tops of the piers. The
projecting terra cotta cornice above is supported by large brackets. :

The -.secondary west fagade is virtually identical, but the central bay is expanded to include five groups of three
windows. As on the Board of Trade building, this secondary fagade also has a skywalk inserted at the third floor
‘above the central entry, and the central entry bay still contains its historic doors, windows and transoms.

63. Historic Name: LeTourneau Printing Co.
Current Name: ARDC
Address: 219-221 West 1% Street
- Date: 1914
Architect: unknown
Non-contributing

This small two-story commercial building either has been completely altered in a recent renovation, or is entirely
new construction of recent origin. The alterations are not within the period of significance for the historic district,
therefore the building is considered non-contributing.

64. Historic Name: Armstead Building
Current Name: Garon Bros. Jewelry/Salon Capelli
Address: 217 West 1* Street
Date: 1913
Architect: William A. Hunt
Non-contributing

This three-story tan brick commercial building with red sandstone details is positioned on a rectangular site. The
original storefront was modified in 1939 by architect Harold St. Clair Starin for Garon Bros.'? Little if anything of
this historic storefront survives under the green marble display bays, aluminum frame windows and doors, and
large transom sign on the eastern half, or the new aluminum frame doors and fixed windows, infill panels and
solid transoms on the western half. The eastern portion was further altered in the 1980s by the attachment of a
skywalk to the fagade, obliterating the entire second floor bay on this portion of the building. The second floor of
the western half is intact however, and is framed by two square brick two-story piers with red sandstone Ionic
capitals. A red sandstone string course functions as a continuous sill for the four windows of the second floor, and
a simple flat red sandstone block serves as the head. The windows were replaced with new aluminum frame 1/1
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single hung units, positioned over a metal infill panel. The third floor windows are similar in their arrangement

and detail, but the units themselves are larger and do not include an infill panel. A simple cast metal flat cornice

- spans the capitals of the piers, topped by & projecting metal cornice supported by three large and numerous small
brackets. '

65. Historic Name: Central Club Cafe
Current Name: Bluestein Optical
Address: 213-215 West 1* Street
Date: 1905 :
Architect: Emmet Palmer and William A. Hunt
Contributing

This small two-story commercial building was completed in 1905 by contractor George Lounsberry for H. F
Meyer at a cost of $3,000.000. It is constructed from light orange brick with minimal red sandstone detailing. The
lower level was remodeled by architect Otto Olsot for a restaurant."”® The brick frame and central brick pier of the
first floor survives, along with the large steel header beam which define a two-bay storefront opening. All of the
original storefront materials have been removed and replaced with new brick masonry, frame doors and fixed
windows with false divided lights and tinted glazing, and plywood signage over the transom area. The flat brick
masonry of the second floor is penetrated by eight tall, narrow window openings situated above a continuous
rough-faced red sandstone string course that also acts as a sill. All of the window openings have tall jack arch
brick heads, but the windows themselves were replaced with new aluminum frame fixed units with tinted glass.
The parapet is a plain low brick wall adorned only by a slightly recessed panel bearing a single row of brick
dentils along the upper edge. The parapet is crowned by terra cotta camel back coping tiles.

66. Historic Name: Gilbert Building
Current Name: C P Internet
Address: 209-211 West 1* Street
Date: 1922
Architect: John J. Wangenstein
Contributing

Constructed by Hugh Fawcett in 1922, this low, wide two-story commercial building is typical of West First
Street, with reddish-brown brick masonry and light grey limestone details. Like many buildings on First Street,
the components of the historic storefront were removed and replaced with new materials. The first time was in
1947, when the storefront was remodeled by architects Giliuson and Elingsen.'* The changes were later removed
and replaced with large aluminum frame fixed windows with metal panels, an aluminum frame entry door with
sidelight and transom, and metal panels with applied signage filling the original transom area. Only the structural
brick “frame” around the opening remains intact at this level. The lower edge of the second floor is demarcated by
a continuous projecting limestone string course that provides a sill for the windows of the two large bays on this
floor. The bays are defined by three plain brick piers, and the windows in each bay were replaced by three pairs
of large fixed aluminum frame windows with transoms. The central pair of each bay has operable tilt transoms.
An undecorated narrow limestone panel is set above each bay, resting between short pressed metal brackets that
are aligned with the piers below. The brackets support a small projecting pressed metal cornice, which has a fan
motif attached to its upper edge above the centerpoint of each bay.
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67. Historic Name: Altman Clothing
Current Name: Leone’s Tailor Shop/Duluth Superior Trophies and Awards
Address: 201-207 West 1° Street '
Date: 1922
Architect: John J. Wangenstein
Contributing

This is a rather unique long, low one-story commercial storefront spread across three plots on the northwest

“corner of First Street and Second Avenue West. The primary fagade stretched along First Street, and was designed
to serve a single large in the eastern corner space, with two much smaller storefronts at the west end of the First
Street facade. The fagade appears to be largely intact, and consists largely of storefront openings ina reddish-
brown brick frame that was recently, and inappropriately, repointed with a new light mortar. The brick bulkheads
are enlivened by simple raised rectangular brick frames that correspond to the bays of display windows arrayed
along the fagade. All of the original storefront were replaced by new aluminum frame fixed windows flanking the
three recessed entries with their new aluminum frame doors. The transoms are covered by plywood panels and
various types of signage. A low parapet of plain brick displays five long, rectangular, raised brick frames evenly
spaced above the storefront transoms. The parapet curves and steps upward at the corners and above structural
elements and main entries in a Mission Revival motif. The secondary, shorter east fagade is similar to the
southern facade and has only a single central recessed entrance.

68. Historic Name: New Garrick Building
Current Name: Garrick Center
Address: 118-138 West 1* Street
Date: 1922
Architect: Byron P. Hustad
Contributing

This is a long, low two-story brown brick commercial building with a narrow rectangular footprint oriented on a
east-west axis at the southeast corner of First Street and Second Avenue West. The design is simply, efficient, and
repetitive, consisting of ten identical storefront openings on the first floor level of the primary north fagade. Each
storefront has a slightly different configuration with different materials as a result of a 1984 renovation. A
continuous brick spandrel separates the storefronts from the second floor, which is a flat brick wall pierced by
twenty pairs of regularly spaced 1/1 double hung wood windows. The windows are arranged so that the outer
edges of two pairs align with the edges of the storefront opening below. A new pressed metal cornice with dentil
course was added in 1984, below a low brick parapet capped by new metal coping. A large pressed metal
pineapple was inserted into the coping at the center point of the north fagade as part of the renovation. The
narrower west fagade has only a single fixed storefront window at the first floor on the north end, and three pairs
of windows on the second floor, with a single window opening at the southern end of the fagade. The cornice and
coping from the north face wrap the west fagade as well.

69. Historic Name: Bayha & Co. Furniture
Current Name: Advanstar .
Address: 131 West 1* Street
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Date: 1904 : .
Architect: Frederick German and A. Werner Lignell
Contributing

Constructed in 1904 as the four-story home for Bayha & Co. Furniture, they quickly outgrew the building and
added two additional stories in 1906.”* In 1915 the building changed hands and was occupied by First Street
Department Store, which renovated the storefront in'1919. The Department Store was closed and liquidated in
1957, and the exterior of the building altered again in 1960 with the addition of a new tan brick skin and infill
panels at the first floor covered in large pieces of rough, black, lava rock.

The six-story, tan brick building on the northeast corner lot of First Street and Second Avenue West retains its
basic features in spite of a number of significant alterations. All original features of the first floor have been
covered or removed through the application of new masonry facing and the insertion of new aluminum frame
doors and windows in the 1960 renovation. The upper floors are largely intact however, with their flat masonry
skin, simple red sandstone window heads and sills, and brick spandrel panels. The primary south fagade is
arranged in three bays by full height brick piers that frame large window openings. All of the upper story
windows across both facades were removed and replaced with new aluminum frame fixed windows with dark
tinted glazing. Some openings are fully filled by windows, but many have been infilled largely with new brick in
a darker shade of tan, leaving only small vertical fenestration openings. A series of large, tightly spaced brick
corbels form a cornice, and ate topped by a dentil band and projecting metal coping.

The western facade has many of the same details, materials, and alterations, but is arranged into eight bays.

70. Historic Name: Gerchgol’s Grocery
Current Name: Advanstar
Address:

Date: 1940
Architect: C. H. Smith
Non-contributing

Gerchgol Economy Markets, Inc replaced four historic buildings on this site in 1940, creating a one-story grocery.
Alterations in 1960 completely changed and closed the fagade, infilling all window openings and covering the
majority of the fagade with black lava rock identical to the treatment seen on the lower floor of the Bayha & Co.
Building to the west. The fagade is relieved only by a single recessed opening for a service entry. '

71. Historic Name: Columbia Block
Current Name: Norman’s Tavern/Jersey City
Address: 113-115 West 1* Street
Date; 1885
Architect: unknown
Contributing

Constructed in 1885, this three-story reddish-orange brick and red sandstone building is typical of commercial
construction in Duluth during this period. Although its original function is unknown at this time, the building is
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best known by the name “Columbia Block” in reference to its use as the Columbia Hotel from 1909 into the
1930s. Currently it is home to Norman’s Bar and Jersey Printing, with the central entry providing access to the
second- and third-floor residential spaces. The first floor storefront is separated into three bays by large square
piers that create a small central entry bay and two larger flanking bays. The original materials of the storefront
were altered or removed at an unknown date as part of a renovation that applied vertical wood siding to the piers
and infilled window openings with stucco panels. New steel doors and aluminum frame fixed and casement
windows were punched into the stucco infill. Metal panels were wrapped around the tops of the piers and the
cornice, which suggests that the historic materials may survive underneath. :

As is fairly typical of buildings in Duluth, most renovations left the upper floors relatively untouched. Four plain
square brick piers continue up to the third floor and divide the upper levels into three bays, ending at the parapet
level with a decorative brick corbel and rectangular brick panel that suggests an abstracted capital. The two outer
bays are filled by three tall rectangular window openings with continuous sandstone sills and a band of large
rough- faced sandstone blocks at the heads. New 1/1 single hung windows appear were installed in the openings,
with the transoms covered by metal panels. Long brick spandrel panels below the third floor windows are relieved
by three rectangular recesses that align with the window openings above and below, and a narrow band of
decorative brick below the sandstone sills that is worked into a helix-like motif. The third floor fenestration is
similar to that of the second floor, but with half-round arch windows and brick arch window heads outlined by a
thin band of sandstene on their upper edge. Here too windows are new 1/1 single hung units with the half round
transom portions filled with a solid panel. The arrangement of the much narrower central bay mimics that of the
outer bays, filled only by a single window opening with a narrow window pair rather than multiple openings. The
fagade composition is completed with a cornice of tightly spaced vertical brick corbels capped by a new metal
coping applied directly over a damaged historic pressed metal coping.

72. Historic Name: Unknown
Current Name: Thai Krathong/Pasek Pharmacey
~ Address: 114-116 West 1* Street
Date: 1900
. Architect: Emmet Palmer, Lucien Hall and William A. Bunt
Contributing

This is one of many modest two-story brick commercial structures that make up the fabric of First Street. This
orange brick building sits on a rectangular lot and is divided into two bays externally, which translate into two
separate retail spaces internally. In the 1930s the building housed a Piggly Wiggly grocery store and Power
Hardware. The storefront is framed at either end by two large, square brick piers decorated with simple red
sandstone bases and Doric capitals. A painted cast iron column separates the two storefront openings, which were
altered as the result of a renovation in 1984. The original storefront doors and windows were replaced with new
wood siding infill, aluminum metal doors and fixed windows, and plywood panels, signage and vinyl awnings
over the transoms. The second floor contains eight identical window openings formed from brick piers. A red
sandstone string course makes a continuous sill, while a bank of brick dentil just below the window heads is
suggestive of brick capitals for the piers. The windows were replaced in 1984 with new aluminum frame 1/1
single hung units. A cornice is created from a band of brick dentils below a row of square red inset tiles. The low
brick parapet appears to have suffered from moisture damage and may be rebuilt. It is now capped by a plain
metal coping. '
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73. Historic Name: Rowley Building
Current Name: Coney Island
Address: 112 West 1* Street
Date: 1905 o
Architect: John J. Wangenstein
Contributing

A slightly more decorative variant of the traditional small commercial/residential building, this two-story dark
orange brick storefront was designed by local architect John Wangenstein for J. W. Rowley in 1903, and
constructed by Harry Pearson for a total cost of 89,195.00. Two square brick piers create a single storefront
opening, which is now filled with new plywood infill and fixed windows flanked by two wood frame entry doors
with single glazing, a striped vinyl awning and plywood signage cover the transom area and a small portion of the
© flat brick spandrel above. The second floor is arranged into two bays, each occupied by a pair of new 1/1
aluminum frame single hung windows. A large brick pier with a Doric red sandstone capital separates each
window pair, which rest on a sill that is created by a narrow red sandstone string course. Large flat blocks of red
sandstone create a continuous head for the windows, and these are capped by the same string course used in the
sill below. A relatively tall brick parapet is enriched with two bands of modified brick quoins at the edges, and
three inset painted metal panels. A central rectangular panel reading “ROWLEY” in raised lettering is surrounded
by a plain brick frame. Two smaller square panels flank the larger panel, with the eastern panel bearing the '
aumbers “19” in an oval shield and the western panel “05”, in a similar shield, presumable a reference to the date
in which the building was constructed. These smaller panels are given more elaborate frames with three brick
quoins on the sides and a small jack arch across the top. A pressed metal cornice with dentil band is affixed at the
top of the parapet and four short brick stacks supporting tall metal flag poles rise up behind it.

The demolition of the adjacent property to the east for a parking lot exposed the party wall of the Rowley
building, which was completely covered in a parge or stucco material,

74. Historic Name: NA
Current Name: NA
Address: 104-110 West 1** Street
Date: NA
Architect: NA
Non-contributing site

This paved parking lot once had a historic building, so it is considered a non-contributing site.

75. Historic Name: New England Photo
Current Name: European Bakery
Address: 109-111 West 1* Street
Date: 1888
Architect: unknown
Contributing
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This brick commercial structure is sited on a rectangular lot with its primary fagade facing south onto First Street.
Like its neighbor to the west, the Columbia Block, this property was designed as a three-story commercial
building using the reddish-orange brick and red sandstone masonry worked into vaguely Romanesque details, an
stylistic approach that was very common in late-nineteenth century architecture in the city. Unfortunately all
remnants of the storefront at the first floor were obliterated by a renovation that inserted a considerable amount of
orange brick masonry into the storefront opening. New aluminum frame double. doors with sidelights and
transoms were added fo create a new central entrance, and while steel doors were used at the secondary entries on
either end. Green enameled standing seam metal panels were applied vertically to the transom area, and two large
metal awnings hang above the doors at each end. '

A narrow string course of sandstone peeks above the upper edge of the metal transom, marking the beginning of
the second floor. The upper storied are arranged into three bays by four wide brick pilasters, with the center bay
roughly twice as wide as the outer bays. At the second floor the pilasters are detailed with a series of six
projecting brick bands to give the impression of large stacked blocks. The outer bays each contain two tall
rectangular window openings separated by a narrow brick pilaster with a simply sandstone block for a capital,
while the center bay uses the same arrangement to accommodate four window openings. All of the windows were
replaced with new aluminum frame 1/1 single hung units that have a solid metal panel at the transom. A thin
string course of sandstone provides a continuous sill, and a heavier band of rough-faced sandstone blocks
functions as the window heads. The spandrel panel below the third floor windows is a simple band of brick
highlighted by eight rectangular recesses aligned with the windows. The third floor fenestration repeats the size,
placement and number of the second floor, with slight changes in the detailing. The most notable difference is the
inclusion of a pair of half-round engaged sandstone columns on the pilasters separating the window openings
within each bay. Sandstone blocks and a series of horizontal corbels serve as window heads for each bay,
accentuated by three groupings of vertical brick corbels (8 over the outer bays and 16 over the center) situated like
large dentils below a projecting pressed metal molding on the parapet above. The low brick wall that completes
the parapet is decorated with a row of simple rectangular recesses, again arranged according to the size of the
bays. In an unusual final detail, the rough sandstone coping is broken into three sections in response to the bay
divisions, and curves upward at the end of each section.

76. Historic Name: Ideal Market
Current Name: Lifeline Building
Address: 102 West 1* Street
Date: 1907
Architect: Emmet Palmer and Lucien Hall
Contributing

This small two-story reddish brown brick commercial and residential building was designed in 1907 by local
architects Palmer and Hali, and it was constructed at a cost of $13,500.00.'° 1t is sited on a long, narrow lot at the
intersection of First Street and First Avenue West, and In its historic function as the Ideal Market, a large
percentage of these facades was given over to storefront. As a result of later alterations, most of the storefront on
the east fagade was removed and infilled with new brick, while the storefront on the north fagade was replaced
with new aluminum frame fixed windows, new double entry doors and transom, and plywood panels and signage
covering the transom area. Only the red sandstone surround at the west end of the primary fagade appears to be
original, with its inscription reading “J. Popkin™ across the head.
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The second floor is fairly plain, punctuated by six rectangular window openings holding new 1/1 aluminum frame
single hung windows with 4/4 false divided lights. These sit above a string course of rough faced sandstone that
serves a sill, and each opening has a high brick jack arch head. Like many buildings in Duluth, the fagade is
finished at the parapet with a low brick wall decorated with a series of tightly spaced vertical brick corbels (in this
instance, there are 35), capped by a metal coping. : '

As was mentioned earlier, the east fagade was altered at the north end through the infilling of the storefront. But
the southern end of the facade slopes down following the terrain, to create a lower level on the south or rear
facade that still retains its historic cast iron storefront and entry door with a half-round transom. Four of the
original half round windows on the first floor of the First Avenue fagade are intact, but nine of the openings on
the second floor have been altered and the windows replaced with new 1/1 single hung aluminum frame units that
use 4/4 false divided lights. The party wall of the west fagade was exposed at an unknown date when the adjacent
building was demolished for a parking lot. The wall is completely covered with stucco or concrete parge coating,
and is partially painted with representations of the Ideal Market.

77. Historic Name: Frederick Hotel
Current Name:; Kingsley Heights Apartments/Sammy’s Pizza
Address: 101-107 West 1** Street
Date: 1908
. Architect: William A. Hunt
Contributing

This three-story light orange brick building is sited on a large square lot at the intersection of First Street and First
Avenue West. Designed for retail and lodging by William A. Hunt—who is most notable for his work with
Palmer, Hall and Hunt—the building was completed in 1908 by contractor John Grandy and opened as the
Frederick Hotel on the upper floors, with five retail shops filling the ground floor storefronts. Y By 1930 the hotel
had changed hands and was operating under the name “State Hotel.” Today the property is used for rental

~ apartments on the upper floors, and the storefronts have been renovated to create two large retails spaces, one of

which is occupied by a restaurant.

All details of the original five storefront have disappeared as a result of renovations, now infilled with dark tan
brick masonry at the bulkheads and transoms. New aluminum frame doors and fixed windows were installed,
along with plywood panels and vinyl awnings above the window units. The primary south fagade is organized
into three bays, with the outer two smaller bays projecting slightly forward of the wider central bay. Ate outer
bays contain two individual rectangular window openings at each floor, decorated with a plain red sandstone
block at the sill and an oversized sandstone keystone in the jack arch brick heads. Five brick pilasters subdivide
the central section into six bays, each containing a rectangular window opening with a sandstone sill and large
sandstone block at the head. All of the windows throughout the building were replaced with new 1/1 aluminum
frame 1/1 single hung windows. A band of ten narrowly-spaced thin brick corbels lines the upper edge of each of
the six bays at the top of the third floor. An elaborate parapet provides the key decorative elements of the fagade.
Two large brick curvilinear Spanish Revival parapets with sandstone coping and a false pointed arch window
crown the outer bay, ftanking the pressed metal projecting dentil cornice over the central bay.
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The secondary east fagade is more simple in its layout and detailing. One small section of storefront continues
onto the first floor, which sloped steeply upward to the north. The thick masonry wall is pierced by two recessed
doors and two small, square windows, now infilled with concrete block. Nine window openings with sandstone
heads and sills are arrayed along the fagade at the second and third floors, providing access to the third floor
catwalk and fire escape affixed to the masonry.

78. Historic Name: East End Ice and Coal
Current Name: Vacant
Address: 31 West 1** Street
Date: 1916
Architect: John J. Wangenstem and William E. Baillie
Non-contributing

This wood frame, two-story Tudor Revival commercial buﬂdmg was designed by local architects Wangenstein
and Baillie, and was constructed in 1916 for a cost of $4,000.00." Its original function is not known, but it has
been associated primarily with power and electricity throughout its history. In 1920 it was the home for the
Electric Company, followed by East End Ice and Coal in 1930, and Bob’s Electric in 1974. It sits on a narrow lot
on the northeast corner of First Street and First Avenue West currently undergoing an extensive renovation. The
storefront extends slightly forward of the plane of the second floor, and has been reworked with new concrete
bulkheads, new fixed wood frame windows and multi-light transoms, and a pair of wood frame multi-light doors
in the central entry. A new flat fascia above the transom is capped by a pressed metal molding and shallow metal
roof. Stucco-covered walls and false half-timbering fill the front gable of the second floor, which display three
new 6/6 double hung wood frame windows. With the exception of the one bay of the storefront that wraps the
corner and a cross gable at the second floor, the west facade is largely biank stucco with scattered rubble
sandstone masonry adhered at the base of the wall.

Due to alterations to the storefront, the fagade and the west wall, the building is considered non-contributing.

79. Historic Name: Pearson Block
Current Name: Pianos Plus Music Store
Address: 26-32 West 1* Street
Date: 1883
Architect: unknown
Contributing

Built in 1883 likely as a boarding house and retail shops, this two-story variegated brown brick building is sited
on narrow east-west oriented lot at the southeast corner of First Street and First Avenue West. In 1909 it was
functioning as a rooming house with printing offices on the first floor, and in 1930 it had converted to the First
Avenue Hotel, with a range of retail functions on the first floor, including Modern Plumbing and Heating,
Hoeneywell, and a barber shop. Today the five historic storefronts have been consohdated into three: Piano Plus
Music, the Bachelor's Library, and Almost New Consignment.

Portions of the historic storefront remain in the square brick structural piers that separate the five openings on the
north fagade and the window frames and glazing of the comner storefront, now largely obscured by large plywood
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panels over the fixed windows as well as the transoms. The other storefronts have been renovated with new
aluminum frame doors and fixed windows, and plywood panels and signage over the transoms. A continuous
pressed metal fascia and dentil tops the transoms at the north fagade and wraps onto the secondary west fagade as
well. The brick masonry of the second floor has been painted, obscuring some of the red sandstone detailing. A
sandstone string course provides a continuous sill for the seventeen 1/1 double-hung wood frame windows of the
second floor, which have been slightly altered through the addition of aluminum storms on the exterior. Half-
round solid transom panels fill the upper portion of the windows, and half-round brick arch heads are highlighted
by a single band of brick trim. A simple comice of tightly spaced vertical brick corbels covers the low brick
parapet, which is capped by a pressed metal coping. The secondary west fagade is much narrower, but still utilizes
~all of the same details seen on the north fagade.

80. Historic Name: unknown
Current Name: vacant
Address: 29 West 1* Street
Date: 1916
Architect: unknown
Contributing

This is a tiny two-story, wire-cut brick veneer commercial building that appears to have been appended to the
construction of its Tudor Revival neighbor at 31West First in 1916. And like its neighbor, the first floor storefront
_is under renovation with new concrete bulkheads, wood frame fixed windows and multi-light transoms, and a new
multi-light wood door. A new flat fascia above the transom is capped by a pressed metal molding and shallow
metal roof. The brick masonry is fairly simple, enlivened by the recessed bay for the two 6/1 new wood frame
windows at the second floor that displays two full and two half engaged brick pilaster framing the window units.
A comnice of four rows of projecting bricks sits below an unadomed brick parapet wall. Little is knows of this
building’s history, except that it functioned as Duluth Barber and Beauty Supply Company from c. 1930 through
c. 1950. : '

81. Historic Name: Max Bloom Furnitare
Current Name: Arthur’s Men’s Formalwear
Address: 25 West 1 Street
Date: 1916
Architect: unknown
Contributing

~ This light-orange brick two-story commercial building was constructed in 1916 for Max Bloom Furniture, “which
operated on this site until the 1930s. Currently it is occupied by a men’s formal wear shop on the first floor, and
rental housing on the second. '

The first floor is arranged into three equal bays consisting of large storefront openings. Light grey terra cotta
blocks covered the base of the wall, and thin band of molded white terra cotta outlined the perimeter of the first
floor as well as the storefront openings. The original storefront materials were removed and replaced with infill
panels, new aluminum frame doors and fixed windows, and vinyl awnings. A rectangular panel of terra cotta with
a wreath molding frame sits above the centrat bay, immediately below a string course of egg-and-dart molding
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and a projecting terra cotta cornice. The second floor also is arranged into three bays with large rectangular
window openings defined by four brick pilasters capped with plain terra cotta bases and abstracted terra cotta
capitals at the parapet. The openings are now modified with vertical metal panel infill and new aluminum frame
windows that consist of a larger fixed window flanked by two smaller casements. A row of brick rowlocks form .
the header of each opening, which is topped by a large brick panel framed in a terra cotta molding. The interior of
the panel is decorated with two applied terra cotta diamonds. The flat brick parapet is relieved by two recessed
strips at the outer bays, and a serried of four vertical recesses in the center bay, which steps up slightly. White
terra cotta camel back coping is a finishing touch. :

82. Historic Name: NA

: Current Name: NA
Address: 7-23 West 1% Street
Date: NA
Architect: NA
Non-contributing site

This paved parking lot once had a historic building, so it is considered a non-contributing site.

83. Historic Name: unknown
Current Name: Cantonese Honse
Address: 24 West 1 Street
Date: 1893, 1916 '
Architect: John J. Wangenstein and William E. Baillie
Contributing '

This is a simple three-story commercial/residential building sited on a narrow rectangular lot, which has
historically functioned as a restaurant or cafe on the first floor. The.original storefront was altered in 1948, and
then renovated again for the current occupant, a Chinese restaurant. The entire first floor was infilled and covered
with red painted stucco, picrced only by a small fixed aluminum frame window and a deeply recessed entry on the
castern end. A shallow green tile roof projects from beneath a full width red metal and neon sign spelling
“CANTONESE HOUSE — Chinese and American Cuisine” in white and yellow neon tubing.

The second and third floors are light-orange brick masonry with three rectangular window openings holding 1/1
double hung wood frame windows. Continuous bands of red sandstone create sills, while the heads are larger
blocks of sandstone in a continuous wide band. The low brick parapet has only a wide, shallow recessed brick
panle below a projecting pressed metal cornice with a series of small brackets on the underside, and two long,
attenuated supports affixed to the face of the masonry at each end.

84. Historic Name: Farrell Plumbing
Current Name: vacant
Address: 22 West 1% Street
Date: 1893 :
Architect: William Bray and Carl Nystrom
Contributing
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This amazingly intact three-story red brick building was designed as a two-story structure by local architects Bray
and Nystrom for E. S. Farrell, and was completed by contractor Malcolm McKay in 1893 for a cost of $5,000.00.
An extra story was added by Bray and Nystrom c. 1910, and a rear addition made in 1941."” The storefront is
defined by two brick piers and a series of three cast iron columns that create four window bays. Three of the bays
are filled by new large fixed aluminum frame windows below historic wood frame transoms, and the remaining
bay has the original recessed wood frame entry door and transom. Four rectangular window openings with rough-
faced red sandstone sills pierce the masonry of both the second and third floors. The sills of the second floor
windows are damaged, as though they were removed back to the brick face to allow a new facing material to be
applied to the surface of the building. Because the property is currently vacant, all of the windows are covered
with plywood. The low parapet wall is enlivened by a series of twenty-four vertical brick corbels, and the whole is
capped by a molded metal coping.

85. Historic Name: E. F. Berg Hotel Supplies
Current Name: Glenwood Communications
Address: 20 West 1% Street
Date: 1896
Architect: unknown
Contributing

This is a one-story variegated brown brick commercial building sited on a narrow rectangular lot. The primary
north fagade is consumed by a large open storefront, which was altered in 1987 through the addition of new
aluminum frame fixed windows, new metal siding at the bulkheads, and a piywood paneling over the original tall
transom area. Two thin brick pilaster with limestone caps define the outer edges of the storefront, with a low brick
parapet wall above. A decorative band consisting of groups of three bricks alternating ina horizontal and vertical
orientation provides the only relief to what is an otherwise utilitarian fagade. A limestone coping protects the
upper edge of the parapet wall.

86. Historic Name: Sanitary Plumbing
Current Name; Glenwood Communications
Address: 18 West 1% Street
Date: 1896
. Architect: unknown
Contributing

Much like the building to the west at 20 West First Street, this simple, small one-story red brick commercial
structure is dominated by its open storefront. Originally constructed in 1896 by contractors Christian Evens and
John Grandy for Luther Mendenhall at a cost of $5,000.00%, the building originally housed Sanitary Plumbing
and was one of several plumbing service and supply stores on this section of First Street. In 1987 the building was
internally linked to 18 West First and the storefront renovated with new aluminum frame fixed windows, and
aluminum frame entry door with sidelight and transom, and laminate panels apptied over the bulkheads and tall
transom area. The red brick masonry and pressed metal coping still survive in good condition, however.

87. Historic Name: Bridgeman & Russell Block



NPS Form 10-600-a : S . OME Apgroval No. 1624-0018
(Rey. 6-86) L : :

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service '

National Registér of Historic Places

Continuation Sheet Name of property
Duluth Commerclal Historic District

_ County and State
Section 7 Page - 55 St. Louis County, Minnesota

Current Name: Vacant and All Brand Mr. Fixit
Address: 10-16 West 1% Street '

Date: 1905 and 1907 :
Architect: John J. Wangenstein

Contributing .

This three-story, reddish-brown brick Renaissance Revival commercial building has a roughly square footprint
with common brick sidewalls, and a palimpsest of historic painted signage is still visible at top of the west side
wall. The block is composed of two nearly identical buildings constructed in two phases with matching materials
and detailing. The earliest phase was a two-story, 50°-wide structure built in 1905, with a second 50°-wide
structure in 1907 that included the addition of a third story on the existing building. The first floor has been
significantly altered through the addition of new brick infill, aluminum doors and fixed windows, a plywood
paneling at the transoms on the western half, while the eastern half appears to have its cast fron and red sandstone
storefront largely intact underneath large plywood sheets that hide the storefront windows, doors and transoms. At
the second and third floors the facades are separated into three bays by flat brick piers. The second floor piers take
the form of tightly spaced brick quoins, while the third floor has brick pilasters with red sandstone bases and
capitals. '

Narrow outer bays at the second floor contain a single double hung wood frame 1/1 window. A large red
sandstone block spanning the width of the bay functions as a sill, and the head is composed of a flat arch of
stepped red sandstone voussoirs flanking a long, narrow keystone. Five double hung 1/1 wood frame windows fill
the central bay, with the outer twa windows slightly wider than the center three that are arranged as a grouping
separated by square brick Doric pillars with red sandstone capitals. Massive flat-faced red sandstone blocks are
used to create a continuous band for the window heads, and smaller blocks make up the band for the sills. Three
recessed brick panels decorate the spandre] between the second and third floors. Two smaller inset panels frame a
larger central dedication panel reading “Bridgemann & Russell.” The second floor windows on the western half
appear to be slightly different from those used elsewhere in the building, including a large transom above the 1/1
double hung unit.

Fenestration at the third floor follows a pattern similar to that on the second floor, differing only in its detailing.
Narrow red sandstone sills are supported by a row of decorative brick dentils in the center bay, and a series of six
vertical brick corbels at the outer bays, Oversized blocks of red sandstone are used for the heads, with the addition
of a sinuous arched molding over the heads of the outer bays. A row of decorative brick corbels finishes the third
floor immediately below a pressed metal cornice and a small brick parapet capped with thin red sandstone coping
stones, :

88. Historic Name: Spina Building
Current Name: Paper Hog/DSGW Architect
Address: 2-8 West 1% Street
Date: 1912
Architect: Anthony Puck
Contributing



NPS Form 10-900-a - OM8 Approval No, 1024-0018

- {Rev, 8-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service :

National Register of Historic Places

Continuation Sheet - Name of property _
: Duluth Commercial Historic District
County and State
Section 7 - Page 56 St. Louis County, Minnesota

Peter Spina of Stephenson, MN commissioned Anthony Puck to design this large, two-story cream brick and terra
cotta commercial structure sited on a 100’ x 607 sloping rectangular site at the intersection of 1* Street and Lake
Avenue. The second floor of the building was specifically designed for use of H. L. Coffin’s Dance Acaden A
and later became the home of Dreamland Ballroom. ' '

The primary fagade on the north face is broken into three bays, with the two smaller, outer bays projecting slightly
beyond the face of the larger central bay. The first floor has a total of eight cast iron columns across the storefront
stamped with the mark of “National Iron Co., Duluth.” Larger flat columns support the corners at the outer bays
and more slender columns are spaced across the central portions. The original windows, bulkheads and transoms
were replaced in 2000 with new aluminum frame fixed windows and entry doors, false divided light prism panels
in the transom, and a painted concrete bulkhead. A narrow continuous band of white terra cotta forms the head of
the storefront windows, and a wide continuous string course of terra cotta molding demarcates the base of the
second floor, wrapping around the east fagade as well. '

The two projecting outer bays of the second floor each contain one single-hung vinyl clad window with false

divided lights in a 9/9 pattern. A terra cotta sill sits below the window, and the head is formed by a continuous

string course of white tetra cotta that wraps around the north fagade and the northeast corner. Above the string

course the cream brick is decorated with a rectangular panel formed from soldier and stacked stretchers, with

-~ green glazed square tiles at each corner. A small vinyl-clad ocular window framed with a ring of soldier bricks is

 situated in the center of the brick panel. The upper edge of the circular brick frame touches the bottom of a
continuous projecting terra cotta corice decorated with large pendant dentils, which sits below a low brick
parapet topped by a terra cotta coping tiles. The wide central bay has eight large, single hung vinyl clad windows
with false divided lights in a 15/15 pattern. Each window is sct in a slightly recessed bay composed of a frame of
brick stretchers with a terra cotta sill. A continuous terra cotta string course forms the head for all of the windows,
and separates them from eight half round fixed vinyl clad windows with false divided lights in a fan light pattern.
The half round windows also are set in a recessed bay of brick stretchers and soldiers, which is decorated with a
terra cotta bracket as a keystone.

The east fagade includes a lower service level as a result of the sloping site with two access doors at the southern
end. At the first and second floors the fagade is broken into three bays, with the outer two projecting slightly as on
the north fagade. The northern bay is a continuation of the storefront system on the north fagade, while the two
southern bays arc cream brick pierced by four small fixed vinyl clad windows set hi gh in the wall. Each window
has a terra cofta sill and a continuous band of terra cotta molding as the window heads. The second floor is nearly
identical to the arrangement seen on the north fagade, with the number of windows in the central bay reduced
from eight to three. Another divergence is the presence of a steeply pitched pediment over the central bay at the
parapet level, which is supported at each end by pairs of terra cotta brackets joined by garlands. The pediment
frames a central red-and-white striped shield, set within a low terra cotta arch that rests on two more pairs of
brackets with garlands. Two low, wide inset terra cotta panels span between the bracket pairs.

89. Historic Name: Hockin Furniture
Current Name: USAN Building/Chamber of Commerce
Address: 1-7 West 1** Street
Date: 1924
Architect: unknown
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Contributing

This three-story variegated brown brick building occupies a roughly square site on the northwest corner of First
Street and Lake, and historically functioned as Hockin Furniture until 1938. In 1952 it became Arrowhead
Furniture and St. Germain Paint and Glass Shop, and now it is home to the Duluth Chamber of Commerce.
Although the basic brick masonry structure survives intact with its limestone detailing, the building has been
subjected to numerous changes, including new concrete block bulkhead, brick veneers, and new aluminum frame
doors and fixed windows at the first floor. Virtually all of the upper story windows on the primary south facade
were removed in 1988 and replaced with brick infill in a contrasting color and small aluminum frame fixed
windows with solid transom panels and tinted glazing.

EAST 15T STREET

90. Historic Name: Builders Exchange Building
Current Name: Welch Building
Address: 1-3 East 1° Street
Date: 1923
Architect: Franklin Chandler
Contributing

This five-story concrete frame building with a reddish-brown brick veneer was constracted in 1923 for the
Builders Exchange. The building is sited on a steeply sloping rectangular [ot at the northeast corner of the
intersection of First Street and Lake, and is connected to 1 West First Street by a skywalk that enters the building
at the third floor level on the west fagade. In its design the structure is a basic brick box, punctuated only by
regular rectangular window bays with concrete sills. The primary south fagade has six window openings at the
upper floors organized into two groups of three, while the west fagade has nineteen openings arranged into five
‘groups of three flanked by two groups of two at each end. All of the windows were removed and replaced with
aluminum frame 1/1 single hung units that have a solid metal transom panel. Although the original heavy square
cast iron piers are visible at the main entry, the first floor has been heavily altered on both facades, including new
brick veneer on the structural piers, infill panels covered with black lava rock, metal panels covering the transoms,
and brick infill in all the window and door openings on the west face. The upper two tloors of the exposed east
fagade have been sheathed in red vertical corrugated panels.

01, Historic Name: Interstate Auto
Current Name: Welch Building
Address: 5-7 East 1 Street
Date; 1910
Architect: unknown
Contributing

Constructed in 1910, this three-story orange brick building was the home of Interstate Auto until they moved to
206 East Superior Street in 1917. By 1923 it had been converted to an auto garage for Dututh Auto Exchange, and
at a later date it was connected to the adjacent property at 1-3 East First to create the Welch Building. Like the
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Welch Building, the original storefront has been modified with new brick facing, infill panels covered in black
Java rock, and metal paneling covering the transom. A single steel door in the infill gives access to the interior.

The brick masonry is largely intact at the second and third floors, including the three two-story brick pilasters that
separate the fagade into two equal bays. A red sandstone string course provides a continuous sill for the three tall
rectangular windows of the second floor bays, and larger sandstone blocks for a continuous head for each bay,
New aluminum frame 1/1 single hung windows with large metal transom panels were installed in the openings.
The pattern is repeated at the third floor with slightly shorter window openings and a series of two horizontal
brick corbels above the window heads that step out to a low, decorative parapet. Three rectangular brick panels
appear above each bay filled with brick laid in a herringbone pattern around a central inset diamond of red
sandstone and two half diamonds at either end. A plain metal coping protects the parapet wall.

The entire east wall of the building was covered in red corrugated metal siding pierced by five new fixed
aluminum frame windows at both the second and third floors. : :

92. Historic Name: NA
Current Name: Granite retaining wall
Address: 9 East 1% Street
Date: unknown
Architect: NA
Contributing

This original retaining wall is located between two historic buildings and is made of large black granite rocks in a
random pattern.

93. Historic Name: First Bank Drive up facility (demolished 1998)
Current Name: US Bank Parking Garage
Address: 10 East 1* Street
Date: 2000
Architect: unknown
Non-Contributing site

This structure does not fall within the period of significance for the historic district.

94, Historic Name: Dunlap Building
Current Name: Salo Building
Address: 15-17 East 1* Street
Date: 1948
Architect: Reinhold Milander
Non-contributing

This Spartan three-story cream brick Moderne structure was built in 1948. Space was leased to the William C.
Dunlap Flooring Co., Technical Print Company, and the engineering office of Jack Salo in 1950. By 1952 the
property hosed an office of the Minneapolis Star Tribune. Both the storefront and the window opening appear to
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be somewhat altered with both new configurations and new materials. Due to its construction date of 1948, this -
building does not fall within the period of significance for the historic district.

05. Historic Name: NA
Current Name: NA
Address: 19-23 East 1** Street
Date: unknown
Architect: NA
Non-contributing

This parking lot once had a historic building, therefore it is considered a non-contributing site.

96. Historic Name: Sher Bros & Co.
Current Name: Sher Bros & Co.
Address: 25 East 1% Street
Date: 1914
Architect: A, Werner Lignell
Contributing

This is a strikingly intact example of a brick two-story commercial/residential building on First Street. The small
cream brick structure was designed by local architect A. W. Lignell in 1914 for the Sher family, who lived in the
second floor apartment above their family business, Sher and Co. Meats which had become Sher Bros Wholesale
Meats by 1952,

Two brick pillars with limestone bases frame the large storefront opening and support a full-width brick spandrel
with a row of brick rowlocks at the storefront head. A single thin cast iron column provides structural support for
the opening, separating the main wood frame single light door on the east end with its Luxfer prism transom from
the fixed display windows in the center of the storefront. Cast iron frames support the display windows, Luxfer
prism transom panels, and bulkheads with their pebbled sccurity glazing. The largest plate window was replaced
with three smaller fixed windows in an alaminum frame over a metal panel. Two recessed wood panel doors and
tall glazed transoms fill the west end of the storefrent, and both have historic wood frame screen doors. A row of
brick soldiers sits below a continuous limestone string course that serves as a sill for the four window openings at
the second floor. The openings are defined by square brick columns that use soldicrs and headers to create
abstracted column bases and capitals. The original 1/1 double hung window units are somewhat hidden behind
new aluminum storm windows on the exterior. A simple cornice made from stacked rows of stretchers, soldiers
and rowlocks marks the bottom edge of the plain parapet wall. A large abstracted octagonal shield device cleverly
composed of stretchers, headers and rowlocks is situated in the center of the parapet, which is protected by a row
of terra cotta camel back coping tiles.

A view of the rear or south fagade of the building shows that it is physically joined to the adjacent property to the
east, 31 East First Street. The rear portion of the west fagade has nine low-arched openings at the second floor.
Four of these opening are boarded, but two have their original 1/1 double hung windows, and two are wood frame
doors with a glazed transom.
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97. Historic Name: Yale Laundry
Current Name: Building for Women
- Address: 30-32 East 1* Street
Date: 1901 - '
Architect: Edwin Radcliffe and L. Vernon Hill
Contributing

This two-story cream brick building sits on a sloping rectangular site at the intersection of 1¥ Street and 1%

" Avenue, providing for a basement or service level at the south end of the building. The primary two-story fagade
faces north onto East 1% Street. The original storefront was removed in 1999 and infilled with lighter cream brick,
new signage, and a row of eight large tinted aluminum frame 1/1 single hung windows. The two framing square
brick piers and continuous red sandstone lintel remain from the original configuration, as well as two cast iron
support columns stamped with a maker’s mark reading “National Iron Co. Daluth Minn” that divide the fagade
into three roughly equal bays. The second floor consists of a plain cream brick face punctuated by a series of eight
large window openings. The outer two bays contain a grouping of three new tinted glass aluminum frame single-
hung windows with a metal transom panel. The groups are unified by a common continuous red sandstone sill,
but each is topped by an individual lintel with a large brick flat or “jack” arch. The central bay has two single-
hung aluminum windows, each with a separate red sandstone sill and a flat arch brick lintel. A corbel composed
of four continuous stepped brick bands finishes the second floor, which is capped by a new metal coping.

The east facade is similar in appearance and exhibits many of the details seen on the primary fagade. The lower
story was designed with openings for two large overhead doors at the south end and eight large rectangular
window openings. All of these openings are now covered, with the exception of the southernmost overhead door,
which is still intact. The first and second stories each have thirteen new tinted glass single-hung aluminum frame
windows with metal spandrel panel, identical to those on the north fagade. Each opening has a simple red
sandstone sill and brick flat arch lintel.

98. Historic Name: Hobart Manufacturing Co.
Current Name: Lake Superior Bottle Shop
Address: 31 East 1% Street
Date: ca. 1908
Architect: John DeWaard
Contributing

This building was designed by architect John DeWaard and constructed by contractor Hugh Fawecett ca. 1908 as a
butcher supply business, By 1930 the storefront had been remodeled and it was occupied by a tailor shop. In 1945
the property was remodeled again, presumably by the new occupants Hobart Dayton factory, and in 1960 the
Zenith Orthopedic Appliance Center had become the primary lease holder. Yet another renovation altered the
storefront to its current configuration, which is now occupied by a liquor store.

Sited on a narrow east-west ariented lot on the northwest corner of First Street and First Avenue East, this two-
story brown brick building with dclicate limestone trim presents three large bays of storefront on the primary
south fagade. One historic cast iron column peeks through at the southwest corner, and small portions of the brick
structure and limestone base are visible as the frame for the large openings. The bulk of the first floor is devoted
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to new infill in a variety of forms — plywood panels, wood clapboard, and vertical wood siding cover the
bulkheads, transoms, and most of the area previously devoted to display windows, and the whole is peppered with
numerous paper, vinyl, plywood, and plastic signs. A row of new horizontal strip windows and a single
aluminum frame door in the central bay provide the only transparency in the first floor. An unadorned brick
spandrel panel is capped by a continuous row of brick rowlocks and a limestone string course, the latter serving as
a sill for the windows of the second floor which are arrayed in five unequal bays. Four of the bays contain a
grouping of three wood frame window units arranged as two 1/1 double hung windows flanking a larger fixed
window. The eastcrnmost bay is slightly larger, but follows the same pattern as the other bays. A continuous row
of brick soldiers form the window heads with each bay accentuated by a pair of square limestone block inserted
on either side of the bays. Yet another limestone string course tops the header course below a low brick parapet
wall, which is finished by a projecting pressed metal comice with brackets.

99, Historic Name: Toverilla Hotel
Current Name: Frances E, Skinner Apartments
Address: 102-108 East 1“ Street
Date: 1917
Architect: unknown
Contributing

This three-story brown-brick commercial building with a rectangular plan is situated on a sloping site with its
longest side facing East 1% Street. The wire-cut brick fagade is relatively spartan in its decoration, and is separated
into three bays by a slight setback of the central portion. At the first floor, square brick pillars with red sandstone
bases demarcate five original storefront openings and a narrow entryway. An inset glazed square tile sits atop
each pillar and separates slightly projecting brick spandrel panels above each opening, The original storefront
systems were removed and replaced by stucco infill with wood trim, new aluminum frame single hung windows,
and glazed tile bulkheads. Although not confirmed, the application of new tile in vertical bands in the center of
each opening suggests that original cast iron structural members may survive behind. The second and third floors
are identical, with two single-hung aluminum frame windows with narrow red sandstone sills over a band of
rowlock headers, and flat arch brick lintels in the outer two bays. Two groups of three single hung windows fill
the central bay. The second floor windows rest on a continuous projecting band of brick rowlock headers, while
the third floor windows lintels are created by a continuous projecting band of brick soldiers. A very subtle

proj ecting brick spandrel panel separates the second from the third floor windows, and a projecting pressed metal
cornice sits slightly below a low parapet wall entu'ely clad in new metal panels and coping.

The west facade repeats the motifs of the primary fagade, with a single small infilled storefront wrapping the
corner at the first floor. Originally four rectangular window openings were present at the first floor, but one small
window has been infilled, as well as the transom of another larger opening at the south end. The two remaining
openings now have single hung aluminum windows. Both the second and third floors have six even spaced
openings, all matching those on the north fagade.

100.Historic Name: Union Fur Company/Thorsell-Nesgoda Garage
Current Name: On Eagle’s Wings
Address: 110-112 East 1** Street
Date: 1922
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Architect: unknown
Contrﬂ)utmg '

Thls simple tan brick building with a long, narrow rectangular plan was or1g1na11y constructed as the Union Fur
Company in 1922 with two floors of residential units above. The commercial storefront at the first floor was later
converted to use as the First Street Exchange Pawn. The storefront has been altered through the removal of the _
original entry doors, windows, bulkheads and transoms, now replaced with aluminum storefront windows, a set of
aluminum double doors, and large plywood signage panels. The secondary entry door providing access to the
upper floor residential area has been replaced with a new hollow metal paneled door. The second and third floors
of the front fagade remain largely intact, with two pairs of two 1/1 double hung wood windows on each floor.
Aluminum storm windows have been added on the exterior of each window unit. Each window pair is joined by a
broad, flat wood mullion and rests on a plain cast concrete sill. The flat brick facade is relieved only by a'narrow
pressed metal cornice below a low brick parapet wall that exhibits moisture damage. Cast concrete coping tiles
cap the parapet. :

The separate one-story Thorsell-Nesgoda Garage building was constructed at the rear of the property in 1922. The
low, concrete block building has a rectangular plan that is oriented along and east-west axis, and is joined to the

- rear of two adjacent buildings. On the east it abuts the rear of the Wabasha Bookstore, but does not appear to be
physically linked to it. On the west and south it is joined to the Duluth Family Sauna.

101.Historic Name: International Harvester Company
Current Name: Wabasha Bookstore/Fuzzy’s Place
Address: 114-116 East 1% Street
Date: 1924
Architect: unknown
Contributing

This small one-story commercial building has a long, narrow footprint that adjoins, but is not linked to, the
Thorsell-Nesgoda garage building at the rear of the adjacent western lot. Originally constructed for the
International Harvester Company, it functioned as Moose Lodge #505 during the 1970s and 1980s, before being
sold and converted to its current uses. While the original reddish-brown wire-cut face brick forming the “frame”
for the storefront is intact, the bulk of the fagade is a large central storefront opening that has been modified with
the introduction of new aluminum entry doors, vertical wood siding, vinyl tile over a curved plywood wall, a
small amount of brick facing, and a new vinyl awning. A flat band of cast concrete separates the storefront from
the large stepped brick parapet, which is framed in its entirety by a stepped band of cast concrete, which also
serves as the parapet coping along the upper edge. A large backlit plastic sign has been attached to the center of
the parapet.

102, Historic Name: Gray Brothers Bakery
Current Name: Duluth Auto Sales
Address: 118-120 East 1* Street
Date: 1904
Architect: J.J. Marberry or John J. Wangenstien
Contributing :
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This is a Renaissance Revival style two-story commercial structure set on a deep lot with a long, rectangular plan
and exposed sidewalls of common brick. The first floor is composed of two outer brick piers with flat red
sandstone bases and details, which frame a large storefront opening. No original material from the Gray Brothers
Bakery survives, replaced with new infill materials in 1937 when the function was switched to auto sales.
Diagonal wood siding covers much of the storefront and transoms on the western half of the first floor, with
vertical wood siding, a wood shingled canopy and stone veneer facing on the eastern half. Two paneled hollow
metal doors, a hollow metal sidelight, a new overhead door, and two fixed aluminum frame windows have been
inserted into the storefront. A full width pressed metal comice separates the first floor from the second.

The second floor is divided into three bays, with the center bay slightly set back and pierced by a row of four
single-hung wood frame windows with new aluminum storms. Each window rests on a red sandstone sill and is
topped by a half round brick arch with a long, thin red sandstone keystone framing a tinted plaster panel decorated
with a garland molded in low relief. Only three inset panels survive, and appear to be badly deteriorated from
moisture damage. The outer two bays are defined by large, tightly-spaced, brick quoins on each edge framing a
single double hung 1/1 wood frame window with a red sandstone sill and brick flat arch head with a prominent
brick keystone. Three projecting flat brick bands decorate the upper portion of the second floor below a band of
wide brick dentils and a full width pressed metal cornice. A low brick parapet capped with concrete coping stones
terminates the facade.

103, Historic Name: Northwest Radio
Current Name: Viking Mlcrographlcs
- Address: 123 East 1* Street
Date: 1950
Architect: Giliuson and Ellington
Non-contributing

This is a two-story cream brick building constructed in 1950 for Northwest Radio by Giliuson and Eliingsen
architects. They also prov1ded the small two-story addition on the east in 1953. The recessed entry door with its
cantilevered metal canopy is original to the period of construction, but several windows have been replaced with
new casement units or glass block, This building falls outside the period of significance for the historic district.

104, Historic Name: Model Laundry
Current Name: First Street Exchange Pawnbroker
Address: 126 East 1% Street
Date: 1911
Architect: E, H. Branton
Contributing

This three-story commercial structure has a red-orange brick fagade with common brick sidewalls and a small
one-story brick addition at the rear, Traces of historic painted signage remain on the west fagade. The first floor of
the primary facade is composed of a cast iron storefront framed by flat brick piers that are highlighted by rough-
faced red sandstone banding at the base, middle and top. Little remains of the original storefront, with the
exception of the two central iron columns and the large steel head beam. As part of a 1996 renovation, new
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aluminum frame windows and doors were inserted into the ori ginal openings, while the transoms and bulkheads
were replaced or covered by wood siding, flat wood trim, and new signage. The second and third floors are
divided into two bays and are framed by two slightly projecting flat piers. '

The second floor has two pairs of 1/1 double hung wood frame windows with sills composed of a single,
continuous rusticated band of red sandstone. Each window opening has a large arched brick head that
encompasses two windows surrounded by a flat wood panel that creates arched heads above each window unit.
The third floor has four individual 1/1 double hung window units with large brick flat arch heads and a single,
continuous, rusticated red sandstone band forming the sill. A decorative parapet is separated from the third floor
by a narrow band of projecting brick. A series of six elongated brick corbels flank a small rectangular opening
with a large red sandstone sill. The window appears to be a new fixed aluminum frame unit with a blank metal
panel above. The parapet is capped by a low metal coping. An historic steel fire escape is attached to the fagade at
the second and third floors, with a narrow ladder providing access to the roof. ‘

105. Historic Name: unknown
Current Name: vacant
Address 125 East 1** Street
Date: unknown
Architect: unknown
Contributing

This is a modest, two-story variegated brown brick commercial building with an open storefront at the first tloor
and residential or office space on the second floor. Portions of the historic storefront system survive at the first
floor level, separating the opening into two small and unequal bays, each with its own entry door, display
windows, and transoms. New plywood panels and clapboard siding infill the bulkheads and display windows,
which have been replaced with small new aluminum frame fixed and sliding units, and both doors have been
replaced. A row of brick soldiers are used for the header of the storefront opening, leading to a plain brick
spandrel panel with a row of brick rowlocks at the sill of the second floor window openings. The single large
window opening contains four historic wood frame window units composed of a large fixed unit below a multi-
light transom panel above. Three of the four transoms are fixed, while the easternmost transom is operable. As at
the first floor, a row of brick soldiers forms the window head for the opening. A low brick parapet ends abruptly
at a metal coping, which may be the result of an alteration that replaced the original coping.

106. Historic Name: unknown
Current Name: unknown
Address: 127-129 East 1% Street
Date: ca. 1880s
Architect: unknown
Contributing .

At the northwest corer of the intersection of First Street and Second Avenue East are a series of reddish-orange
brick Romanesque rowhouses that have since been modified into apartments with a single story bar attached to
the First Street fagade. Like most Victorian rowhouses of the late nineteenth century, the first floor or loggia of
each unit is raised above the street level and accessed by a formal entry stair at the main entries, often covered by
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a decorative porch or canopy. The lower level usually takes the form of a heavy rusticated base or foundation, and
the spaces within were frequently of a utilitarian or service nature. Here the rough-faced red sandstone ashlar

masonry of the lower level is obscured by the one-story wood shingle bar that was constructed along the entire

south fagade and a portion of the east fagade. o ' :

The composition was originally designed as four rowhouses — one small unit on the western end of the south
fagade, one very large unit that filled the entire southeast corner, and then two smaller units stepping up the hill to
the north. Although all are constructed of reddish-orange brick with sandstone details, and they draw on the same
stylistic vocabulary of projecting bays, half-round and segmental arch windows, and brick corbels, care was taken
to differentiate each unit in its specific features and detailing. The south fagade being the primary face of the
building, these units received the most elaborate treatment that includes-a pair of matched bays incorporating
textured and molded brickwork at the first floor, and a pair of freestanding Corinthian columns supporting half-
timbered gables at the second floor. A large three-quarter round turret is the prominent feature at the southwest
corner, pierced by numerous window openings at both floors-and crowned with a cornice of two rows of vertical
corbels and 2 metal fascia that projects above the masonry, the latter now removed or obscured by alterations.

While the brick masonry and stone details appear to be largely intact, albeit suffering from the effects of moisture
damage, very few of the original doors and windows are visible. Most of the windows have been boarded over,
partially covered with panels, or replaced with new aluminum frame units and metal panels in multiple
configurations. At least one pair of historic wood paneled doors survive at the northernmost entry, but most others
were removed and replaced with new wood or metal doors. The projecting metal cornice that faithfully follows
the complex plan of curves, flats, and projections is desperately in need of repair and is showing signs of severe
deterioration and inappropriate maintenance. The same is true of the low metal roof that caps the cornice, which
has failed and detached in some areas.

107. Historic Name: Duluth Armory
Current Name: unknown '
Address: 201-207 East 1* Street
Date: 1896
Architect: Edwin Radcliffe and Charles Willoughby
Contributing

Constructed in 1896, the Duluth Armory was built for the 3™ Regiment of Minnesota. By 1909 the structure
housed a farmer’s market, in 1930 it was used by the Duluth Automobile Club and several car and truck dealers,
and in 1952 the Duluth Shriners occupied space along with a drum and bugle band, a women’s art group and
Zenith City Buick. This is a 3 Y-story, rectangular brick building located at the northeast corner of East 1¥ Street
and 2" Avenue. As originally constructed, the primary fagade fronted onto 1% Street and was divided into four
large glass storefronts which continued onto the secondary western fagade by wrapping the comer, which was set
on a diagonal to accommodate a main entry. This storefront has been altered with metal and stucco siding across
all of the 1% Street fagade and a small part of the 2*! Avenue fagade. Brick pilasters divide the primary fagade into
four bays, the central bay being the widest. The second floor has twelve double hung 1/1 wood frame windows
with stone lintels and sills; some of these have been partially infilled or covered with plywood. The third floor
was originally pierced by seventeen double hung 1/1 wood frame windows, four of which were paired; the paired
windows were removed at an unknown date and infilled with glass block, and most of the other windows are now
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covered with plywood. The top floor has seven double hung 1/1 wood frame windows centered in the fagade,
above which are the raised letters “3™ REG ARMORY” set in a semicircular pattern. The crenelated, stepped
parapet contains in the center the raised numbers “1896.” The west elevation is pierced by multiple window
openings on all three floors, some of which are covered with plywood or other materials. The east and rear
elevations are covered with metal siding.

'108. Historic Name: Jenswold Motor Company
Current Name: Sturm Brothers Plumbing and Heating (north fagade)/Gene’s Auto Body (west facade)
Address: 202-206 East 1% Street
Date: 1924
Architect: unknown
Non-contributing

This is a large one-story structure with a roughly square plan sited on a corner lot sloping sharply upward from
south to north creating a lower level at the south end of the west fagade. The storefront on the north fagade and the
north end of the west facade were heavily altered in 1995 by the insertion of new brick masonry infill in a
contrasting brick. On the north fagade, three original tan brick piers survive with plain concrete bases and a small
cast concrete capital. Three new piers in a reddish-tan brick were added to create three storefront bays and three
entry ways, two of which contain a new aluminum frame door and a larger opening that holds a new paneled
metal overhead door. The bays have been infilled with new brick to create a series of three false arched window
openings for new aluminum frame fixed windows with brick header sills. Painted cast concrete details with
Prairie Style influences have been affixed to the top of all new and original piers and a row of painted dentils
added at the top of each bay. A cast metal cornice and a band of cast concrete panels separates the storefront from
the tall tan brick parapet that is divided into three bays by four flat brick piers. The two outer bays are stepped
with a low sloping peak and a central projecting brick detail in an abstracted geometric pattern, while the central
bay is flat with a series of three brick pendant details in the center. The parapet is finished with a cast concrete
coping, :

The west fagade has seven clearly defined bays, the northernmost three following the same pattern as the north
facade. One bay has been infilled with new brick and two false arched windows, while the other two bays retain
their original configuration, with the exception of a new vinyl casement window unit topped with a half round
fixed transom inserted into an original window opening. A series of five small window openings at the lower level
have been infilled with blank painted panels. The southernmost four bays are distinctly different in their detailing,
but clearly tied to the rest of the building through their shared parapet and the use of tan brick. At the lower level
the first floor has two halves, the southern filled with a new storefront containing aluminum frame windows, glass
block infill, and painted wood trim and plywood panels. The northern half is dominated by a large metal overhead
door. The original entry door was replaced with a new wood panel door, sidelight and plywood transom, and an
original opening covered with a plywood panel. Concrete panels similar to those on the north fagade separate the
lower floor from the first, and a new plywood sign has been attached to the face. A pair of two 1/1 wood frame
double hung windows pierce each bay at the first floor level. Four of the windows have been damaged or altered
and the panes covered with unpainted plywood. Each window pair shares a common cast concrete sill, and the
window heads are formed by a continuous cast concrete band. The tall parapet has seven bays formed by flat
brick piers, all of which are capped by cast concrete coping. ‘
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109. Historic Name: unknown
Current Name: Vacant
Address: 208 East 1" Street
Date: 1886 or 1922
Architect: unknown
Non-contributing

This small one-story red-orange brick building was significantly altered in 1948 when the upper two stories were
taken down and two bay windows at the second floor were removed and the openings infilled with common brick.
An original large storefront window and entry door at the ground floor were removed in 1948 as well, then
infilled with brick and parged with stucco. Two new recessed, angled openings were created for a large fixed
window with a streamlined aluminum sill, and a new entry door with transom. The fagade was covered with
peach Cararra tile accented with a single band of dark red at the top edge. Approximately 90 percent of the tile
was mechanically removed in the 1990s or simply failed, leaving numerous discs of adhesive adhered to the brick.

110, Historic Name: The Motor Mart -
Current Name: Uncle Dunbar’s Auto Body
Address: 210 East 1 Street '
Date: 1923
Architeet: John J. Wangenstein
Contributing

This small one-story storefront has a rectangular footprint and a fagade of dark reddish-brown wire-cut brick. The
bulk of the fagade is devoted to a large overhead metal door, new aluminum frame storefront windows with metal
panel bulkheads, new aluminum frame door and sidelights, and a red vinyl awning system over the original
transoms, The low parapet is detailed with three inset brick panels that have a single small, square tile in each of
the four corners. The top of the brick parapet is essentially flat, but a cast concrete coping enlivens the profile with
a stepped detail in the center and a small step at each end serving as a base for a cast concrete globe.

111. Historic Name: Scarlett Feed Store
-Current Name: Scarlett Feed Store
Address: 213-215 East 1% Street
Date: 1912
Architect: George and William Smith, Emerson Volkes
Contributing

This two-story commercial building has a rectangular footprint and a facade of light orange-tan brick. The fagade
has a large overhead metal door in the center flanked by a pair of cast iron columns, a pair of wood doors with
transoms, wood siding, and large plate glass windows. The second floor has two large window walls, each with a
group of five 1/1 wood double hung sash with transoms. Corbeled brick above the windows enlivens the upper
part of the fagade, which has a metal coping at the front and curved clay tile coping on the sidewalls. The west-
facing side elevation is exposed because the adjoining building was demolished.

112. Historic Name: Duluth Ford Exchange
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Current Name: Uncle Dunbar’s Auto Body

Address: 214-216 East 1% Street

Date: 1924 7

Architect; George and William Smith, Emerson Volkes
Contributing

Constructed in 1924 for automobile sales, this two-story building has a large rectangular footprint with 2
storefront and open plan on the first, and office spaces on the second. The primary fagade is constructed of dark
multi-color bricks ranging from dark reddish-orange to brown. It is divided into three equal bays at both floors.
An original wood frame, single-light door and transom survive at the east end of the storefront, but the remainder
was altered through the insertion of new aluminum fixed windows and wide aluminum siding covering the
transoms and bulkheads. The central bay consists entirely of a large metal overhead door framed by structural
columns. The bays at the second floor are identical recessed large brick panels containing three evenly spaced 1/1
wood frame double hung windows sharing a common cast concrete sill. A series of four projecting brick stretch
bands support a flat cast concrete string course that forms a simple cornice. The low brick parapet has been
capped by new metal coping.

113. Historic Name: Radisson Hotel
Current Name: Union Gospel Mission Complex
Address: 217-219 East 1* Street
Date: 1912
Architect: unknown
Contributing

Built in 1924 as the Radisson Hotel (which has no relationship to the current hotel chain), this two-story tan brick
building has a rectangular plan. The fagade has been drastically altered with plywood and metal siding, new doors
and windows, and new signage. The symmetrical second floor has four pairs of 1/1 wood double hung windows
with concrete sills and rectangular-shaped panels of soldier brick above and below each set of windows, The end
walls have vertically-oriented decorative brick panels with Chevron patterns surrounded by soldier bricks.
Centered in the facade is a diamond-shaped cast concrete panel set in a rectangular box of soldier bricks. There is
a metal-covered wood cornice just below the stepped parapet, which is covered with concrete coping. The east-
facing wall is exposed and has five window openings on the first and second floors which have been infilled.

114. Historic Name: Turner Automobiles
Current Name: parking
Address: 218-222 East 1** Street
Date: 1908 _
Architect: Olson and Magney
Non-contributing

This is a long, narrow three-story brick structure with common brick sidewalls. The original materials and
configuration of the primary fagade was obscured in 1967 by the addition of an aluminum and aqua enameled
panel fagade system over the original at the second and third floors. Each half contains four tinted, fixed glass
panels in aluminum frames at the upper floors, Three square structural columns at the first floor create two bays,
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one filled with two glass and metal overhead doors and the other infilled with new aluminum storefront windows
and doors and vertical metal siding at the bulkhead. The columns have been covered with one-inch square multi-
~ color ceramic tile. '
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' Duluth News Tribune, August 21, 1910, Pt. 4, p. 1. _

% Poplar, Kelly, “Then & Now”, Duluth News Tribune (November 29, 2003),

? Duluth Daily News, December 24, 1889; Duluth Herald, April 19, 1926, Sec. 12,p. 7.
* Duluth News Tribune, January 7, 1906; July 1, 1906; December 17, 1906, Sec. 11, p. 12.

* Duluth Herald, March 24, 1917, p. 10; Duluth Herald, October 19, 1922, p. 1; Duluth News Tribune, October 19, 1922, p.
3, : : ‘

% “Two Day Celebration to Mark Hotel Completion”, The Duluth Herald, Hotel Duluth Edition (March 21, 1925): 2 and
“Noted Hotel Architect Directed Construction of Hotel Duluth”, ibid: 6.

7 “Story of Hotel Reads Like Real Romance”, ibid: 10.

® “Hotel Duluth Once of the Most Beautiful on the Continent”, ibid.:3.

*Duluth Herald, March 26, 1906,

' Duluth Herald, July 19, 1893, Sec. 6, p. 3; April 3, 1895, Sec. 5, p. 1.

Y Duluth Herald, February 22, 1909, Sec. 8, p. 3; Sepiember 17, 1901, Sec. 7, p. 2.
 Duluth Building Permit #41864 (1939)

5 Duluth Building Permit #9295

** Duluth Building Permit #6575

Y Duluth News Tribune, April 22, 1906.

'® Duluth Building Permit #1198.

' Duluth Building Permit #8025

'® Duluth Building Permit #1828.

" Duluth Building Permit #6780,

® Duluth Building Permit #1731.

#l«“Duluth’s Latest Modern...” Duluth News Tribune, November 16, 1911.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Located in the geographical heart of Duluth, the central business district encompasses the core of the city’s
present downtown commercial area, which evolved from the center of the nineteenth- and early twentieth-century
city. The boundaries of the commercial core are defined for the most part by prominent natural and man-made
barriers, and changes to the historic character of the central business district. Interstate Highway 35 and railroad
tracks form a barrier to the south; open space and parking lots mark a visual transformation to the east of 3™
Avenue East; a change in building usage from commercial to residential around 2" Street defines the north; and a
combination of new construction and the introduction of government buildings forms a barrier to the west at about
4™ Avenue West. :

Most land encompassed within the central business district assumes the form of a relatively flat plane that extends
along the shore of Lake Superior and rises rather abruptly toward the rocky bluffs that surround Duluth to the
north. Shaped like a rectangle, the commercial core extends for nearly nine blocks running in an east-west
direction, and embraces two major east-west traffic arteries: East and West Superior Street, which is also
designated as U.S. Highway 61, and East and West 1% Street. Seven streets bisect the historic district boundary in
a north-south direction: North 1* Avenue West, North 2™ Avenue West, North 3™ Avenue West, and North 4
Avenue West, all located west of Lake Avenue; and North 1% Avenue East, North Second Avenue East, and North
3" Avenue East, which are located east of Lake Avenue. Overall, the historic district area encompasses
approximately 45 acres of land and includes 114 major buildings.

The historic commercial buildings of Duluth are significant under National Register Criterion A in the area of
Commerce for their association with the commercial development of downtown Duluth during the turn of the
century. These buildings gain historical significance because over the course of the late nineteenth and early
- twentieth centuries, Duluth emerged as the commereial, industrial, financial, transportation, and social and
. cultural heart of northern Minnesota’s foremost urban-industrial center. Buildings constructed between 1872 and -
1933 that are associated with those enterprises are among Duluth’s most important historic resources. As the
county seat of St. Louis County, Duluth provided a variety of retail, professional, banking, freight, and
warehousing services to the area, This activity is represented by the remaining historic commercial buildings in
the historic district. They reflect the general affluence the community experienced during the period of
significance through their design, materials, and workmanship,

Superior Street has historically been the focal point for commercial activity in downtown Duluth. By 1872 three
banks had been built around Superior and First Avenue West, including the three-story stone Duluth Savings
Bank, The Duluth Board of Trade was organized in 1881, and by 1887 more than a dozen financial institutions
had been established in the city. In 1883 mule-driven streetcars began carrying passengers along Superior Street
between 8" Avenue West and 3™ Avenue Fast, which was the primary area for residents to shop and conduct
business. A flurry of construction activity in 1889 by both the City of Duluth and private individuals reinforced
the image of Superior Street as the heart of the central business district. The City hired Oliver Traphagen to
design new City Hall and City Jail buildings adjacent to each other at 132 and 126 East Superior, while on the
upper side of Superior the architects McMillen and Stebbins saw their stone Masonic Temple Opera Block rise
eight stories.
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In order to accommodate the many visitors and residents arriving in Duluth, numerous hotels and retail stores
were built during the late nineteenth century in the downtown area, During the early 1880s architect George Wirth
helped shape the appearance of the north side of the 0-100 block of West Superior Street by designing three :
different commercial buildings: the Bell and Eyster Bank (1884, 3 West Superior); the Silberstein and Bondy Dry
Goods Company (1884, 9-11 West Superior), which was built for Bernard and Nettie Silberstein, two Hungarian
immigrants who settled in Duluth in 1870; and the Wirth Building (1886, 13 West Superior), built for George
Wirth's brother Max as a pharmacy and residence. Architect Wirth teamed with Oliver Traphagen and Francis
Fitzpatrick to design the J.J. Costello Hardware and Stoves Building (1 884) at 22-24 East Superior, which was
doubled in size in 1891. Traphagen also designed the Wieland Block (1889, 26 East Superior), which housed,
among other tenants, the Duluth News Tribune. The Tremont Hotel (1890), designed by Austin Terryberry,
enjoyed a prime location near the corner of Superior and Lake Avenue, and just downhill from there the J.C.
Schobes Bakery and Confectionery (1894) was built at 25 West Superior.

Other organizations associated with commercial development in Duluth also constructed substantial buildings in
the central business district during the late nineteenth century to reinforce their commitment to downtown. The
Duluth Board of Trade, which was organized in 1881, built their fourth home in 1895 at 301-307 West 1* Street, a

- massive, seven-story red sandstone and brick Romanesque structure designed by arguably the city’s leading
architect, Oliver Traphagen. One year later, in 1896, the four-story brick Duluth Armory was erected at the
northwest corner of East 1% Street and 2™ Avenue according to the design of architects Edwin Radeliffe and
Charles Willoughby. In addition to serving as a training facility for the 3™ Regiment of Duluth, the building also

. functioned as a market for area farmers. o

As Duluth’s population exploded during the first two decades of the twentieth century, various other businesses
located along Superior Street and 1¥ Street. The Bridgeman-Russell Company, a business that became “one of the
largest creamery houses in America,” hired the architect John Wangenstein to build 2 new two-story office in
1905 and expanded it in 1907 at 10-16 West 1¥ Street. Next door to the Bridgeman-Russell Company, Peter Spina
commissioned Anthony Puck in 1912 to design a large, two-story cream brick and terra cotta commercial building
sited on a 100° x 60" sloping rectangular site at the intersection of 1% Street and Lake Avenue. The second floor of
the building was specifically designed for the H.L. Coffin Dance Academy. John Wangenstein designed
numerous other commereial blocks during the early twentieth century, including the Gray Brothers Bakery (1904)
at 118-120 E. 1* Street; the massive Wolvin Building (1901) at 225-231 West 1% Street, which housed the offices
of the Oliver Mining Company; the Rowley Building (1905) at 112 W. 1* Street, a more traditional two-story
combination commercial and residential structure; and the Altman Clothing Building (1922) at 201-207 West 1
Street. . :

By the 1920s automobiles had started to become popular in Duluth, and numerous buildings were constructed to
respond to the increased demand for this new form of transportation. A cluster of buildings eventually developed
in the 200 and 300 blocks of East Superior Street and East 1% Street that became known as “automobile row.”
Among these buildings are the Gannon Auto Supplies Building (1912) at 216-218 E. Superior; McNamara
Automobiles (1913) at 318 East Superior; the Mutual Automobile Company (1915) at 302 East Superior; the
Interstate Automobile Company (1915) at 206-214 East Superior; the Knudsen Automobile Company (1919) at
202 East Superior; the Jacob Kahn Auto Store (1920) at 228 East Superior; the Northwestern Cadillac Company
(1920) at 314 East Superior; the Orpheum Service Garage (1925) at 207-213 East Superior; the Rockhill Buick
Company (1928) at 222 East Superior; the Jenswold Motor Company (1924) at 202-206 East 1% Street; the Motor
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Mart (1923) AT 210 East 1% Street; the Duluth Ford Exchange (1924) at 214-216 East 1% Street; and Turner
Automobiles (1908) at 218-222 East 1* Street. B

Architectural Significance

The commercial buildings are architecturally significant under National Register Criterion C for two reasons:
First, the historic core of downtown Duluth retains two notable concentrations of buildings (as well as
approximately two dozen substantially intact buildings outside the boundaries of the two districts), which
effectively document the area’s principal period of significance and illustrate examples of national trends in
commercial architecture during the late nineteenth and early twenticth centuries. Reflecting the late Victorian
influence, the turn-of-the-century buildings have decorative brick corbelling, cast iron storefronts, and stone
arched lintels or segmentally arched windows. With their columns, pilasters, keystones, and symmetrical facades,
the buildings constructed in the early 1900s reflect the classical influences of the Neoclassical Revival style.

Second, downtown Duluth retains a sizable number of distinguished individual buildings designed in a variety of
different architectural styles. Many of these latter buildings are known to have been designed by locally
prominent or nationally renowned nineteenth- and early twentieth-century architects, such as Daniel Burnham,
Francis Fitzpatrick, William Hunt, Oliver Traphagen, John Wangenstein, and George Wirth (see below). Several
buildings also display the exceptional stone carving of George Thrana, whose work is often found around the
entrances to buildings or on decorative stones placed on a wall.

The Wirth Building at 13 West Superior Street (1886) was designed by George Wirth and is the only building in
the historic district that is already individually listed in the National Register.

Below is a list of archiitects who either practiced in Duluth or designed one or more buildings located in Duluth.

Bray, William T. (1868-1959) Bray was born in New York and practiced as an architect in Duluth from 1897 to
1925. During the first two decades of the twentieth century he partnered with Carl Nystrom, and together they
designed at least 25 residential buildings in Duluth. In the downtown area, Bray designed the Commereial Club
(1909) at 402 W. 1 Street; a one-story addition (ca.1910) on the building located at 22 W. 1% Street; the Christie
Building (demolished); and a building located at 23-25 E. Superior St. (1912, demolished). In addition to these
commercial properties, Bray also designed at least six residences, mostly on Duluth’s east side. Bray also
designed many public schools on the Tron Range, including the Hibbing High School (NRHP), erected between
1919-1921.

Burnham, Daniel H. (1846-1912) Burnham was born in Henderson, N.Y., but grew up in Chicago. In 1873 he
formed a partnership with John W. Root who, along with several other firms, shaped and led the Chicago School
of skyscraper architecture. During their 18~year partnership, Burnham and Root built hotels, railway stations,
stores, warehouses, schools, hospitals, churches and more than 200 private residences and apartment buildings.
Yet, their greatest achievements were the tall office buildings that would come to be called skyscrapers.
Burnham’s grand vision and interest in the classical revival gave impetus to the City Beautiful movement, whose
principles were reflected in the 1902 plan for the renewal of the Mall area of Washington, D.C., and in the more
modest plan for the Duluth Civic Center complex, which includes his design for the St. Louis County Courthouse
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(1909, NRHP). Burnham also designed the Alworth Building (1910) located at 306 W. Superior St., and, with
John J. Wangenstein, an addition to the Duluth Board of Trade Building (1 909).2

Erickson, Ernest R. (ca.1890-1972) Erickson attended the University of Minnesota and moved to Virginia, MN
in 1919 where he warked with the county engineer. He practiced in Duluth for over 25 years before moving to '
Evanston, Illinois in 1943, where he established a private practice and designed several apartment buildings in
Chicago and a number of houses and apartments on Chicago’s North Shore. In Duluth he designed the Medical
Arts Building (1932-33) located at 324 W. Superior Street, the Miller Memorial Hospital, and the Western
National Bank (1928-29) located at 5629 Grand Ave. He also designed the Hibbing Memorial Building, five
schools in Brainerd, and numerous other buildings.’

Fitzpatrick, Francis (1863-1931) Fitzpatrick was born in Montreal, Canada, His earliest known work experience
was with Leroy S. Buffington in Minneapolis, where he was employed as a draftsman from 1884 to 1887, He then
became a draftsman for the brothers Fremont and George Orff in 1888-89 and, in 1890, was manager of the
Minnesota Decorating Company. In about 1890 Fitzpatrick moved to Duluth and entered into a partnership with
Oliver Traphagen, with whom he worked until 1896. Together Traphagen and Fitzpatrick designed well over 30
commercial and residential buildings in Duluth, the most notable of which include the Torrey Building (1892)
located at 314-16 W. Superior St.; the Board of Trade Building (1894) located at 301 W. 1 St.; Fire Station #1
(c.1890, NRHP) located at the corner of 1* Ave. E. and 3" St.; the Lyceum Theatre (1892, demolished); and
Munger Terrace (1892, NRHP) located at 405 Mesaba Ave. In 1896 Fitzpatrick relocated to Washington, D.C.
where he was employed as foreman of the Office of the Supervising Architect of the Treasury from 1897 to 1903..
During that time, he is known to have supervised the construction of the Chicago Post Office and possibly the
U.S. Government Building, as well as working as a freelance draftsman. In 1903 he set up his own practice, and
in 1918 he became head of the architectural department of the Bankers Realty Investment Company of Omaha,
Nebraska. He remained in this position only a short time, for by 1920 he was living in Evanston, Illinois, and was
described4by a contemporary as a “hearty, red-faced, stoutish man who seemed older than the 56 years” he was at
that time.

German, Frederick G. (1863-1937) German was born in Ontario and worked in several New York architects’
offices before coming to Duluth in 1892, During the 1890s German practiced with John de Waard, from-1905 to
1912 with A. Werner Lignell, and from 1913 to about 1928 with Leif Jenssen. He designed numerous churches, a
warehouse for the Marshall-Wells Company, the YMCA and YWCA buildings, and several buildings in
communitsies located on the Iron Range including the Virginia Memorial Recreation Building and the Virginia
City Hali.

Hall, Lucien P. (?-1933) Hall was a partner with Emmet S. Palmer, With Palmer he designed the Ideal Market
(1907) located at 102 W. 1% Street; and the Minnesota National Bank (1893) located at 222 W. Superior St. In

‘partnership with Palmer and Hunt he designed the Duluth Central High School (1892, NRHP), the Bijou Theatre
(1903) located at 12-14 E. Superior St.; and the building located at 114-116 W. 1% Street (1900). In 1910 Hall
moved to Deerwood, Minnesota.

Hunt, William Allen (1859-1930) Hunt was born in Cincinnati, Ohio, studied architecture there, and came to
Minneapolis where he spent eight years before arriving in Duluth in 1889, The firm of Palmer and Hall hired
Hunt to manage their Duluth office, which he did for two years before becoming a partner until about 1892, after
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" which he left the firm and established his own office. Among Hunt’s notable designs are the Lonsdale Building
(1895), Duluth Central High School (1892, NRHP), Irving School (1894, NRHP), and Old Main (1898,
demolished) on the original campus of the University of Minnesota, Duluth. During the early 20" century Hunt
designed the Bijou Theater (1903}, the Wolvin Building (1904), the Sellwood Building (1908), the Albert Salter
Saloon (1910), the Frederick Hotel (1908), and numerous other commercial and residential buildings i Duluth.
Working with Emmet Palmer he designed the Hayes Block in 1906. By about 1916 Hunt had become supervising
architect for the Oliver Mining Comipany and had moved to the Iron Range city of Hibbing, MN.°

Lignell, Anton Werner (1867-1954) Lignell was born in Aland, Sweden. He immigrated to Butte, Montana in
1888, where he designed the Anaconda Copper Mining Company Employees Club. Lignell traveled to Duluth in
" 1903. He designed the Duluth Steam Bath (1921), located at 18-20 E. 1** Avenue; and in partnership with
Frederick German, the Service Motor Company Drivers” Union Hall (1908) located at 124 E. Superior St.; and
the YWCA (1908) at 202 W. 2™ Street. Other Duluth buildings he designed include the Henderson Building at the
corner of E. 5 Avenue and Superior St.; the Gus Carlson House; and several buildings in Woodland Cemetery.
Other buildings in the region that he was responsible for include the Cook County Courthouse in Grand Marais;
~ the Roseau County Courthouse; and the Superior, Wisconsin High School.” ' :

McMillen, Charles McMillen was born in Ireland and came to Duluth in 1878. In 1885 he joined with Edward S.
Siebbins to establish the firm of McMillen & Stebbins, which designed the Masonic Temple Opera House (1889)
located at 201-205 T. Superior St.; and the Norris-MacDougal Block (1886) located at 5-7 W. Superior St. The
firm was also responsible for designing at least one dozen houses and four schools in Duluth. In 1889 McMillen
and Edwin $. Radcliff became partners in a firm known as McMillen & Radcliffe, which continued until 1893.
Among their Duluth commissions were the Burrows Building, the Woodbridge Building, the first Kitehi Gammi
Club, and the Minnesota T.oan and Trust Building, none of which are extant.

Nystrom, Carl E. (1867-1944) Nystrom was born in southern Sweden, the son of a blacksmith and carpenter. He
emigrated to the United States in 1889, spending a few months in Ashland, Wisconsin, before moving to

- Tronwood, Michigan, where he lived for three years. He came to Duluth in 1892 and eventually became partners
with William Bray in the firm of Bray & Nystrom. Together they designed many public, commercial and
residential buildings in Duluth and on the Iron Range, especially public schools. Bray & Nystrom dissolved their
partnership in 1915 when Nystrom opened his own practice.’

Pridmore, John E.O. (1864-1940) Pridmore was born in England and educated at Greenhill College,
Rirmingham. He emigrated to America in 1880 and three years later established an architectural practice in
Chicago that was to continue for fifty years. Although he designed a variety of commercial buildings, Pridmore
was best known for his theaters and churches. Noted examples of the former in Chicago are the Cort (razed)
(1909), the Victoria Theatre Company (1912), the Sheridan (1927), and the Nortown (1931). Pridmore’s design
for the Cort featured the nation’s first atmospheric theatre auditorium, creating an illusionary setting of' a warm
summer sky above an Italian garden. For the Nortown, Pridmore produced an atmospheric seafaring townscape.”
In Duluth he designed the Orpheurn Theatre (1910} located at 8-12 2" Avenue East and in Minneapolis the State
Theatre (1920-21).
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Puck, Anthony (1882-1922) Puck was born in Chr1st1an1a Norway and came to Duluth in about 1904. He
designed the Spina Building (1912) located at 2-8 W. 1™ Street; the building located at 319 E. Superior St. (1910);
and the Pickwick Restaurant (1914) located at 508 E. Superior St. '

Radcliffe, Edwin S. (1851-?) Radcliffe was born Elmira, New York. He was employed as a draftsman in the
office of his father, Abraham M. Radcliffe, from 1875 to 1886. He worked in St. Paul from 1886 to 1889. In 1889
he moved to Duluth and formed a partnership with Charles McMillen until 1893 as McMillen & Radcliffe, with
offices at the First National Bank Building. He then partnered with Charles E. Willoughby under the firm name of
Radcliffe & Willoughby until 1901, during which they designed the Duluth Armory (1896) located at 201-207 E.
1% Street. He practiced alone from 1901 to 1907, when he formed a new partnershlp with Vernon J. Price under
the name of Radeliffe & Price.'

Smith, Claude (1889-1967) Claude H. Smith was born in Strathroy, Ontario, Canada and came to Duluth in
1907. He worked as a draftsman for the Duluth firm of German and Lignell from 1907 to 1917, when he joined
W.T. Bray as supervisor of construction, where he became a partner in 1920 and stayed until 1925, when he
opened his own office. Smith designed the Congdon Park and Chester Park Schools in Duluth and other Iron
Range schools, as well as other public and private buildings. He designed the Gershgol Grocery Building (1940)
at 125 W. 1¥ St.; and the WEBC Building (1938) located at the corner of Supetior St. and Fourth Avenue W.

Stebbins, Edward S. (1854-1934) Edward Stebbins was born in Boston. He moved to Troy, New York in 1868
and to Saratoga, New York in 1870, where he worked with architect E.D. Harris and helped to supervise the
construction of the Grand Union Hotel. He attended the Massachusetts Institute of Technology until about 1876,
worked briefly with McKim, Mead & White, then came to Minneapolis in 1877. He was a partner of George R.
Mann, a former classmate at MIT, in 1878-79. From 1885-89 he worked in Duluth with Charles McMillen,
designing several commercial buildings downtown and many private residences. After leaving Duluth, Stebbins
established a private practice in Minneapolis, which lasted until 1913. Stebbins was the official architect of the
Minneapolis Board of Education for more than ten years, designing many of the city’s educational facilities.
Some of the schools he designed were: North High School; West High School (1906-07); Clara Barton, Robert
Fulton, Thomas Lowry, and Bryant Elementary Schools. Most of these have been demolished. Stebbins also
created plans for the Nicollet County Courthouse in St, Peter {1880-81, NRHP) with Edward Bassford of 8t. Paul;
the Hutchinson, Minnesota Public Library (1904, NRHP); Gethsemane Episcopal Church, Minneapolis (1883,
NRHP); and the 8.E. Davis House, 2104 Kenwood Parkway, Minneapolis (1892), known to millions as the “Mary
Tyler Moore House,” after the popular television show of the early 1970s.

Sullivan, William J. (ca.1883-1942) William Sullivan was born in Mankato, Minnesota, attended Cornell
University, and became a partner in the Duluth firm of Holstead & Sullivan. Among the notable buildings in
Duluth with which Sullivan is associated are the St. Louis County Jail (NRHP); Duluth Denfeld High School; and
the Duluth Steam Corporation plant. ITn downtown he designed the Poirier Tent & Awning Building (1913)
located at 413 E. Superior St."!

Terryberry, Austin S. (1853-1922) Austin Terryberry designed the Tremont Hotel (1890) located at 12 N. Lake
Avenue; and the Knudsen Automobile Company Building (1917) located at 202 E. Superior St. He also designed
the Two Harbors Carnegie Library (1909, NRHP). 12
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Thrana, Ole Georgurius (George) (1872-1939) George Thrana was born in Steinkjer, Norway. In 1889 he
emigrated from Norway—where he had learned the art of stone sculpture as an apprentice—to Duluth, where he
established a career that spanned a period of 40 years. He was reputedly the only stone carver in Duluth and his
work took him to the Iron Range, Minneapolis-St. Paul (where he worked on the State Capitol), and various stone
quarries throughout the region. : : '

Thrana did carvings for at least four stone cutting plants located in Duluth, Sandstone, and Superior, Wisconsin.
His work is often found around the entrances to buildings or on a stone placed on the wall of a building. Some
carvings are of purely decorative design, others depict the head of an animal or person, while others represent
classical and religious symbols. In addition to carving in sandstone, granite, limestone, and marble, Thrana also
sculptured in clay and modeled plaster from pre-formed molds, which were applied to ceilings and designs in
relief such as in the Hotel Duluth and at Denfeld High School. Many fireplaces in houses on Duluth’s east side
also feature decorative carvings by Thrana. . '

Thrana’s first work was for the First Presbyterian Church (dedicated 1891), and he did extensive carvings on
Central High School, which was completed in 1892. Other commissions in Duluth include the Duluth City Hall,
the Board of Trade Building, the St. Louis County Jail, the Duluth Public Library, the Kitchi Gammi Club, and
the Lyceum Theater Building (demolished). He was a partner with his son, Sigvald, in the firm known as Thrana
Memorials." ' '

Traphagen, Oliver Green (1854-1932) Oliver Traphagen was born in Tarrytown, New York. He moved with his
family to St. Paut in the 1870s and became an apprentice in the office of architect George Wirth. Traphagen
relocated to Duluth in 1882 and worked as a carpenter and architect during the 1880s. During this time he
designed the Wicland Block (1889) located at 26 E. Superior St.; the Duluth City Jail (1890) located at 126 E.
Superior St.; the Duluth City Hall (1889} located at 132 E. Superior St.; the Wieland Shoe Company (1889)
located at 123 W. Superior St; and the Oppell Block (1889, demolished 1987). In 1890 he became a partner of
Francis Fitzpatrick and the two men practiced together with offices in the First National Bank Building until
Fitzpatrick moved to Washington, D.C. Together they designed the Board of Trade Building (1895, 1905)
located at 301-307 W.1% St. Traphagen then moved to Honolulu, Hawaii, because of the ill health of one of his
daughters. He maintained a successful practice there until 1907, then moved to Alameda, California where he
retired in about 1925."* '

Wangenstein, John J. (1858-1942) Wangenstein was born in Valdres, Norway, and studied in Trondheim before
coming to Duluth in the early 1880s. He had a prolific career designing numerous commercial, residential and
religious buildings in Duluth and across St. Louis County beginning in the late nineteenth century and extending
into the 1930s. From 1892 to about 1895 William E. Baillie worked with Wangenstein as a partner in the firm of
Wangenstein and Baillie. Buildings in Duluth designed by Wangenstein include the East End Ice and Coal
Building (1916) located at 31 W. 1* St.; a commercial building constructed in 1923, located at 115 M Ave. W,
the Gray Brothers Bakery (1904) located at 118-20 E, 1% St.; the Motor Mart (1923) located at 210 E. 1% St.; the
Altman Clothing Building (1922) located at 201-207 W. 1* St.; the Gilbert Building {1922) located at 209-211 W.
1% St.; the Wolvin Building (1901) located at 225-31 W. 1* St.; the Bridgeman Russell Building (1905-07)
located at 10-16 W. 1% St.; the Rowley Building (1905) located at 112 W. 1* St.; the Wright-Clarkson Mercantile
Company (1910) located at 322-324 and 332 Michigan St.; the Masonic Temple (1904) located at 4 W. 2" 8t.: the
DeWitt-Seitz Building (1911, NRHP) located at 394 Lake Ave. S.; and the Duluth Dry Goods & Provisions
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Company (1893) located at 19" Ave.W. and Superior St. Wangenstein also served as the local architect in
- association with Daniel H. Burnham of Chicago, who designed the St. Louis County Courthouse (1909, NRHP)."

Wirth, George (1851-1921) George Wirth was born in Bavaria, Germany and attended the polytechnical institute
at Ratisbonne. In 1869 he emigrated to the United States, and in 1870 he opened an office in downtown St. Paul,
He eventually established branch offices in Duluth and Bismarck, North Dakota. In downtown Duluth he
designed the Silberstein Building (1884) at 9-11 W. Superior St., the Bell & Eyster Bank (1884) at 3 W. Superior
St., and the Wirth Building (1886) at 13 W. Superior St,' '

Young, Frank L. (1858-?) Young was born in Ontario, Canada. It is not known when he arrived in Duluth, but
during the late nineteenth century he worked as a partner with several other Duluth architects. From 1887-88 he
partnered with Austin Terryberry; from 1891-97 with Gearhard Tenbusch; and from 1902-05 with Carl Nystrom.
Young designed the Parker Millinery Building (1912-13) located at 323 E. Superior St.; and the Mutual
Automobile Company Building (1915) located at 302 E. Superior St. He also designed the Ely High School.'”

! Duluth News Tribune, March 4, 1959; I.M. Michols, Duluthians in Cartoon (Duluthn.p., ¢.1909). o
 Thomas S. Hines, “Burmnham and Root,” in Master Builders: A Guide to Famous American drchitects, edited by Diane
Maddex (Washington, D.C.: The Preservation Press, 1985), pp. 102-03, _ :

* Mesabi Daily News, January 15, 1963; Duluth Herald, January 21, 1963; Duluth News Tribune, April 4, 1972.

* Northwest Architectural Archives, University of Minnesota. '

* Duluth Herald, October 14,1937, p. 8; “Outstanding Architects of Duluth,” Harold S, Starin, 1958, photocopy from the
Northeast Minnesota History Center.

® Duluih Herald, August 16, 1930; Duluth News-Tribune, August 17, 1930; Dwight E. Woodbridge and John S, Pardee, eds.,
History of Duluth and St. Louis County Past and Present, vol IT {Chicago: C.F. Cooper & Co., 1910), 837-38; Henry A.
Castle, Minnesota: Its Story and Biography, vol. T {Chicago and N.Y.: Lewis Publishing Co., 1915), 1685-86.

? Duluth News Tribune, F ebruary 11, 1954, biographical files held at the Duluth Public Library.

* Henry A. Castle, Minnesota: Iis Story and Biography {Chicago and New York; Lewis Publishing Co., 1915), vol. III, 1365.
® Dayid Naylor, dmerican Picture Palaces: The Architecture of Fantasy (New York: Van Nostrand Reinhold Co., 1981;
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